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Creating a new landscape in innovative
development underpinned by

¢“Zero-carbon Industry Park + Virtual Power Plant”

comprising

“solar energy storage and charging, cooling,
heating and power cogeneration, hydrogen
cloud carbon” as core operations

hina Everbright Greentech Limited (“Everbright Greentech”

or the “Company” or together with its subsidiaries, the

“Group”) is a professional environmental protection service
provider in China, with its new energy businesses focusing on
integrated biomass utilisation, hazardous and solid waste treatment,
environmental remediation, as well as solar energy and wind power,
it listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 8 May 2017 (Stock Code: 1257).
Upholding its philosophy of leading the way through business
innovations, Everbright Greentech took a pioneer role to introduce
integrated urban and rural waste treatment project in Mainland
China. Currently, the Company has its business coverage spanning
across 16 provinces, autonomous region and Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (“Hong Kong”) in China, and spreads far to
Germany.

With strong support from China Everbright Group Limited
(“China Everbright Group”) and the controlling shareholder,
China Everbright Environment Group Limited (“CEEGL”), and
leveraging on its own extensive experience in the development and
operation of diversified project portfolio as well as its unparalleled
market expansion capability, the Group will continue to follow the
instruction to be “Prudent, Proactive and Practical”, bearing in
mind its initial commitment and mission as it strives incessantly to
become a leader in China’s environmental business sector.
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Financial Highlights
MERE

China Everbright Greentech Limited

2023
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HK$'000
BT

Percentage
Change
A7t

RESULTS
Revenue
EBITDA®M

Loss attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company
Return on shareholders’ equity (%)

Basic loss per share (HK cents)

FINANCIAL POSITION

Total assets

Total liabilities

Equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company

Net asset value per share
attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company (HK$)

Cash and bank balances

Gearing ratio® (%)

Current ratio (%)

2024
—E-mEF
HK$’000
& ME T T
ES
Iz 6,976,892
BRALE - BB &
Ko S AT & A0 994,147
/NG En -y
&8 (415,382)
% 5 & & [0] 3R (%) (4.00)
BREAREE GBI (20.10)
B AR
BERT 36,331,601
afERE 24,669,301
RN A =R R EGER
9,609,839
RARE=RREGETR
BEFE(EEIT)
4.65
B MIRITHE S 1,673,716
BEBELE? (%) 67.90
it Bl B 2 (%) 125.40

7,416,973

1,453,509

(301,711)
(2.60)
(14.60)

39,757,424
27,401,085

11,271,227

5.46
2,378,783
68.92
111.90

—6%

-32%

38%
—1.40 ppt
38%

—9%
-10%

-15%

-15%
-30%
-1.02 ppt
13.50 ppt

(1) EBITDA is the profit for the year before deduction of interest, (1)

taxation, depreciation and amortisation.

) Gearing ratio is calculated by total liabilities over total assets. )
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Corporate Milestones

TEREHE

*9) February 925
. The Rooftop Solar Power Project of South Seas Centre, MNANBEARDHEEFROLZETEXIKIAEE
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon officially commenced grid- KWANEZHFRPESE
connected power generation
*©) March ) 3A
. The Group announced its annual results for 2023 J KEBRNH2023F 2 FE4E
*®) May )54
. Successful issuance of the 2024 first tranche green PRI B 172024 F B E — B B HE
medium-term note for an amount of RMB1 billion B BETHERARKI0ET
*®) July )78
. Successful issuance of the 2024 second tranche FXINEE1T2024 FE 6 — P IR IR - B
medium-term note for an amount of RMB1 billion THREBARBI10(ET
*©) August V) 8A
. Received the “EcoChallenger” certificate and “5 Years + BEFNNEETETIXBeHPFER
EcoPioneer” logo by the Federation of Hong Kong TEBBEREIRREFLEIES
Industries and Bank of China (Hong Kong) for the sixth M 5F+IRR T HR 155
year in a row
e The first smart energy storage project in Baiyun District . BEUREREENTEERNEEM
of Guangzhou, Guangdong Province — the Guangzhou BEIEE — EMAmLESHARER
Daily Distributed Energy Storage System — was SIE B KINIRE
successfully commissioned
. Garnered the Global Excellence ESG Award (2022-2023) . SLECEMAT))HEEREBESGA
by Yazhou Zhoukan for the third time for this reward (2022-2023) * BE =R IRE
. The project in Huaiyuan, Anhui Province completed its first . ZRHEABRBEEEILRENIRSHH DT
green power certificate trade at the Beiing Power EX%‘%@@ NEERG  BHREER
Exchange Center that marked a new breakthrough in 25 =R
green certificate trading
e  The Distributed Solar Power Project for public . AR R 2 m A EE S M KK
organisations in Gaochun District, Nanjing commenced BEIHBRAEEFNEESE
grid-connected power generation
*Q) September V0 9A

The zero-carbon conversion at Changzhou Xinzha
Industrial Park for Technology conducted by Shining
Green Smart Energy (Changzhou) Limited* was awarded
the carbon neutrality certificate evidencing compliance
with the PAS2060 standard

Everbright Ecological Remediation (Jiangsu) Limited
(formerly known as Suntime Environmental Remediation
CO., Ltd) was awarded the construction waste sorting
and disposal project at the future campus area of
Soochow University in Suzhou

Successful issuance of the 2024 third tranche medium-
term note for an amount of RMB1 billion

For identification purpose only
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) October

Received the “Good Employer Charter” certificate and
authorised to use the “Supportive Family-friendly Good
Employer” 2024 logo after successfully passing the
assessment of the Hong Kong Labour Department

The Rooftop Solar Power Project (Batch One) in Sucheng
Development Area commenced grid-connected power
generation

*©) November

Awarded 3 awards, namely the “Outstanding ESG
Environmental Performance Award”, “Outstanding ESG
Corporate Governance Performance Award” and “ESG
Commendation Certificate”, at the “Outstanding ESG
Enterprises Recognition Scheme 2024” jointly presented
by Sing Tao News Corporation and Hong Kong
Polytechnic University

Everbright Ecological Remediation (Jiangsu) Limited was
awarded 20 land restoration projects for industrial
enterprise polluted sites (Tender Section Il) in Guanyun
County Lingang Industrial Park

*©) December

EB Greentech Technology Services (Jiangsu) Limited
officially established its presence in the power trading
industry and conducted the historic “zero breakthrough”
of the first electricity volume transactions in the three
provinces of Jiangsu, Shandong and Anhui

Products manufactured at the end-of-life tyre project in
Huangshi received ISCC EU and ISCC PLUS
accreditations in a major step towards fulfilling the
commitment to environmental protection and
sustainability

Everbright Greentech entered into a cooperation
framework agreement with Huai’an Guokong Investment
Group Company Limited in connection with the
construction and operation of zero-carbon industrial
parks as part of our move to tap the smart energy
sector

01058

0118
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Chairman’s Statement
EFEHE

DEVELOPMENT
THROUGH INNOVATION —

A New Journey of

Seco

nd-Stage Entrepreneurship

i |

R ZRAIX] HMIERE

Chairman &

WANG

™M HT 0 AR AR IR

Silian T BB

Year 2024 marked a year of critical battling for the “14th Five-Year Plan (“FYP”)", during which the Chinese
economy showcased quality enhancement amidst steady development, whilst green transformation was
taking off in all directions. A series of guiding environmental policies, including the “Opinion on Generally
Advancing the Building of the Beautiful China” and the “Opinion on Accelerating the Comprehensive Green
Transition in Economic and Social Development”, were announced by the State, calling in no uncertain terms
for resolute adherence to the paths of ecological priority and low-carbon green development underpinned by
focused effort to drive comprehensive green transformation in economic and social development, as China
entered a new stage of accelerating green qualitative development. In the presence of the twofold challenge
presented by expedited evolution of the changing global scene coupled with deep adjustments for
industries, the Group reported improvements in business resilience and build-up in strengths for business
transformation in the completion of critical tasks against all odds, striving to achieve its goals against all odds
in unwavering confidence with a strong focus on the principal business of “clean energy” in close tandem
with major national development strategies and the overall principle of “empowerment through transformation
and effectiveness through pragmatic work”, as it embarked on the new journey of Second-Stage
Entrepreneurship.

“ECMOFER[TORIRENEF  PEKEERIBTIRYE  SeERAREE - BREANZEHELESE
BREZENER) (R IREEL@EREMACENNER)E— RIS BIERARBEREE L Z - 5
BHEREITBELRES  SEeERERER ENHDLELSRREAMFCET - REC FAINELFR
BILEEERRNEMER -HEHE2RERMNBRERTERERABNESUE  ~AEEZZEGREREX
LREE  FRCEIERHE  EREMNTIFHEER  BENFEERITEXE  #ERER  BEREL
AEM L ERRRHEPERFGYERTHEHEREE - BA KRB OHIEE -



Focused on value creation to prevail in the new era in
which “winning in operations is king”. In 2024, the Group
persisted in the management objective of “cost control and
efficiency enhancement” as the core strategy for improving
operational and economic efficiency. The Group persisted in
identifying potentials within operations and worked diligently to
bolster internal strengths on the basis of existing integrated
biomass utilisation business against the backdrop of generally
lacklustre sentiments in the industry. Through stronger efforts in
key fuel control, delicacy management and technological
empowerment, considerable resilience in production and operation
was demonstrated throughout the year, the Group reported a
14% increase in the volume of power generation, 22% increase in
the volume of waste treatment and an increase in the volume of
heat supply by 700,000 tonnes. In connection with the hazardous
and solid waste disposal business, the Group adopted proactive
measures against the pressure of a continuous market downside,
as it engaged in reform optimisation by way of market
mechanism reforms, explorations in integrated landfill operation
and adjustments to operational strategies, among others, to
facilitate increments in market revenue, reduction in operating
costs and improvements in soft management strengths. During
the year, the Group issued three tranches of panda bonds at an
interest rate representing the lowest level for similar types of
panda bonds issued during the same period, indicating notable

success in lowering our average annual financing interest rate.
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Chairman's Statement £ E & &

Staying focused on strategic transformation to fortify the
foundation for qualitative development. In terms of market
development, the Group persisted in the principle of “prudence
investment, scientific investment and efficient investment” as it
addressed market volatility by maintaining its strategic focus. In
tandem with the national strategy for energy security and “Dual
goal,
becoming a clean energy operator

Carbon” the Group developed the strategic aim of
boasting new-quality
productivity and core competitive strengths, as it secured 14 new
premium projects and entered into 1 supplementary agreement for
county-wide solar power during the year to attain new strategic
breakthroughs in Guangdong and Yunnan. In the meantime, the
Group focused on project implementation in the three principal
segments of “zero-carbon industrial park”, environmental
remediation and extended business, as it reported successful
development of Changzhou Zhonglou Zero-carbon Industrial Park,
the first PAS2060-compliant project in Changzhou, completed the
first electricity trading under the electricity sale business and
achieved new breakthroughs in green certificate trade to generate
new driving force for business mix optimisation.

Expediting innovation-driven initiatives to develop
technologies that empower new advantages. The Group
persisted in the commercialisation of achievements in technology
research and development (“R&D”) as it focused its effort on the
research of an array of frontier new technologies, such as
biomass boiler combustion optimisation and ultra-low fume
emission technologies, among others, in close tandem with its
integrated biomass utilisation business during the year, further
enhancing its leading position in the industry with projects such
as “Integrated Technology for SCR Desulfurisation and Denitration
under Medium-to-high Temperature for Biomass Boiler” which had
attained internationally advanced standards. In the meantime, the
Group accurately identified high-value recycling of biomass wastes
as the direction for its research, as the construction of its first
biomass gasification project officially commenced, whilst it
deployed for the R&D of “Zero-carbon Industrial Park + Virtual
Power Plant” technologies with the successful building of an
energy and carbon management platform to forge a solid
technological foundation for the Group’s business transformation.
The Group’s R&D showcase projects progressed in a steady
manner in consistent adherence to advanced standards
underpinned by “technical feasibility, market visibility, observable

benefits, controllable risks and replicable models”.

HEBHREL  FRSEHBRRRE - AKED
SIREBFEERE  MERE BRREIN
A BB ENRET SRS - AREEGE
KRR 2B R[] BR - MITEABHE
HENFZOBEFNNBEREREL R REEA
B 2FARGUAETREEEREREZ1NE
oL BERER - BTSRRI
R - [ AEERE[THRER]  RREE
REBTEHR=ZABHNIAR B - RINITEFM
M & BT & PAS2060 R B 1R E 1 7 12 THRE
B BEREEESEBEERSNRERGIR
B REBGEBELIATDEE-

MEAFEES)  BERWREHREZ - AEEER
RMRMENRRERER  RERNENENE
RENAED  STHERRTEVERERE
B~ EREB RS — R BA F R
METE [EWEBESSIRSCRE BB iH
SRR EBIBR K - — S RE T HETT
EAMELEBE - A AEERBELEEME
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EH R M BT R E R R B E R BT
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Fortifying risk defense by constructing a new protective
barrier for safe development. During the year, the Group
increased its effort in setting accountability for risk prevention and
mitigation to facilitate coordination in development and safe
production. Under the leadership of the Company’s management,
active effort was made to liaise with the competent authorities
under various State ministries and commissions, resulting in a
considerable increase in percentage terms in the collection of
national tariff subsidies. Systematic improvements were also
reported in the collection of trade receivables other than national
tariff subsidies by implementing the “special responsible person,
special responsible team” management mechanism, as the
recovery ratio increased by 6 percentage points compared to
2023. The Group made vigorous moves to emphasize safe
production management throughout the entire operational chain in
relation to system, inspection, technology and staff, completing
more than 3,000 cases of hazard rectifications in a “gratifying
best year” in terms of safety status.

Deepening critical reforms to inspire fresh vigour for
organisational development. The Group was breaking new
ground with a resolve for reform prepared to make changes from
within, as it deepened the reform of its institutions and
mechanisms whilst optimising and adjusting its organisational
regime with the building of an efficient structure featuring “1
headquarters + 2 centres + 2 directly-affiliated empowering
subsidiaries”, such that duties were more clearly delegated, work
allocation was more specific and efficiency was enhanced. The
Group pioneered in implementing the mechanism of “demotion as
well as promotion” for officers whilst conducting open recruitment
of project management teams and increasing the proportion of
young officers, resulting in fresh motivation and vigour on the part
of the officer teams. Through ongoing improvements in talent
grooming, management regimes and the incentive mechanism,
the Group has fostered a culture of competence characterised by
instant actions” and offered

“a practical approach favouring

strong motivation for business venture among staff.
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The Group owes its development to the hard work and
dedication of each and every employee, as well as kindness and
support on the part of all shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”). On behalf of board of directors (“Director(s)”) of
the Company (the “Board”), | would like to express sincere
appreciation to the Shareholders and the public for their
longstanding trust and support shown to the Group. Sincere
thanks are also due to all colleagues of the Group for their hard

work and endeavours during the past year.

We are also clearly aware that the difficulties ahead are manifold,

given the slowdown in macro-economic recovery and the
industrial reshuffling driven by deep correction in the demand-
The Group’s

hazardous and solid waste business continues to be subject to

supply structure of the environmental sector.
uncertainties in the market, whilst the cultivation of new-quality
productivity requires further acceleration. Nevertheless, where
there are challenges, opportunities will also abound. The Board
has taken into full consideration the above factors and has made

active and effective plans in response.

AEBNER TR UETINFHNL -
OREZZ2BRRNEZMIR | #Filtgeg - K
ABREARAER((EFN g ([EFEDAE
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In this new journey for the environmental business where
opportunities as well as challenges are present, the Group will
continue to focus on reformation and innovation and enhance its
management quality and efficiency, as it actively addresses
challenges in the market and seizes opportunities presented by
government policies and arising from the Company’s development
with the benefit of astute insights into industry trends, scientific
business deployment and enhanced risk assessment and strategic
adjustments. In the future, we will build with vigorous effort a
talent team characterised by a strong awareness for compliance,
the audacity to undertake responsibilities and visionary
imagination, from which a formidable combined force will be
drawn for the benefit of qualitative development. In persistent
adherence to the principle of delivering value and in active
tandem with national strategies, the Group will be engaged in
meticulous operation of the clean energy business to contribute
more Everbright power towards the building of a Beautiful China
and the acceleration of general green transformation in economic

and social development.

WANG SILIAN

Chairman of the Board
Hong Kong, 18 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EERENWE DN

OPERATING RESULTS

Year 2024 marked a year of critical battling in the implementation
of China’s “14th FYP”. “Winning critical battles and overcoming
hurdles” represented a key catchphrase in China’s economic
development, as the nation addressed various challenges, such as
insufficient domestic demand coupled with production and
operational difficulties for certain enterprises, against the
deepened adverse impact of lacklustre global economic growth
and changes in the external environment. Nevertheless, the
fundamental conditions and trends underpinning the long-term
positive outlook of the Chinese economy remain unchanged,
given its solid foundation,

multi-faceted advantages, strong

resilience and formidable potential. The hard-earned overall
stability and steady advancement for the Chinese economy has

been achieved against adverse and volatile conditions.

In 2024, the Group addressed changes with active efforts against
extremely testing conditions for the traditional environmental
protection business amidst the lingering
corrections and policy adjustments. Given the overwhelming
impact of policy adjustment, the Group resorted to a prudent

impact of market

approach poised for potential market opportunities and focused
on the central mission of “reinforcing principal businesses and
driving transformation”, ensuring stability for the Company’s
existing businesses in integrated biomass utilisation, hazardous
and solid waste treatment and environmental remediation. The
Group also actively establishing presence in clean energy as a
core principal operation to address the requirements of
developments in the new stage in active adherence to national
development strategies, to break the constraints of traditional
business models and introduce innovative technologies and
models to drive qualitative development of the

Company on the back of new-quality productivity.

commercial

The Group is principally engaged in the businesses of integrated
biomass utilisation, hazardous and solid waste treatment,
environmental remediation, solar energy and wind power. As of 31
December 2024, the Group had 144 environmental protection
projects with a total investment of approximately RMB31.014
billion and had undertaken 67 environmental remediation projects
in aggregate with a total contract amount of approximately

RMB1.727 billion.
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In terms of market development, the Group secured 14 new
projects and entered into 1 county-wide solar power supplemental
agreement during the year under review, involving an additional
total investment of approximately RMB300 million and
environmental remediation projects with a total contract amount of
approximately RMB134 million. Such new projects included 1
integrated biomass utilisation project, 4 zero-carbon industrial park
projects and 9 environmental remediation projects. In terms of
project scale, the installed capacity for solar power generation was
increased by 56.46 MW coupled with an additional
12.2MW/24.AMWh storage capacity, while the designed capacity
for steam supply was increased by approximately 450,000 tonnes
per annum.

During the year under review, the Group operated in close
tandem with the national strategic objective of “Dual Carbon” and
strategy of energy security against the backdrop of macro-
economic pressure and tightening policy directions, showcasing
robust resilience for development as it stepped with efforts in
innovation-driven business transformation. With strong focus on
the three core segments of smart energy, environmental
remediation and extended business, the Group completed zero-
carbon industrial park projects with an aggregate capacity of
68.66MW involving total investment of approximately RMB216
million and has successfully built Changzhou Zhonglou Zero-
carbon Industrial Park as the first PAS2060-compliant project in
Changzhou to become an optimised and upgraded version 2.0 of
“Zero-carbon Industrial Park”. The Group sought to promote the
construction of zero-carbon industrial parks on the back of zero-
carbon industrial park accreditation, as zero-carbon industrial park
showcase projects were implemented in Jiangsu and Guangdong.
In response to the Climate Action Plan 2050 announced in Hong
Kong, the Group was also engaged in active project development
in Hong Kong. During the year under review, the rooftop solar
power project of South Seas Centre, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon
commenced grid-connected power generation upon completion.
Meanwhile, breakthrough was reported in new direction power
trading business of the Group as contracts involving power
generation of approximately 700 million kWh were signed,
signifying the Group’s growing presence in the energy sector. The
Group signed 9 new projects in the environmental remediation
sector while establishing the Group’s presence along the eco-
agricultural industry chain, such as in the business of biomass
ash-based organic fertilisers. In connection with extended
traditional business, the heat supply capacity of the biomass
projects was increased by 450,000 tonnes/year through trial
operation of the gasified boiler and pipeline network expansion,
contributing to significant improvements in cash flow generated by
biomass projects. Moreover, the Group will continue to focus on
“clean energy” and “zero-carbon industrial park” and plan for its
business deployment on the back of sophisticated analysis and
research with the benefit of a broadened mindset as guided by
government policies.
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In terms of project construction, the Group was steadily
enhancing its competence in engineering construction as it forged
intensive engineering teams during the year under review by
adjusting work allocation to ensure close association of
engineering construction with the requirements of project
operations. During the year under review, the Group had 17
projects completed construction and commenced operation. As of
31 December 2024, the Group had 23 projects under
construction or implementation, including 1 integrated biomass
utilisation project, 3 hazardous and solid waste treatment
projects, 17 environmental remediation projects and 2 solar
energy projects. With a strong emphasis on construction safety,
construction quality and work scheduling for projects under
construction, the Group has enhanced the management standard
at project sites through ongoing optimisation of its construction
management system and attained the annual targets in
production safety for projects under construction.

In terms of technology R&D, the Group persisted in innovation-
driven high-quality development, as it empowered the quality and
efficiency enhancement of project operations and the Company’s
transformation through technological innovation. During the year
under review, the Group commenced research in ultra-low fume
emission technology for biomass boiler, biomass boiler
combustion optimisation technology, integrated biomass ash
utilisation technology and end-of-life tyre recycling technology,
among others, in connection with its traditional business, among
which its “Integrated Technology for SCR Denitration under
Medium-to-high Temperature for Biomass Boiler” was given an
“internationally advanced” rating following assessment and put to
application in a number of biomass boilers operated by the

Group with notable results. Moreover, the Group also
commenced research on the “Zero-carbon Industrial Park +
Virtual Power Plant” model, biomass-based natural gas

technology, biomass glycation technology, bundled straw gasified
coupling combustion boiler heat supply technology, and carbon
capture, utilisation and storage (CCUS) technology to stock up
new power for the transformation and development of the Group.
Meanwhile, the Group participated in government research
projects such as Technology and Equipment for Low-energy
consumption and High-efficiency Coordinated Treatment of
Industrial Boiler Fume and Multiple Pollutants, as well as
Research and Development of Key Technologies for Equipment
for Synthesis and Application of High-stability Solid Amine CO,
Capture Materials. In connection with commercialisation, the
Group completed the preparation and publication of 2 group
standards, while garnering 2 provincial ministerial grade awards
and 4 social technology awards for its technological
achievements. As of 31 December 2024, the Group held 118
authorised patents, including 48 invention patents, 65 utility
model patents and 5 software copyrights.
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In terms of operational management, the Group implemented a
range of measures during the year focused energy conservation
and consumption reduction, quality and efficiency enhancement
as well as green resource exploration whilst engaged in the “One
Enterprise, One Policy” initiative in localised assistance to provide
pinpoint assistance to 8 projects that operated at underwhelming
efficiency, resulting in improvements for all such projects and
invaluable experiences to be shared with other operations. The
Group further explored local fuel

resources, optimised fuel

procurement and transportation schemes, shortened transit
distance and significantly reduced unit fuel costs. The Group also
continued to pursue quality and efficiency enhancement while
increasing effort in customer development for heat consumption
to unlock potential demand for heat supply, as heat supply for
the year grew by 30%, year-on-year, in volume. In the meantime,
in active response to national policies, the Group actively
participated in green power certificate trading and completed the
transaction of approximately 30,000 green certificates (each
representing 1,000 kWh of green electricity) during the year in
further enhancement of the Group’s image as a green enterprise
and its competitiveness in the market. Through a range of
technology upgrade and management enhancement measures,
the Group was consistently optimising the operating power
consumption levels of hazardous waste incineration projects as
well as the costs for fuel replenishment and disposal of
secondary hazardous wastes, as in achieving effective reduction
in the unit cost of operating hazardous waste projects.
Furthermore, the Group launched optimisation and innovation
reforms and carried out through market mechanism reform,
explorations in integrated landfill operation and adjustments to
operating strategies have together contributed to a 39% year-on-
year increase in the volume of hazardous waste acquisition for the

year.
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In connection with safety and environmental (“S&E”) management,
the Group continued to introduce improvements to its S&E
management regime to drive ongoing enhancements in the
internal and external management of environmental, safety and
occupational health matters through systematic, standardised and
precise management, with a view to maximum control over
relevant risks and elimination of management deficiencies. The
Group achieved the “double zero” (zero safety incidents and zero
environmental incidents) target for the year under review,
providing solid safety assurance for corporate development.
During the year under review, the Group continued to fulfill its
responsibility to open its environmental protection facilities to the
public with more intensive actions, as flue emission and sewage
discharge data of all projects in operation, among others, were
synchronised with and instantly uploaded to government
regulatory platforms, while environmental impact assessment
reports and environmental surveillance data of projects were also
made available to the public via various media for governmental
and public supervision. As of 31 December 2024, a total of 35
projects of the Company were officially opened to the public and
157 offline open-to-the-public activities were held, receiving a total
of 3,748 visitors.

In 2024, the Group continued to advance practices of
sustainability with the incorporation of environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) principles into its strategic planning and
business operation. Profoundly aware of the
opportunities for its business associated with climate change, the
Group was driving low-carbon transformation of its business on
an ongoing basis to seize opportunities for development and
further enhance resilience and competence in
sustainable development. In recognition of its outstanding ESG
performance, the Group received 5 honours during the year under
review, including the third “Global Excellence ESG Award (2022-
2023)” from Yazhou Zhoukan, “EcoChallenger” Certificate in the
BOCHK Corporate Low-Carbon Environmental Leadership Awards
2023 jointly organised by the Federation of Hong Kong Industries
and Bank of China (Hong Kong), and 3 awards under the
Qutstanding ESG Enterprises Recognition Scheme 2024 jointly
presented by Sing Tao News Corporation and Hong Kong
Polytechnic University, namely, the “Outstanding ESG
Environmental Performance Award”, “Outstanding ESG Corporate
Governance Performance Award” and “ESG Commendation
Certificate”. For a detailed description of the ESG governance,
strategies and risks, please refer to the 2024 sustainability report
of the Company.

risks and

its climate
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue of the Group
decreased by 6% to approximately HK$6,976,892,000 from
HK$7,416,973,000 for 2023. Earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”) decreased by 32% to
approximately HK$994,147,000 compared to HK$1,453,509,000 for
2023. Loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company for
the year increased by 38% to approximately HK$415,382,000 from
loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of
approximately HK$301,711,000 for 2023. Basic loss per share for
2024 was HK20.10 cents, HK5.50 cents more compared to basic
loss per share of HK14.60 cents for 2023. The Group was backed
by ready access to various financing options and ample cash flow
with sound financial indicators. As at the end of the year, cash and
bank balances amounted to approximately HK$1,673,716,000 and
total bank loan facilities amounted to HK$20,951,591,000, including
unutilised bank loan facilities of HK$6,831,718,000. The aggregate
amount of available cash and unutilised bank loan facilities was
approximately HK$8,505,434,000.

During the year under review, the weaker-than-expected recovery
of the domestic hazardous and solid waste treatment market, the
keen competition in the industry, the continuous decline in unit
treatment fee and certain projects continued to operate at a loss,
causing impairment losses on intangible assets, property, plant
and equipment, goodwill and right-of-use assets, resulting in an
increase in loss attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company.

The Group recorded impairment losses on intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment, goodwill and right-of-use assets
with the aggregate amount of HK$1.175 billion for the year
ended 31 December 2024, as compared to impairment losses on
intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets with the aggregate amount of HK$656 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

In May 2024, the Company completed the issuance of the 2024
first tranche of green medium-term note in the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC”), namely the “China Everbright Greentech Limited
2024 First Tranche Green Medium-term Note” (the “2024 First
Tranche Green Medium-term Note”) for a principal amount of
RMB1 billion with a maturity period of 3+2 years at a coupon rate
of 2.34% per annum for the initial three interest-bearing years.
The proceeds from issuance of the 2024 First Tranche Green
Medium-term Note will be used for the repayment of the Group’s
interest-bearing debts, replenishment of the Group’s working
capital and/or investment in and construction of the Group’s
environmental protection projects and for other business
development purposes.
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In July 2024, the Company completed the issuance of the 2024
second tranche of medium-term note in the PRC, namely the
“China Everbright Greentech Limited 2024 Second Tranche
Medium-term Note” (the “2024 Second Tranche Medium-term
Note”) for a principal amount of RMB1 billion with a maturity
period of 5 years at a coupon rate of 2.24% per annum. The
proceeds from issuance of the 2024 Second Tranche Medium-
term Note will be used for the repayment of the Group’s interest-
bearing debts, replenishment of the Group’s working capital and/
or investment in and construction of the Group’s environmental
protection projects and for other business development purposes.

In September 2024, the Company completed the issuance of the
2024 third tranche of medium-term note in the PRC, namely the
“China Everbright Greentech Limited 2024 Third Tranche
Medium-term Note” (the “2024 Third Tranche Medium-term Note)
for an issuance amount of RMB1 billion. The issuance term was
3+N years, which shall remain valid indefinitely until being
redeemed by the Company pursuant to the issuance terms, and
shall mature upon redemption by the Company in accordance
with the issuance terms. The fixed coupon rate for the initial three
interest-bearing years was 2.43% per annum. The coupon rate
shall be reset on the date of expiry of the initial three interest-
bearing years, and then on the date falling every three years after
such date (each a “Coupon Rate Reset Date”). The Company has
the right to redeem the 2024 Third Tranche Medium-term Note at
face value (including all deferred coupons and the yield thereof (if
any)) on the first Coupon Rate Reset Date or on relevant interest
payment date thereafter. The proceeds from issuance of the 2024
Third Tranche Medium-term Note will be used for the repayment
of the Group’s interest-bearing debts, replenishment of the
Group’s working capital and/or investment in and construction of
the Group’s environmental protection projects and for other
business development purposes. Upon completion of the
issuance of the 2024 Third Tranche Medium-term Note, the
Company’s application for registration to the National Association
of Financial Market Institutional Investors (“NAFMII”) in April 2023
for the registration of the multiple types of debt financing
instruments (“DFI”) with a registered principal amount of not more
than RMB5 billion has been fully utilised.

In December 2024, the Company received the notice of
registration acceptance issued by the NAFMII in respect of the
Company’s application for registration and proposed issuance of
multiple types of DFI with a registered principal amount of not
more than RMB8 billion in the national inter-bank bond market in
the PRC, and such registered principal amount shall be valid for
2 years from the date of the notice of registration acceptance,
being 19 December 2024. The targeted subscribers for the DFI
are institutional investors in the national inter-bank bond market.
The DFI are traded in the national inter-bank bond market.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In January 2025, Everbright Greentech Management (Shenzhen)
Company Limited*, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, as
the vendor and original interest owner, entered into an underlying
asset sale and purchase agreement with Shanghai AXA SPDB
Assets Management Co., Ltd., as the purchaser and the manager
of the asset-backed securities (the “ABS”) program (the “ABS
Program”), and transferred the underlying assets to the ABS
Program managed by Shanghai AXA SPDB Assets Management
Co., Ltd. in exchange for the related consideration of such
transfer. The first tranche of ABS Program, i.e. the first tranche of
carbon neutral green ABS Program of subsidy funds for tariff
premium of renewable energy of Everbright Greentech (the “First
Tranche of ABS Program”), was established on 24 January 2025,
and issued the first tranche of the ABS, i.e. the ABS of the first
tranche of carbon neutral green ABS Program of subsidy funds
for tariff premium of renewable energy of Everbright Greentech
(the “First Tranche of ABS”), to qualified institutional investors in
the PRC. The First Tranche of ABS are classified into priority and
subordinated tranches, with the issue size of the priority ABS
amounting to RMB630 million at a coupon rate of 1.79% and the
issue size of the subordinated ABS amounting to RMB23 million.
The proceeds received from the issuance of the First Tranche of
ABS will be used for, including but not limited to, replenishing the
Group’s working capital, repayment of interest bearing loans,
provision of loans to members of the Group, acquisition of fixed
assets, investment in the Group’s projects and/or other purposes
as permitted under the applicable laws and regulations, provided
that the final particulars and adjustments of the use of the
proceeds (if any) shall be determined by the Company depending
on the actual funding needs of the Group. Further details are set
out in the announcement of the Company dated 22 November
2024 and the circular of the Company dated 24 December
2024, respectively.

*

For identification purpose only

XEHKRZEIA

ZERE—R FAEE2EMBATAREE
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In February 2025, the Company completed the issuance of the
2025 first tranche of green medium-term notes in the PRC,
namely the “China Everbright Greentech Limited 2025 First
Tranche Green Medium-term Notes” (the “2025 First Tranche
Green Medium-term Notes”) for an issuance amount of RMB1
billion. The issuance term was 3+N years, which shall remain valid
indefinitely until being redeemed by the Company pursuant to the
issuance terms, and shall mature upon redemption by the
Company in accordance with the issuance terms. The fixed
coupon rate for the initial three interest-bearing years was 2.39%
per annum. The coupon rate shall be reset on the date of expiry
of the initial three interest-bearing years, and then on the date
falling every three years after such date. The Company has the
right to redeem the 2025 First Tranche Green Medium-term
Notes at face value (including all deferred coupons and the yield
thereof (if any)) on the first Coupon Rate Reset Date or on
relevant interest payment date thereafter. The proceeds from
issuance of the 2025 First Tranche Green Medium-term Notes will
be used for the repayment of the Group’s interest-bearing debts,
replenishment of the Group’s working capital and/or investment in
and construction of the Group’s environmental protection projects
and for other business development purposes. Upon completion
of the issuance of the 2025 First Tranche Green Medium-term
Notes, the registered principal amount of the remaining unissued
DFI of the Company is RMB7 billion.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT
Business Review

During the year under review, revenue generated from integrated
biomass utilisation, hazardous and solid waste treatment,

environmental remediation and solar energy and wind
power segments amounted to approximately HK$6,976,892,000
in aggregate, comprising approximately HK$230,749,000 from
construction services, representing a 65% decrease compared to
HK$660,645,000 for 2023, and approximately HK$6,417,415,000
from operation services, which was broadly unchanged compared
to HK$6,412,714,000 for 2023. Analysed by nature of revenue,
construction services, operation services and finance income
accounted for 3%, 92% and 5%, respectively, of the total

revenue.

RZZEZRFZR ARAIRPFREEXNBET=Z
“hHEFEF-HBeRHEE IR EX K&
BERRERARN - E_HEEFE-HgeTHE
BIZZ-_hFEE—HHatPRE]) &
TEBAARKI0ET  BITHR B3+NF R
RAFMEKBETIERNOEEL 2RI RAFE -
AR BMRBETERO EEREDE : AT =@
FEFENEEEEFNEF2.39% © EE %
BRAIZE B FERERCBEE - EBRZH
“E=FFE AN EHAEEZEENEXEER
HHEMEBNEA  FEEERN T _AFE
F-HgerHER(REMAEEEEREE
B(nAE)) BT -_ZE-_AFEFE-—HBHETH
EEMBRESANEEAEENEEEY
RARENEEES R/ RIREMERNERD
RRBEREMEBSERAR —S_AFESF
—Hi P ERBITRRE AARBRTER
BMETARBITZEMASCSEAARKTORE

JC °

EFEENREE
XBEE

REBEEERN £ VEHFEFA  TEREERER
B RIEBEMARBEERRESBHWEEET
EHE¥6,976,892,0007T ¢ E A EERGKEL
7 230,749,000 RZZTE_=F 28K
660,645,000 7Tk 2> 65% + ERE LRSI K A
75 #56,417,415,000 - B B = = F 2 B
6,412,714,0007TFF o W= EE 4T - BiER
%~ B RERIBRAD R RYEE3% - 92%
5% o
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Major financial data of integrated biomass utilisation, hazardous =T _FELEYELGEEFA  CEMEERE -
and solid waste treatment, environmental remediation and solar IRIBIEEF AR ENETIER 2 T B HKEIE
energy and wind power projects for 2024 are summarised as 1T :

follows:
2024
—E2omE
Hazardous Hazardous
Integrated  and solid Solar Integrated and solid
biomass waste Environmental energy and biomass waste  Environmental  energy and
utilisation ~ treatment  remediation wind power utilisation treatment remediation  wind power
projects projects projects projects projects ojects projects projects
£NE BER KRBE &
HANA ERRE BREBE REE gl 5 )
EH EH EH HH A HA 1 H EH =
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 f HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EMTT  BBIT BRTL  BEFn  EETR EEFT T ERFL  BEFT  AETT
Revenue Yrgs
— construction services  — RERHE 230,749 - - - 230,749 618,405 42,240 = = 660,645
— operation services - EERB 4,926,861 1,136,263 151,109 203,182 6,417,415 4826455 1,132,949 243,364 209,946 6,412,714
— finance income - BBKBA 324,767 3,961 - - 328,728 338,697 4917 = = 343,614
5,482,377 1,140,224 151,109 203,182 6,976,892 5783557 1,180,106 243,364 209,946 7,416,973
EBITDA/(LBITDA) B BiE
& R A
B/ (RAL
BE  FTER
BEAER) 1,917,577 (1,119,106) 25,030 178811 1,002,312 1,858,233 (428,162) 29,960 188,338 1,648,369

To reserve more capital to capture opportunities and meet the RRBEZE S AN EME DB RRE - £
challenges ahead, the Board does not recommend a final FEITEZZFMBRREKEHE_—_T_NF+_-A
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil) to the =1t HIEFEZRBERBE(ZT-=5F:#)-
Shareholders.
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Integrated biomass utilisation

The Group mainly utilises biomass raw materials to generate both
electricity and heat. Biomass raw materials are categorised into
yellow culms and grey culms. Yellow culms consist of agricultural
residues, such as wheat straw, rice straw, corn straw, rice husks,
peanut husks, etc.; while grey culms consist of forestry residues
such as branches, barks and other manufacturing wood wastes,
etc. In addition, the Group has developed a unique business
model of urban-rural integration combining the construction of
integrated biomass utilisation projects and waste-to-energy
projects for integrated treatment of agricultural and forestry
residues and rural household wastes in a pioneering attempt at
treatment of the ecological environment in county areas. The
unique advantage of the Group’s urban-rural integration model
enables it to significantly lower the operating costs of projects
and enhance the Group’s competitiveness in the industry.

The comprehensive biomass raw material supply regime has
safeguarded sufficient fuel supply for and stable operation of the
integrated biomass utilisation projects, while the Group has also
effectively curbed fuel cost by adhering to the strategy of
integrating localisation of fuel supply with regional deployment.
Through the combined effect of technological optimisation and
delicacy management, the Group’s integrated biomass utilisation
projects sustained long cycles of stable operation, resulting in
substantial enhancement in operational standards and economic
efficiency of the projects.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 56 integrated
biomass utilisation projects, distributed variously in 10 provinces
in China, which were mainly located in Anhui Province, Jiangsu
Hubei
Province, etc. Such projects commanded a total investment of

Province, Shandong Province, Province and Henan
approximately RMB17.29 billion and provided an aggregate power
generation designed capacity of 1,069 MW, an aggregate annual
biomass processing designed capacity of approximately
8,209,800 tonnes,

processing designed capacity of approximately 11,610 tonnes.

and a daily aggregate household waste
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Yo mER - BR BB BR - EERSE

KBTI ERMEERY MBI B REMAE
EARVTERSE - Rt 25 AEERE LB
AR EBEN  BEMEFRANAER A
WEREHEHEABMA—RER  RBLEERM
BEEYNENAELR  FAT REAERRRE
BRI - ARERRA - REEXFAES
AIARREREIRE OESRA - RATEBRFN -

TENEVMERMAHERERRET EMERS
FMABEEMBNRSHERBEES - AREE
AR EAR BB EFAEREE R A
PR FIRBL AR © BB B (L BB AL B A
BE ARENEMESRENAEEERTRE
HIIREEIT MR TRAEL KT REBER

s
S o
g

HE-_Z-_NFE+-_A=+—0 AEEHEH
SeMEAEYMEHFRAEFAER - HHEPEEAN10ME
B EBURETHRE TES LRS- B
ERIMEESH -  ZEHE S RBREENHAR
Be172.918 7L BREFTHERK A 221,060k
0 AYEBEstRERE NES T 48,209,800
ME - A VERRABRR AT R IR B NEST HAY11,610M8 -
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During the year under review, the Group operated and completed
generating
approximately 6,350,623 MWh of on-grid electricity, representing

54 integrated biomass utilisation projects,

an increase of 3% over 2023; the volume of steam supplied was
approximately 3,180,613 tonnes, representing an increase of
32% compared to 2023; and processed approximately 7,686,013
tonnes of biomass raw materials and approximately 4,155,530
tonnes of household waste, representing decrease of 2% and
increase of 8% over 2023 respectively. As of 31 December 2024,
the Group had 1

construction,

integrated biomass utilisation project under
with an annual biomass processing designed
capacity of approximately 50,000 tonnes and an estimated annum

steam production capacity of 657,000 tonnes.

During the year under review, the Group’s integrated biomass
utilisation projects contributed EBITDA of approximately
HK$1,917,577,000, representing an increase of 3% compared to
2023. The integrated biomass utilisation projects contributed net
profit of approximately HK$1,139,583,000,
increase of 14% compared to 2023. The increase in profit despite

representing an

a decrease in profits from projects under construction as a result
of the decrease in projects under construction during the year
compared to 2023 was mainly attributable to a series of
measures taken by the Group to optimise the fuel procurement
and transportation solutions to reduce costs, as well as to
vigorously develop heat-users to contribute profit to the operation
services.

Major operating and financial data of the integrated biomass
utilisation segment for 2024 are summarised as follows:

REEFEAN AEEEEREINEMELRE
FIFIE B #5418 - 24 - 4FE £ 46,350,623k
B - - = FEN8%  IRHEA R ESY
3,180,613Mf * B8 =T = = F18132% : KEE A
%EJ?M#M@? 686,013 M & 4 )& 47 I} 4V
4,155,530M + DRI - = = F Rl D2% &N
8% HE_T_NF+_A=+—H XEEE

BEVESHEAFNBAER X1 £WERTERIE
B W48 F£50,00008 - B EFEREAE
657,0000 °

REBEFEAN ASENEYESREFNAEER
BBRAE ME MEREHENABNOBE
1,917,577,0007C * 8 =T = = F I J13% ° £
BIREFBEE ERFAFIZEE1,139,583,000
T M T FHEIN14% c REEEZEAB R
DHERMNER-_S_=FRLINERT D&
WMAFIEN  TEHRAEERBE—RYIERE -
BER BRI E S RERRERA - WA NH
BRARFP REERSERFIHE -

—RoMEAYEGRANAO Mz TR E L RN
BEIEMmENT

Integrated biomass utilisation projects EYEHRERAER
On-grid electricity (MIWh) tREE KEE) 6,350,623 6,155,349
Biomass raw materials processing volume EMERMEEEE ()

(fonnes) 7,686,013 7,845,389
Household waste processing volume (fonnes) — A4 E B3GR iR & (1) 4,155,530 3,836,284
Volume of steam supplied (tonnes) EOAMES (1F) 3,180,613 2,406,237
EBITDA (HK$'000) BRAS BB -TEK

BRI BA CEEToT) 1,917,577 1,858,233
Segment net profit (HK$’000) DEFRF CEFor) 1,139,583 997,636
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Hazardous and solid waste treatment

The Group is principally engaged in the safe treatment and
integrated utilisation of wastes including general industrial solid
hazardous wastes and infectious animal

wastes, carcasses.

Currently, the Group conducts the disposal by way of
incineration, landfill, physicochemical treatment and integrated

utilisation.

The Group is a leading industry player in the hazardous waste
treatment business, with capabilities for safely disposing of 44 out
of 46 categories of hazardous wastes listed in the National
Catalog of Hazardous Wastes. During the year under review, the
Group continued to explore the potential of the general industrial
solid waste electricity and heat cogeneration business. The Group
is well-positioned to fully meet various requirements of customers
on the back of its solid technical strengths and ability to provide
one-stop services.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 51 hazardous
and solid waste treatment projects, distributed variously in 8
provinces and autonomous regions in China, which were mainly
located in Jiangsu Province, Shandong Province, Anhui Province,
Hubei
commanded a total investment of approximately RMB11.658

Province, Zhejiang Province, etc. Such projects
bilion and an aggregate annual processing designed capacity of

approximately 2,466,000 tonnes.

During the year under review, the Group had 43 hazardous and
solid waste treatment projects that were in operation or

completed construction. For detoxification treatment,
approximately 453,748 tonnes of hazardous and solid waste were
treated in total, representing an increase of 26% compared to
2023. For integrated 45,234 tonnes of

hazardous and solid waste were treated, representing a decrease

resource utilisation,

of 49% compared to 2023, and approximately 11,670 tonnes of
recycled products were sold, representing a decrease of 46%
compared to 2023. There were 3 hazardous and solid waste
treatment projects under construction with an aggregate annual
hazardous waste processing designed capacity of approximately
226,500 tonnes.

EREREEEEZE
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REHEBAME BEESEEFE EEERBEK
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During the year under review, the Group’s hazardous and solid
waste treatment projects recorded loss before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation (“LBITDA”) of approximately
HK$1,119,106,000, representing an increase of 161% compared
to 2023. Hazardous and solid waste treatment projects recorded
net loss of approximately HK$1,281,556,000, representing a 70%
increase in loss compared to 2023. The increase in loss was
mainly due to the weaker-than-expected recovery of the domestic
hazardous and solid waste treatment market, the keen
competition in the industry, the continuous decline in unit
treatment fee and certain projects continued to operate at a loss,
resulting in impairment losses on intangible assets, property, plant
and equipment, goodwill, and right-of-use assets. In the face of
the severe market environment, the Group increased the volume
of waste processed during the year through technological reforms
and management enhancement, resulting in a significant reduction
in unit cost, however, the cost reduction is insufficient to offset
the impact of the continuous decline in unit prices. In addition,
there was no profit contribution from construction projects during
the year under review.

Major operating and financial data of the hazardous and solid
waste treatment segment for 2024 are summarised as follows:

REBEFEAN  NEENEREMEREEEHEB %
SBBRAME - WIE  EREHEAEE (RIS -
TIE - YTEREIERIESE]) 40/8%1,119,106,000
T BB =FHEIN161% o ERE R EERETE
B 815 F B 18 498 #1,281,556,00070 ' B = &
*:EEﬂ%ibwo%oEﬂ%ibui%&ﬁf%Wi
BER EREEEMIBEE T MIEH - 1T¥% aéd:
REEERATE HTHELE ii*réﬂa
BEFEE W BERRE- Pﬁéﬁ%&fim*%s*
BERBFB ASEEHEBEOTERE B
BEAMEERAGMAFEESSE - EAKA
BERK BRARBETRABEEEHETS
EENTE - N REEFE AT ETERNES
=10

TECNFEEREERES B EEE L HEE
HBEBERBWOT

Hazardous and solid waste treatment
projects

Hazardous and solid waste processing
volume (tonnes)

— Detoxification treatment

— Integrated resource utilisation

Sales volume of recycled products (fonnes)

On-grid electricity (MWh)

Volume of steam supplied (fonnes)

LBITDA (HK$’000)

Segment net loss (HK$'000)

BEREEEEER
fERE N ERERIEE ()
— BEtRE 453,748 360,922
— BR&EANA 45,234 87,890
BRICFAEREES (W) 11,670 21,436
FREE CKRE) 30,618 22,069
A ES (1) 828,107 677,272
BRAE BB TER

BRI EE % For) (1,119,106) (428,162)
D EBFEE BB TFor) (1,281,556) (752,752)
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Environmental remediation

The Group’s environmental remediation business covers mainly the
restoration of industrial contaminated sites, restoration of
contaminated farmland, ecological restoration for mines and
landfills, treatment of industrial gas emission, integrated treatment
of oil sludge, treatment of river and lake sediments and industrial
sludge, construction and operation of wetland parks, environmental
stewardship services and anti-seepage at landfill sites.

In connection with qualifications, as of 31 December 2024, the
Group held the following accreditations: First-grade Professional
Contracting Qualification for Environmental Protection Projects,
Second-Grade General Contractor for Municipal Public Works,
Second-Grade General Contractor for Construction Works,
Environmental Engineering EPO License (Class B) (for pollution
remediation and prevention of water pollution), Environmental
Pollution Control License (Class A) (remediation of contaminated
sites) in Jiangsu Province, Qualification for Installation (Repair and
Testing) of Power Facilities (Fourth Class), Environmental Pollution
Control License (Class B) (contaminated water body remediation)
in Jiangsu Province, General Contractor for Environmental
Pollution Control License (First Class) (remediation of
contaminated sites) in Jiangsu Province and General Contractor
for Environmental Pollution Control License (Second Class)
(contaminated water body remediation) in Jiangsu Province. It had
also obtained an “AAA” corporate credit rating given by a credit
rating agency, as well as ISO9001, OHSAS45001 and 1ISO14001
management system accreditations.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had 17 environmental
remediation projects under implementation, which were mainly
located in Jiangsu Province, Anhui Province, Zhejiang Province,
Guangdong Province and Yunnan Province respectively, with a
total contract amount of approximately RMB689 million.

REEE
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During the year under review, the Group’s environmental
remediation projects contributed EBITDA of approximately
HK$25,030,000, representing a decrease of 16% compared to
2023. Environmental remediation projects contributed net profit of
approximately HK$6,922,000, representing a decrease of 27%
compared to 2023. The decrease in profit was mainly attributable
to the slowdown in investment in the ecological and
environmental governance industry and intensified market
competition as a result of multiple factors such as the
macro-economic environment, industrial policies and local fiscal
revenues and expenditures. The Company strengthened the
comprehensive screening of traditional business projects by
considering factors such as project funding sources, payment
progress, project profitability, bidder credibility and business
environment. As a result, the undertakings and execution of
traditional business declined as compared to 2023. However,
through cost-reduction and efficiency-improvement measures such
as intensifying efforts to collect accounts receivable, the net
operating cash flow has been significantly improved.

Major financial data of the environmental remediation segment for
2024 are summarised as follows:

REBEFEAN  AEENIREEEEE KT
B BiIE - & R AT & F %)% #25,030,000
BT =FERA16% c RIEEEER SH
FRFN4E 6,022,000 BB ZF R
27% > BFB L FEZ RBLEIRG EEBR
M A BN BRESERETE - FREHEIR
BORBITERERENE  MHHEFMNE - AR
ANRBEEESNR - XTEE - BB K&EAKF -
BEHER ERRESAEMNE THEREY
BHNGREERE  WELREBAE  HTBEAKR
ZEZ=FRH TR o iRm0 A RE R B E R
NEEREAREHERE  EEEFRES RS
W o

TETMFERFEESHIIENBEERE
LN

REMBERR

Environmental remediation projects
EBITDA (HK$’000)

Segment net profit (HK$'000)

BRAE IR FTER
BIHmBN CE¥TT)
DR BN GEETT)

25,030
6,922

29,960
9,473

Solar energy and wind power

Apart from the County-wide Advancement Solar Project in Feng
County, as of 31 December 2024, the Group has 30 operating
and completed solar energy projects, 1 distributed energy storage
project and 2 wind power projects in operation distributed in
Jiangsu Province, Anhui Province, Guangdong Province, Shanxi
Province, Hong Kong and Germany, respectively, involving a total
investment of approximately RMB1.757 billion and providing an
aggregate power generation designed capacity of 214.66 MW. In
addition, there are 3 zero-carbon industrial park projects currently
under preparation, mainly distributed in Jiangsu Province with a
total investment of approximately RMB147 million and an
aggregate power generation designed capacity of 37.46 MW. The
Group is responsible for building, managing and operating these
projects.

KRBEERRE
BREZARBEZHEEERN BE_ZT_HF
F+ZA=+—H AEEHEEGI0EELFMEKT
THHKEEEE - 1ADMHANFEEEEE U K2(E
EEMREIEE 2R MRIIEHE  THE -
BRE - ILAE  BEREE  HREKERY
ARBA7T57TE L  BRAHETERDE R
21466 F - FEIEEREFHZTREREIEE -
FEDMAILEHRE PRV EHDARE147E
TL BRI EREMAEA37.46KE - AEEE
TR BENEEZEIER -
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s County-wide Solar Energy
Advancement Project in Feng County included 18 subsidiary
projects with a total investment of approximately RMB191 million
and an aggregate power generation designed capacity of 48.61
MW, of which 9 projects with an aggregate power generation
designed capacity of 27.88 MW were in operation and 9 projects
with an aggregate power generation designed capacity of 20.73
MW were under preparation.

During the year under review, the Group’s solar energy and wind
power projects sold approximately 294,590 MWh of electricity,
representing a decrease of 1% compared to 2023. The projects
contributed EBITDA of approximately HK$178,811,000,
representing a decrease of 5% compared to 2023. Solar energy
and wind power projects contributed net profit of approximately
HK$73,266,000, representing a decrease of 9% compared to
2023. This was mainly attributable to the decrease in power
generation as compared to last year as a result of ice-covered
and low-temperature shutdowns of fans and decrease in wind
resources for wind power projects as compared to the same
period last year during the year under review, while solar energy
projects experienced an increase in power generation compared
to the previous year due to the operation of new projects within
the year.

Major operating and financial data of the solar energy and wind
power segment for 2024 are summarised as follows:

HE-_ZT-_NE+-_A=+—8 AEFEFL
BN REGHEEE @%18(!%159 P %EIEE
BRBHEEBOAREI91ETT - B& ﬁ’é*#
BARE48.61KE  HPOEBERIHRAEE  #:%
TR EEMAE27.88)KE - 9(!159»*2)5“5‘*’ 2 P
ER - MR R EBRMAE20.73KE -

REBFEAN  ASENAREERRAEEEE
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HEREEIEEB &RF AR K8 ¥73,266,000
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Solar energy and wind power projects
On-grid electricity (MWh)
EBITDA (HK$'000)

Segment net profit (HK$’000)

KRBERREER
tREE CKREE)
BRAE - BE - ER
BERRF CE¥FoT)
DEFERN CEETor)

294,590 296,845
178,811 188,338
73,266 80,315
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Business prospects

In 2025, whilst challenges for the global economy will remain with
conflicting interests coming to the fore, the Chinese government
will persist in the overall working principle of seeking progress in
stability, implementing more proactive macro-economic policies
and driving integration of technological innovation and industrial
innovation to stabilise expectations and facilitate ongoing
resurgence of the economy, with a view to completing goals and
missions under the “14th FYP” with high quality and laying a solid
foundation for the commencement of the “15th FYP”.

In retrospect of 2024, social and economic order was returning to

normal in a steady manner, whilst low-carbon green
transformation was noticeably gaining pace. Guided by the
principle of green development, China was steadily advancing in
the development of its economy and ecological civilisation with
remarkable results. The promulgation of the Opinion on Generally
Advancing the Building of the Beautiful China, a policy for the
guidance of developments in the ecological sector, by the State
Council marked a significant step in the expedited formation of a
new setup for the Beautiful China where qualitative development
would be achieved in the context of a superior ecological
environment, as it called for coordinated efforts in industry mix
adjustments, pollution treatment, ecological protection, response
to climate change, and procuring synergistic growth in carbon
reduction, The
Opinion on Expediting General Green Transformation in Economic
in August 2024 called for
incorporation of the requirement for green transformation into all
economic and social development plans, which is set to give rise

to new opportunities for development and bring about new

pollution reduction and green development.

and Social Development issued

demands and niches in the market. Green productivity driven by
innovations in low-carbon green technologies is poised for robust
growth. The Guiding Opinion for Robust Implementation of
Renewable Energy Substitution 2024
suggested that all industries should comprehensively upgrade
their capabilities in renewable energy supply. As such, there will

issued in October

be new opportunities for development for the biomass and new
energy sectors.

RBERE
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Industrial upgrade and

important measures in the Group’s effort to achieve sustainability.

innovative development represent
In particular, they have become ever more pressing tasks given
the combined effect of multiple difficulties such as the withdrawal
of national tariff subsidies, volatilities in the macro-economic
environment and various sources of capital flocking into the
environmental sector etc. The Group will establish itself in the
While
coordinating delicacy operation of the biomass and waste-to-

integrated biomass utilisation business with precision.

energy projects within its business system, it will develop with
meticulous effort a comprehensive technology R&D regime for
business transformation with two principal directions in the core
technology R&D: first of all, to focus on the high-value recycling
of biomass wastes, covering the 5 major segments of sugar, gas,
fertiliser, heat and carbon; secondly, to also focus on the “clean
energy” sector with a special emphasis on the R&D of “Zero-
carbon Industrial Park + Virtual Power Plant” and “Power Trade”
platform that match with market needs. The confirmation of these
two principal directions will further cement the solid technological
foundation of the Group’s business transformation and is also
expected to further optimise asset allocation, accelerating the
layout of asset-light businesses. The Company will actively seize
with the
implementation of new market development plans and expansion

opportunities for development in the industry,
of new markets, in order to facilitate ongoing improvements in the

Company’s operating results.

In relation to hazardous and solid waste business, the Group will
prudently assess the market to make dynamic adjustments to its
operational strategies in a timely manner according to changes in
market conditions, advancing “maximum cost reduction” with
intensive effort while further optimising project management to
capitalise on existing resources to the greatest extent. In the
meantime, the Group will further enhance the market synergies
among its existing hazardous and solid waste projects and
identify potential customer resources in the hazardous and solid
waste market to the fullest extent. The Group will actively
investigate recycling projects with low market risks as part of its
business transformation, coordinating ash recycling within its
business system to drive large-scale expansion of the ash
recycling business, whilst enhancing the ability of the hazardous
and solid waste business to withstand market changes in an

effort to stem business decline and regain stability.

EXNREAHFEREAKEERITHERRD
EER8E LEABEWHER ZBEEEBEREZ
B ZRENBARRTESZERNBENE S
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As the flagship for “clean energy” business under CEEGL, the
Group actively fulfills its social responsibility in vigorous response
to the national strategic objective of “Dual Carbon”, driving low-
carbon green development to contribute to the nation’s
sustainability. On top of fortifying the strengths of its existing
integrated biomass utilisation business, the Group will step up
with efforts to drive asset-light businesses, such as green power
trade, environmental remediation engineering and ecological green
innovation to achieve a

products, through technological

development pattern in its green environmental business
underpinned by asset-light as well as asset-intensive operations.
Year 2025 will be a time of planning for the “15th FYP”, while it
also marks the beginning of the Group’s Second-Stage
Entrepreneurship. The Group will CEEGL’s

development strategy of attaining dominance and excellence in

resolutely fulfill

“clean energy” as its principal business in ongoing adherence to
the corporate vision of “Create Better Investment Value and
Undertake More Social Responsibility” to foster core competitive
strengths with focused efforts. Given the nation’s emphasis on
and increasing support for the “Dual Carbon”, it is believed that
the Group will be embracing broader prospects for development
and well-positioned to make more contributions towards the
building of the Beautiful China with the Everbright power.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Financial position

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total assets amounted to
approximately HK$36,331,601,000 (31 2023:
HK$39,757,424,000) with net assets amounting to approximately
HK$11,662,300,000 (31 December 2023: HK$12,356,339,000).
Net asset value per share attributable to equity shareholders of

December

the Company was HK$4.65, a decrease of 15% as compared to
HK$5.46 per share as at the end of 2023. As at 31 December
2024, the gearing ratio (total liabilities over total assets) of the
Group was 67.90%, a decrease of 1.02 percentage points as
compared to that of 68.92% as at the end of 2023. The current
ratio of the Group was 125.40%, an
percentage points as compared to that of 111.90% as at the end
of 2023.

increase of 13.50
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Financial resources

The Group adopts a prudent approach on cash and financial
management to ensure proper risk control and lower the costs of
funds. It finances its operations primarily with internally generated
cash flow, proceeds from the issuance of medium-term notes and
bank loans. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had cash and
bank balances of approximately HK$1,673,716,000, a decrease of
approximately HK$705,067,000 as compared to
HK$2,378,783,000 at the end of 2023. Most of the Group’s cash
and bank balances were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
Renminbi.

Indebtedness

The Group endeavours to develop a diverse range of financing
options and increasing banking facilities to reserve funds for the
development of its environmental protection business. As at 31
December 2024, the Group had outstanding borrowings of
approximately HK$21,000,152,000, a decrease of approximately
HK$2,131,608,000 as compared to HK$23,131,760,000 as at the
end of 2023. The borrowings included secured interest-bearing
borrowings of approximately HK$8,234,803,000 (31 December
2023: HK$9,119,715,000) and unsecured interest-bearing
borrowings of approximately HK$12,765,349,000 (31 December
2023: HK$14,012,045,000). The borrowings of the Group were
denominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars, representing
93% and 7% of the total respectively. The majority of the
Group’s borrowings were subject to floating rates. As at 31
December 2024, the Group had banking facilities of
approximately HK$20,951,591,000 (31 December 2023:
HK$24,910,746,000), of which approximately HK$6,831,718,000
(31 December 2023: HK$6,884,254,000) was unutilised. The tenor
of banking facilities ranged from 1 year to 18 years.

Foreign exchange risks

The Company’s financial statements are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars, which is also the functional currency of the
Company. The Group’s investments made outside Hong Kong
(including Mainland China) may incur foreign exchange risks. The
Group’s operations have been predominantly based in Mainland
China, which makes up over 95% of its total investments and
revenue. The majority of the Group’s assets, borrowings and
major transactions are denominated in Renminbi, forming basically
a natural hedging effect. The Group closely manages its foreign
exchange risk through the optimal allocation of borrowings in
different currencies, moderate control of borrowings in non-base
currencies, and adoption of appropriate financial instruments.

BB EIR
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Pledge of assets

Certain banking facilities of the Group were secured by certain
revenue rights, contract assets, intangible assets and receivables
in connection with the Group’s service concession arrangements,
bank deposits, property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and equity interest of a subsidiary. As at 31 December 2024, the
aggregate net book value of assets pledged amounted to
approximately HK$17,920,001,000 (31 2023:
HK$17,239,332,000).

December

Commitments

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had purchase commitments
of approximately HK$50,834,000 (31 December 2023:
HK$108,723,000) under the construction contracts and capital
commitments relating to capital injection in a joint venture of
approximately HK$26,760,000 (31 2028:
HK$27,195,000).

December

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any contingent
liabilities (31 December 2023: Nil).

Tax relief and exemption

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company’s shares.

Service concession arrangements

The Group entered into Build-Operate-Transfer (“BOT”) and Build-
Operate-Own (“BOQ”) arrangements in respect of its projects.

The Group concluded that all the BOT arrangements and certain
BOO arrangements are service concession arrangements under
Hong Kong Financial
Committee) (“HK(IFRIC)”) Interpretation 12, because the local

government controls and regulates the services that the Group

(International Reporting Interpretations

must provide with the infrastructure at a pre-determined service

charge. In respect of BOT arrangements, upon expiry of

concession right agreement, the infrastructure has to be

transferred to the local government at nil consideration.

Infrastructure for BOO arrangements is used in the service

concession arrangements for its entire or substantial useful life.
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The following chart sets forth a summary of the accounting
treatment for service concession arrangements and non-service
concession arrangements under Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards (“HKFRSs”):

Projects with
guaranteed
revenue stream
ARBRE T
HH

Projects fulfiling all of (1),
(2) and (3)

mEE) (2 RE)EE
HMIEE

CRITERIA Z%

(1) The grantor of the project

controls or regulates what
services we must provide with
the infrastructure, to whom we
must provide the service, and
at what price

H A B ZE AR B E R
MAMBERREZ RS - RSB
HRAR RIS E R

(2) The grantor of the project controls,

through ownership, beneficial
entitlement or otherwise, any
significant residual interest in the
infrastructure at the end of the
service concession arrangement
or the infrastructure is used in the
service concession arrangement
for its entire useful life

B EH B ZEEAERS TS
LA RS RE - BB
B BaiEam s H oy AR
552 2 o] B A FIEAFI2S -
A EZERIRIG AT ERER
HREEERFHAER

() The infrastructure is constructed

or acquired from a third party
for the purpose of the service
concession arrangement or
is an existing infrastructure of
the grantor of the project to
which we are given access
for the purpose of the service
concession arrangement

ZER 2 A R RS R AT AT SR
ZHE B MERRHEE =K
i EZRRMABNER
ABBEREE - B R R
AT AR E R BE R B By AR
Pk

D

Projects with
non-guaranteed
revenue stream
ERFBURE A
BE

—

Other projects
HibIEA

Construction phase

BERRER

Statement of profit — construction revenue recognised

or loss
B R

Statement of
financial position
BRI R

Cash flow
Bene

ERREE RS

— construction costs charged
EHBRZERA

— finance income recognised
EERI WA

- the consideration receivable for the
construction service is recognised as service
concession assets, which is an interest
bearing contract asset
MEERBHOEBKLEERRAEENEE
HIRIS R RTIC S B E

finance income receivable is classified as
service concession assets

W SRA D BRRB FRTCEREE

— payment for construction costs is classified
under operating activities
BERAXNRASBELEEEHET

— no cash flow effect for construction revenue
and finance income
HZERR A BRALERSREVE

TREIRIEE B RS 28 ([ BB HRE
AR |) 1R A R T IR S FRA  E A

BLFETENEEIME

N SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENT
BRI A AR R

Operation phase

BEERR

— operation revenue (service fee received/
receivables less partial settlement of the
service concession assets during the
construction phase) recognised
B R Wz (PRI BB I TE RS
BRARRBHTCEREEDSER)

— finance income recognised

DRERM B KA

— service concession assets will be settled by
allocation of service fees received during the
operation phase
BRI R4S 4 EE S Eh B B B R
BEREN

— service fee received is classified under
operating activities

BRBRBEASEELEEEHAT

=

=

SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENT
IR R B

Construction phase

Bk

Statement of profit — construction revenue recognised

or loss

kT

Statement of
financial position

MR T

Cash flow
ReRE

BRIk
— construction costs charged

EEREERA

- the consideration receivable for the
construction service is recognised as
intangible assets

REERBHRERERARBIAE

— payment for construction costs is classified
under investing activities
BERAINRESBREREEEHET

- no cash flow effect for construction revenue

HEERSYRRASRETE

Operation phase

EERR

— operation revenue (service fee received/
receivable) recognised
ERREE ke (Bl BRREER)

— amortisation charge of intangible assets
EmUEE#HEER

— intangible assets are amortised on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful life

TR EDATRGHE A F R IR B AR E A 5

— service fee received is classified under
operating activities

BURBEEASRELEEFHET

NON-SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENT
FRBITRE R

Construction phase
R R

Statement of profit — nil

or loss

B

Statement of
financial position
BgRR R

Cash flow
RERE

— construction costs are capitalised as
construction in progress and classified under
property, plant and equipment
BERAERMERERIRBEISHENE
B R EEBET

— payment for construction costs is classified
under investing activities
BERAXNRESBREREEHET

Operation phase

BERR

— operation revenue (service fee received/
receivable) recognised

B & W (B YRGS EA)
depreciation charge of property, plant and
equipment

mE - BERRENEER

— upon completion of the construction,
construction in progress is reclassified to the
relevant categories under property, plant and
equipment
BETHRE  ERREEFNDEEVE K
B R HREOEBERT

— cost of the infrastructure is depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful
life
HEERAAEEAFRIZEREERE

- service fee received

operating activities
BEWRBERSEELEEHAT

is classified under
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As of 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 178 projects
had completed construction or commenced operation and 21
projects under construction, in which 55 integrated biomass
utilisation projects and 39 hazardous and solid waste treatment
projects are accounted for as service concession arrangements.
Most of the integrated biomass utilisation projects and some of
the hazardous and solid waste treatment projects are accounted
for as service concession arrangements. The construction
contracts for the biomass portion of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy projects and some of hazardous and solid waste
treatment projects are recorded under “intangible assets”, while
the construction contracts for the waste-to-energy portion of
integrated biomass and waste-to-energy projects and some of
hazardous and solid waste treatment projects are recorded under
service concession assets.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the construction
revenue recorded under intangible assets and service concession
assets for
arrangements during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2023.

projects accounted for as service concession

Construction revenue recorded as additions to:

HE-_ZT-_NF+-_A=+—H KAEEHEHF178
EsETskEETEE K21 EEEIEE - HA : 55
EYEGEANBERMIERELEFEEEER
ABRIERG FATE L HE D IER - K%
HEMEGREFNRIEE RBOEEREREEEER
BARIMERBIETEERLHE - £ME KRR
BE—RCEBEVESIRETEEREERE
BEEENBESGONIEBEEEIVE mEME
N h R E — B L ER RIR BB RO RO BRE
NEEEEBEENREESANRGFITECEREE
EETHIE-

TEREFEEZZT-WF+—_A=+—AK=Z
—ZF+ZA=+—HIEFE  ARIMERGESE
R HNIEE B EAE RRBFILE
BEEETHENEEREAIPM -

SRS RIBE M et

2024 2023

—E-lmE T =%F

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T FE T T

Intangible assets B B 169,444 606,504
Service concession assets RS REEEE 61,305 54,141
Total REr 230,749 660,645
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INTERNAL MANAGEMENT

Strengthening corporate management is the cornerstone that
ensures efficient, healthy and sustainable development of an
enterprise. The Group has always upheld a “People-oriented,
Pragmatic, Creative and Systematic” management philosophy, as
it continues to develop and improve its management system and
mechanism with a special emphasis on fostering a corporate
management culture that encourages participation by all
employees, so as to enhance management awareness and
effectively raise its management standards. At the same time, the
Group is advancing efforts to increase revenue and reduce
with cost reduction and efficiency

expenses, improvement

measures constantly achieving remarkable results.

In response to the current business status and transformation
needs, the Group has timely optimised its organizational structure.
Currently, an organisational framework of “1 headquarters + 2
centres + 2 companies” has been established, through which the
responsibilities of each functional department and business
management center are clearly defined, all management systems
are well-developed, and internal control processes are robust and
effectively implemented. The Group also continued to fortify its
line of defense against risks, as risk assessment was enhanced
and climate risks were identified while risk appetites were
optimised, while management responsibilities for safe production
were ascertained to reinforce the bottom line for safe production
and compliant emissions, in order to improve the level of
informatisation in safe production as well as the efficiency and

magnitude of risk management.

During the year under review, the Group held meetings of the
management committee (the “Management Committee”) on a
monthly basis to conduct reviews on project investment,
preparation, construction and operation. It played its part as the
investment project review committee which effectively reviews
project investments and construction plans according to stringent
standards. In the meantime, members of the Management
Committee actively deliberated on corporate strategies for
transformation and development and discuss important tasks of
the enterprise in a collective effort to drive the stable

development of the Group.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group deeply understands that talent is the core driving force
behind enterprise development. Therefore, the Group implements
its talent strategy through two channels, “external
recruitment” and “internal cultivation”, constantly strengthening the

construction of its talent team. By disseminating corporate

namely

culture, the Group embeds core business philosophies into the
hearts of its employees, ensuring that they share the same
mindset and goals as the Group. This approach has enabled the
Group to build a talent team that “Embracing Rules, Taking Bold
Responsibility, and Pursuing Dreams”, achieving the dual
enhancement of personal and corporate value.

The Group also continues to optimise human
management by clearly promoting the “ability to work both at the

resources

top and bottom” mechanism for managers at all levels. The Group

comprehensively recalibrates the authority over operations,
personnel, and evaluations within project companies, business
management centres and headquarters to drive high efficient
internal management and optimal human resources utilization.
Adhering to the management philosophy of “goal-oriented
operations and performance-oriented staffing”,
facilitates the healthy development of green environmental

protection initiatives. Leveraging the advantages of its diversified

the Group

business,
development platform.
cross-regional job rotations, the Group has arranged multiple

the Group provides employees with a broad
In addition to cross-sector and
rounds of internal recruitment, prioritising employee’s applications
for positions across various headquarters departments to offer
them diverse development opportunities and unlocks their
potential. The Group is also committed to the building of a
workplace characterised by diversity, inclusivity and mutual
respect at work for all employees and advocates the safeguarding
of such workplace through a relevant mechanism, under which
everyone is entitled to equal opportunities within the system and
their job positions. The Company also believes that the availability
of diverse talents is closely associated with corporate
development, and has been vigorously procuring talents from
diverse backgrounds and striving to foster a harmonious, inclusive
and diverse workplace for staff of different genders from different
ethnic, cultural or professional backgrounds. The Group provides
different types of training to identify staff potential on an ongoing
basis, with a special emphasis on enabling staff to grow with the
Company and share the benefits of its achievements.
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As of 31
approximately 3,400 employees in Hong Kong and Mainland
China. Total staff cost for the year ended 31 December 2024
was HK$691,749,000 (31 December 2023: HK$664,774,000).
Employees are remunerated according to their qualifications,

December 2024, the Group had an aggregate of

experiences, job nature and performance, with reference to
market conditions. Apart from the discretionary performance
bonus, the Group also provides staff with other benefits such as

medical insurance and mandatory provident fund.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Under the macro environment of the global economic downturn,
the business market environment becomes more and more
complicated and volatile. Robust and effective risk management is
increasingly important for the Company to achieve its strategic
objectives, performance growth and sustainable development. On
the back of the Company’s risk management regime comprising
the risk management organisation, risk management systems and
risk management processes, the Group has set out clearly its
mission and objectives in risk management and a reasonable risk
appetite subject to ongoing review and optimisation. Based on
the above, the Group has adopted a comprehensive and

systematic risk management methodology of “top-down
coordination and vertical-horizontal linkage”, not only integrated
risk management into the Company’s existing business operation
and management procedures but also focused on safeguarding
the realisation of the Company’s strategic and operational
objectives. During the year under review, the Group revised the
Risk Factors Checklist on the basis of assessment results and
determined the “key management and control risks” to perform
risk management with key control risks as the core focus in line
with
management. On the back of a comprehensive internal control

its consistent emphasis on the effectiveness of risk

and risk management regime, the Group highlighted the forward-
looking qualities and effectiveness of risk control with more
attention on details. Consolidated analyses of risk events were
conducted on an ongoing basis to ensure legal compliance of the
operations of the Group’s subsidiaries and prevent the
occurrence of systematic risks. In the course of risk identification
and assessment, the Company based on the sections and areas
in which uncertainties could have an adverse impact on the
accomplishment of its goals, the relevant risks were categorised
according to the classification of the Company’s internal
functions. Feasible and effective risk mitigation measures were
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implemented by improving the internal environment, enhancing the
dissemination of information and conducting specific inspections,
among others, to address material risks which had been identified
and evaluated. Meanwhile, the effectiveness of risk control was
assessed on a regular basis and deficiencies were rectified in a
timely manner. Key risks associated with the development of the
Group’s environmental protection business during the year under
review included trade receivables, strategic transformation and
market competition, policy changes, environmental compliance
and safety management, human resources, cost control and
production capacity management, meanwhile, special attention
was also paid to the risks associated with climate change,
corruption and fraud, cybersecurity and artificial intelligence (“Al”).
The Group has incorporated ESG risks into the Company’s risk
management regime, and relevant details were allocated to major
risk categories to facilitate risk control based on the sections and
areas in which the accomplishment of corporate goals could be
affected. The Company places ongoing focus on global climate
change, in particular contingency plans and reasonable response
measures to address risks which might result from extreme
in the national policies and

weather, actively participates

implementation measures for “carbon reduction” and “carbon
peak”,
measures catering to higher mandatory emission standards for
Staff

development was facilitated by creating job opportunities and

and making advanced arrangements and response

enterprises that might be announced by the nation.

incorporating the concepts of inclusivity and equality in the Staff
Handbook and human resources management policy. In
conjunction with the Company’s business, it was sought to
increase the income of local farmers through the purchase and
secondary processing of straws, thereby facilitating

in genuine fulflment of the Company’s social

rural
revitalisation
responsibility. For details of the impact of climate change on the
Company, please refer to the section headed “Addressing Climate
Change” in the 2024 sustainability report of the Company, which
will be uploaded to the respective websites of Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited (“HKEx”) and the Company by
the end of April. the Group
optimised its risk rating and criteria for assessing audit results and

During the year under review,

exercised effective control over material risks.
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The Group consistently places high importance on risks related to
ESG factors. Through risk identification and assessment, the
Group integrate these risks into the aforementioned primary risk
management framework. For instance, in managing strategic

transformation and market competition risks, it focuses on
sustainable development, staying attuned to new trends in low-
carbon and circular economy sectors to drive strategic
transformation and enhance market competitiveness of the
Company. It monitors the impact of global climate change and
extreme weather on new national policies, proactively addressing
risks associated with policy changes. The Group also prepares for
environmental safety risks caused by extreme weather
phenomena by actively developing and implementing emergency
plans, conducting regular drills, and ensuring timely and adequate
insurance coverage. Additionally, it establishes and strictly
enforces equitable employment practices, implements diversified
recruitment measures, enhances employment opportunities for
women, and increases care and support for employees to foster
a positive human resources environment. The management and
control of ESG-related risks has elevated the Company’s risk
management standards, and more practical control measures
have effectively reduced the likelihood of such risks, minimizing

losses when risk events occur.
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The risk of trade receivables refers to the risk of incurring bad
debt losses that would affect the Company’s profit and solvency
owing to the failure to collect trade receivables in a timely
manner. With a strong emphasis on trade receivable
management, the Group has announced and implemented the
Measures for the Management of Trade Receivables and
conducts regular analyses on the overall profile of trade
receivables, on the basis of which specific call targets and plans
have been formulated to ensure reasonable trade receivable
turnover periods and the effective implementation of a mechanism
for collection. Appraisals of trade receivable collection have also
been conducted to effectively implement the clear-up of trade
receivables. Regular analysis reports on trade receivable
collection, including reports on ageing management and analysis
management, have been prepared. Cross-checking with clients
has been conducted on a quarterly basis to facilitate examination
of trade receivables. Regarding commercial customers, continuous
improvements to customer credit check have been made and a
management model has gradually been formed for screening prior
to granting credit, supervision during the granting process, and
designated tracking after granting. Flexibility in credit policies and
call strategies are afforded in relation to different customers and
instant adjustments have been made to reduce the probability of
bad debt. Where necessary, legal means are employed to assure
the collection of trade receivables. The Group also actively
registers such debts with local governments with a view to
recovering its trade receivables under the auspices of relevant
national policies. The Company has consistently placed a strong
emphasis on the payout of national tariff subsidies and has
actively liaised with relevant authorities to gain insight into the
tariff

subsidies as soon as practicable. In the meantime, plans have

latest policy direction and procure payout of national

been made in connection with national tariff subsidies that cannot
be received in full in the short term. On the one hand, the Group
seeks to increase operating cash flow from each project to
maintain secure liquidity through its own earnings. On the other
hand, the Company seeks to broaden its financing channels and
means to enhance its financing ability and increase its cash
reserve to address the requirements of new business
development. Meanwhile the Group is also exploring ways to be
engaged in financial products in order to cash in on trade

receivables as soon as practicable through financial means.
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The risk associated with strategic transformation and
market competition refers to the inability to validly analyse and
reasonably estimate the extent of market clarity and industrial
development trends, or the inability to identify new business
investment/engage in new business development/commence
investment at the right timing owing to errors in market research.
The inability to formulate development strategies and explore new
businesses for the Company in a timely manner in response to
the trends of climate change could result in the Company’s
missing out on business opportunities. Inadequacies in financial
feasibility estimates or unreasonable setting of operating
conditions and boundary conditions during the stage of business
development could result in inaccurate estimates of financial
indicators and return rates, thereby affecting the financial income
of the Company, or the inabilty to arrive at an effective
assessment of technical feasibility could affect the Company’s
total investment or financial income. The Group has refrained
from unwarranted expansion, investment with insignificant profit
return and low price competition and has optimised its project
evaluation system and procedures with the establishment of the
investment project risk review committee, which conducts
examination on investment project risks to enhance the quality of
investment project evaluation and strengthen risk management
prior to investment in projects. The Group places a strong
emphasis on building partnerships and engaging in friendly
information sharing with leading fellow enterprises in the industry
to closely monitor movements and trends in the industry. Market
information is collected on a regular basis to facilitate
comprehensive monitoring and analysis of competitors, market
status, market investment information, national policies and
regulations, status of industry development, frontier developments
in technology and organisational management, among others.
Internal information such as the regular monthly report on market
development information and the annual industry analysis report
and national market investment guide are prepared. Relevant
competition strategies are formulated on a regular basis
according to market trends. Regular meetings are held for project
companies to facilitate information-sharing and put together
different ideas. Reference materials in the forms of minutes,
documents and special-topic publications are provided to relevant
departments for studying and to the management as reference
for decision-making. The Company has further incorporated
sustainability principles into its corporate development strategy to
guide investment and development with the sustainability strategy,
whilst closely monitoring new developments in the low-carbon
and circular economy sectors.
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The risk of policy changes refers to the risk of failure to

respond to adjustments in national policies, tightened
requirements in environmental emissions and changes in business
models in a timely and effective manner resulting in an adverse
impact on the business of the Group. The Group has been
closely monitoring adjustments to national environmental policies
and has been actively involved in advancing national strategies
and macro-policies in tandem with the requirements of national
development strategies and environmental policies and prudent
investment principles, making adjustments to its development
approach in response to changes in environmental policies. The
Group has also furnished advice and suggestions to relevant
policy-making authorities through industry associations and expert
teams, in a bid to ensure that the actual conditions and needs of
the industry would be taken into consideration by the nation in its
policy formulation. The Group has conducted in-depth and
detailed analysis on national industrial development strategies and
made pre-emptive moves in project deployment to explore new
business frontiers in response to national macro-control measures
and specific policies on the environmental protection industry. The
Group seizes development opportunities by employing innovative
business models, in order to accomplish the stated objective of
sustainable development. The Company closely monitors policies
on the carbon market and their changes whilst enhancing data
quality management, in order to prepare itself for carbon audit

and ultra-low emission upgrades.
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The risk associated with environmental compliance and
safety management can be distinguished into the risk
associated with environmental compliance and the risk associated
with safety management. The risk associated with environmental
compliance refers to the risk of exceeding environmental emission
limits, safety incidents and adverse external conditions resulting in
an adverse impact on project construction and operation. Such
risks involve ESG-related elements, such as governments at
various levels tightening emission standard requirements owing to
environmental and climate change, resulting in rising costs. The
risk of safety management refers to the risk of safety liability
incidents occurring as a result of deficiencies in the safety
management regime, imperfections in the safety management
system and ineffective implementation of safety management
measures. It also refers to the inability to address extreme
weather (such as torrential rain, flood and heat wave, etc.) in a
proper manner and the exposure of staff working under extreme
cold/hot conditions resulting in the loss of property and injury or
fatality of staff. The Group has persisted in work design
optimisation, stringent quality control over project construction
and efficiency upgrades for equipment in a bid to enhance
project management standards. The Group has also exercised
stringent control over emission indicators to ensure that they are
met. The Group has consistently procured the project companies
to commence requisite technological upgrades and has developed
a centralised environmental information platform and appointed
qualified third-party inspection bodies to conduct environmental
monitoring according to plans. The Group has continued to
disclose the environmental emission data of its waste-to-energy
projects in a proactive move to subject itself to the supervision of
the general public. The Group has upheld the principle of “safety
comes first in development” and continued to improve, as well as
resolutely and consistently implement, its safety management
regime in fulfillment of its responsibility in safety management. The
Group has continued to advance the development of the dual
prevention mechanism comprising tiered safety risk control and
hazard inspection and treatment to stringently implement the
Company’s safety and environmental management system and
procure due supervision, inspection and rectification. The Group
has organised the preparation of emergency plans in response to
high temperature, torrential rain and flood and the conduct of
annual emergency drills at all projects. The Group has conducted

itself in strict accordance with the environment, safety,
occupational health and social responsibility (“ESHS”)
management regime with consistent implementation of the

“Standard Operating Procedure” (SOP) and formulation of
contingency plans for accidents. Safety inspections within the
system have been conducted monthly and quarterly to identify
and eliminate safety hazards and avoid safety liability incidents.
The Group has also conducted numerous sessions of safety
training for the learning of safety management knowledge and
enhancement of safety risk awareness, with a view to curbing any
potential risks at source and improving its safety management
standards. Property and liability insurances have been purchased
based on the specific conditions of individual projects to transfer
the risks as necessary.
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The risk associated with human resources refers to the
insufficiency of existing staff backup capacity or establishment for
important functions and positions, or inability to recruit sufficient
management and technical personnel (especially the recruitment
of technology team leaders) and experienced staff, or improper
staff appointment and placement or the departure or change of
personnel at certain key positions and inability to locate suitable
replacements in a short time, or decisions to select and promote
personnel being affected by factors such as family duties, gender
or race, resulting in the suspension and slowdown of work that
affects the fulfiment of the Company’s strategic and operating
goals. The Group closely monitors market developments such as
national and local policies and laws and regulations, market
demand, competition and market resources while formulating
corporate systems and making amendments to relevant plans to
provide more favourable assurance through the system for the
selection, training and retention of staff. Stronger support was
rendered to staff recruitment, such as investigating recruitment
needs, conducting accurate analyses and adopting the right
measures to solve difficulties in recruitment, in order to ensure the
timely and effective recruitment of talents with the right calibre,
thereby assuring the normal production and operation of the
Company. To facilitate retention of incumbent staff, training
programmes are organised alongside a variety of team
development activities. The Group enhances staff sense of
belonging as well as staff unity and solidarity by showing its
concern for their well-being in various aspects. The Company has
established and consistently implemented an employment system
underpinned by the principle of equality to eliminate any
discrimination in employment and improve job opportunities for
females. The Group adheres to the policy of diversity in its
recruitment.
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The risk associated with cost control refers to investment
overruns for projects owing to inadequate control over the
execution of work budgets, or rising costs owing to rising prices
for the acquisition of raw materials prices or inadequacies in
operating ability. The Group has made ongoing efforts to enhance
standardisation of work sites by consistently substantiating its
suppliers’ list to enable selection of high-calibre partners while
exercising reasonable control over budgets and cost estimation.
During the year under review, the Group enhanced depth and
quality of the feasibility research report to closely integrate with
the design tasks, so as to increase the accuracy of budget
estimations. The mutual furnishing of information between the
equipment manufacturers and the design institutes has been
expedited, while the information supply sequence among various
equipment was internally clarified to facilitate the streamlining and
implementation of the accountability system for incorporation into
the appraisal. The Company has been actively expanding the
scope of suppliers and enhanced communication with them.
Suppliers are selected through competitive means such as open
tendering to reduce work cost estimates and the cost of raw
material procurement. A specialised operational technical team
has been established to solve operational deficiencies in a timely
manner, with a view to achieving cost reduction by enhancing
operational standards and maintaining long-term, stable and
continuous operation.

The risk associated with production capacity management
refers to the inability of projects to operate at their design
capacity owing to inadequacies in the ability to design, construct
and operate projects, or inadequate research or the selection of
sites in regions subject to greater pressure in terms of certain
types of resources resulting in rising costs for resource acquisition
or insufficient supply, which could affect investment returns. The
Company continues to enhance information collection and
increase the volume of information collection, storage and
allocation during the stages of project development, design,
construction and operation, especially information regarding the
tenders and price-bidding of medium to large waste-generating
enterprises, in order to maximise the core client base for the
projects and safeguard the stable production and long-term
development of the projects. The Company has upgraded its
project technologies and competence in materials R&D as well as
increased technological input to gradually enhance its ability to
handle sophisticated materials, so as to broaden the scope for
utilising project capacities through technical competence. The
Group has also continued to promote the experience of advanced
projects to enhance the standard of project construction and
operation, while driving technological innovation and motivating
staff vigour to lower operating cost and increase market
competitiveness by improving its operating efficiency, thereby
ensuring the full utilisation of project capacity.
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The risk associated with climate change refers to global
typhoons, gales,
lightning, sandstorms, haze, etc.) and natural

warming, extreme weather (e.g. rainstorms,
thunderstorms,
disasters caused by changes in the climate system, which may in
turn affect the stability of the Company’s project operations and
engineering construction, or result in losses in terms of property
and personnel. The impact of restrictions on greenhouse gas
emissions or mandatory carbon trading by regulatory authorities
may increase the Company’s operating costs or affect its
operational stability. The Company improved disaster prevention
design and construction standards based on climate forecasts
during the engineering phase; designate and rehearse emergency
response plans during the operation phase to prevent or avoid
the impact of extreme weather on production and operation;
reduce waste emissions and increase the use of recycling
resources; arrange regular medical check-ups for employees and
distribute labour protection materials; and take preventive and
reactive measures such as improving operation standards through
technological or operational technology innovations, and achieving

stable operations under special circumstances.

The risk associated with corruption and fraud refers to the
likelihood of corruption occurring in the course of the
performance of duties by the acting party and the consequences
of damage. The Group maintains and improves its management
system,

strengthens supervision and management, optimises

internal control processes to avoid oversight, maintains and
improves its complaint process and resolutely investigates and
verifies whistle-blowing matters. The Group implements stringent
procurement process management to ensure procurement
compliance. It has organised integrity promotion and training to
enhance the awareness of integrity. The Group has also taken
preventive and reactive measures through “case studies” to make
employees aware of the serious consequences of corruption and

fraud.

AR L /m B 1E N SRR R S ) R R
R oBmAR(MBER BRER- KA -F£ B
B YER BEF)URBRALEST  EMTE

ARBEBEEMIRERNIBE - LEEKH
EMAERTENIER - XBEEMPIBRNOEER

m%ﬁ?ﬁﬁlﬁ’]ﬁﬁ%ﬂ@i%@ﬁ%uﬁﬁ&:%#E’J%% EAD RN
ﬁkﬁiblﬂz%wELTﬂ% o AR T

EAI&f%“EﬂE'JF# RIERIIR = ) K RRET ~ &R
% F@%ﬁ%ﬁthl;ﬁiﬁé?ﬁ% - TER S
PR ARELEEELERTE MO BEEY

R BINEIRERAAE  RE TEHRLHHER -
ERBHRENE  BEMRIES &mwm
BEITKE - ERHRBEA T ERREELESTHEG

TR EE Y

BESEMEBETRIRERBBAREDELRHN
TREOAREEMEEIBETRR - REBEERFIL T
EERBE MEEEER  BRERIE @R
B BREITERHFRE SREBERBRE
o BUBIITIRIB AR E.EE REFBEHE -
ERBEGEE) REBEREH BBIAR
FEINER - FELE aileJ,\Eycri“ﬁE’JFE{é
REBBETRN EEL -



54 China Everbright Greentech Limited
FENRKGZERRER AT

Management Discussion and Analysis & 2 & 51 # & 2 #f

The risk associated with cybersecurity refers to the leakage of
the Company’s operating information due to cyber vulnerabilities,
the damage to the Company due to cyber fraud by employees,
and the failure or even paralysis of the Company’s network
information system due to the inability to effectively defend
against cyber hacking attacks. The Group has proactively
organised training on cybersecurity to enhance the awareness
and capability of its employees on cybersecurity and stringently
implemented the internal control system procedures of the
Company to prevent damages to the Company due to fraudulent
acts committed by individual employees. The Group also prevents
hacker attacks by setting up complicated passwords, physical
firewalls, software firewalls and anti-virus software, and conducts
regular cybersecurity drills to enable employees to master and
familiarise themselves with the methods of defending against

cyber frauds or attacks.

The risk of Al refers to the damage to the Company and the
employees due to the illegal use of Al tools to access the
Company’s information system, resulting in the leakage of the
Company’s information or the leakage of the employees’ privacy,
the purchase and use of unqualified Al tools, resulting in the
Company’s damages and the failure to use the Al tools safely
and reasonably, or the failure to set up the basic algorithm
resulting in wrong results or bias. The Group will improve its
system to require its employees not to use Al tools illegally; only
procure Al tools with national security certificates through a
stringent screening process to select Al tools; stringently limit the
scope of use of Al tools and use them reasonably under the
circumstances of ensuring security; implement measures such as
the setting of databases by professionals and the setting up of
manual supervision to detect and prevent the occurrence of
damages in a timely manner, and minimise losses by detecting
and preventing the occurrence of damages in time when it
occurs.
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ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL MANAGEMENT

The Group has continued to make improvements to its ESHS
management system, driving ongoing upgrades externally as well
as internal management of environment, safety and occupational
health, among others, and improving systematic, regulated and
delicacy management to maximise control over relevant risks and
eliminate management deficiencies.

In 2024, the Group focused on the objective of “safe production
and compliant emission” as it persisted in the principles of
“control preemptive prevention and systematic
treatment”. In connection with safety management, the work was
focused on risk management and implemented on the basis of
leadership abilities in safety matters and safety culture through
initiatives for improving competence as well as supervision and
inspection work. The standard of inherent safety has been
improved with the benefit of protective measures facilitated by
new technologies and augmented “digital-intelligent” engineering
technology. Regarding environmental management, national and
local directives, policies, laws, regulations and standards pertinent
to environmental protection have been acquired and implemented
in a timely manner, while ongoing efforts have been made to
enhance process supervision and preemptive warning and procure
rigorous implementation of responsibilities and measures.

at source,

The performance of the operations and environmental services of
the Group’s projects are gauged in strict adherence to relevant
standards and requirements of their respective environmental
impact assessment reports, taking into account the expectations
of the neighboring communities. Major regulations and standards
applicable to the Group’s projects include the Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Production
Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Labor Law of
the People’s Republic of China, Sewage Discharge Permit
Management Regulations, the Standard for Pollution Control on
the Municipal Solid Waste Incineration (GB18485-2014), Directive
2010/75/EU and its relevant Annexes/Amendments, the Standard
for Pollution Control on Hazardous Waste Landfills (GB18598-
2019), the Standard for Pollution Control on Hazardous Waste
Storage (GB18597-2023) and the Standard for Pollution Control
on Hazardous Waste Incineration (GB18484-2020), among others.
No breach of the said laws and regulations and environmental
protection standards resulting in significant loss for and impact to
the Group was recorded in 2024.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Group believes that maintaining sound and high standards of
corporate governance is not only a key element in safeguarding
the interest of the Shareholders but also creating long term value
for all relevant stakeholders by enhancing the corporate value,
accountability and transparency of the Group.

The Group has constantly reinforced its internal control, risk
prevention and management, corporate governance through a set
of rules and regulations. The Group strives to inculcate the
corporate governance, risk management and sustainable
development concept into the Company’s operation and business
for cultivating the strong backup to the breakthrough

development of the Company’s business.

The Group understands that corporate governance and ESG
performance is a good reflection of the management capability of
its performance in dealing with
Good corporate

is not only a prerequisite for the effective

a company, including

environmental and social risks or impacts.
governance
management of ESG issues, but also provides the cornerstone
needed to manage environmental and social risks, so as to
ensure that accountability is undertaken and fulfilled seriously by
the senior management of a company. The Board is committed to
creating

delivering long-term value to all stakeholders.

long-term sustainable growth for Shareholders and

The Board has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules as the
code for corporate governance practices of the Company. The
Company had complied with all the applicable code provisions set
out in Part 2 of the CG Code during the year of 2024, except for
the following deviation with the reason explained below:
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CODE PROVISION F.2.2 OF PART 2 OF THE CG
CODE

Code Provision F.2.2 of Part 2 of the CG Code stipulates that the
chairman of the board should attend the annual general meeting
(*AGM”). Mr. HUANG Haiqging, the then chairman of the Board,
was unable to attend the AGM held on 14 May 2024 (the “2024
AGM”) due to his other business engagement. Mr. ZHU Fugang,
the Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer, was appointed
to chair the 2024 AGM.

o

Composition and nomination
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AN EFFECTIVE BOARD
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Road map to achieve an effective Board
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1.  CORPORATE CULTURE

Everbright Greentech has all along been adhering to the
corporate mission of “Devoted to Ecology and Environment
for a Beautiful China” and the core value of “Creating Better
Investment Value and Undertaking More Social
Responsibility” to develop into a clean energy operator
claiming new-quality productivity and core competitiveness.
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Corporate culture and its promotion are set out in the 2024
sustainability report of the Company, such report will be
published at the same time as the posting of this annual
report and will be uploaded on the “CSR” column of the
Company’s website homepage and on the website of
HKEX.

Board Meetings

During the year of 2024, the Board held 5 meetings. In
addition to Board meetings, the Chairman held 1 meeting
with Independent Non-executive Directors without the
presence of Executive Directors and Non-executive
Directors. The Board has considered, approved, reviewed
and/or formulated the matters summarised below, including
but not limited to:

° Financial results of the Company;

° Reports and recommendations from the Board
committees;

° Announcements/reports for publication, including
release of interim and annual report and sustainability
report;

° Declaration of interim dividend;

° Proposals regarding the Directors’ emoluments
proposed at the 2024 AGM,;

° Re-election of Directors at the 2024 AGM;

° The Group’s internal controls and risks and the
effectiveness of its management systems, including
financial control, operational control and compliance
control functions, for the year 2024;
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Changes in Directors and Board committee members;

Changes in Chief Investment Officer and Chief Financial
Officer;

The Board evaluation result of 2023;

Profit warning announcement;

Issuance of the 2024 first tranche green medium-term
note, the second tranche and the third tranche
medium-term note;

Application for registration with the NAFMII in the PRC
and proposed issuance of multiple types of debt
financing instruments;

Potential major transactions concerning the proposed
establishment of the ABS Program, proposed
issuance of the First Tranche of ABS and the
underlying asset sale and purchase agreement;

Connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions;

Change of auditor;

The implementation and effectiveness of the policies in
the Shareholders Communication Policy and its
updates;

Updates to the terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee, the Sustainability Committee and the
Management Committee;
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. Updates to the Code of Corporate Conduct; . (EEITATRDEE R

e Adoption of the Third Amended and Restated Articles . KRR RBI B =R EITRETZE
of Association of the Company; 2aA

. Investment transactions; . WERS

e The adequacy of the Company’s relevant resources, . RAREGE - AEEZ - HBER
staff qualifications and experience, and training 8k 5 T DA 2 BA 7R N RIESG 3R IR A E
programmes received by staff and budgets in WA ER - ETERRLER - N
accounting, internal audit, financial reporting functions kB TEZMEIREREET %
and the Company’s ESG performance and reporting; ELREH

e Any possible improprieties raised out through the . BRCRRERSE)IREMERET
Whistleblowing Policy; and TEEE R

e Training and continuous professional development of . EENaAEEABNEIIEFES
Directors and senior management. FER -

At least 14 days’ notice prior to the date of regular Board RESEEREZAHIELITNXAE

meetings is given to all Directors and an agenda together BEEFTERA TReZAHATIR

with Board papers are sent to all Directors no less than 3 *%?&LE&&@H%%QXW?QEQ"E%% o

days before the date of meeting. All Directors are given RESHERSHENE Lima AW

opportunity to include in the agenda any other matter that /rm%ﬂﬁ”)\ ZEP - -PEAREELEEE

they would like to discuss in the meeting. With respect to HAMEBEZESKERHAES LA

the Board committee meetings, reasonable prior notice is cRBEENEELZEENELERY

given to all committee members. All Directors and Board ﬁf% BERREFLEEGH BE

committee members are urged to attend the Board FHLRSHECESRZESNE - HE

meetings and Board committee meetings in person. For the ZHERE T HAN2EEH

Directors and committee members who are unable to
attend the meeting in person, participation through
electronic means will be arranged and available.

Should a Director have a potential conflict of interest in a NEERNBEESSERLERCEEY
matter being considered in the Board meeting, he/she will KBEN@ER  ARERSE - BEFRE
be abstained from voting. Independent Non-executive RZBIIEHITES T %QE%ME@E%
Directors with no conflict of interest will be present at ENmEEEE o

meetings dealing with such conflict of interest issues.

When approving a connected transaction, apart from the BIYRTESTNEEZHFERIT  Bip
fairness of the agreement terms, the Independent BBERZATHI TEEREBRZINE
Non-executive Directors also consider the commercial ¥ERBUERAARASEEBRT R 285 o

rationale and the benefits brought by the proposed
transaction to the business of the Group.



Attendance Records of Meetings and Trainings
of Directors of the Company in 2024

The attendance records of each Director at the meetings of
the Board, Audit and Risk Management Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and the

AGM during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out

below:

Name of Directors

EEMSH
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Remarks:
Board and Board Committees Membership:
C — Chairman

M — Member
Notes:
(1) Number of meetings attended/held.

(2) Appointed as the Chairman of the Board and a Non-executive
Director with effect from 27 September 2024.

8) Resigned as the Chairman of the Board and a Non-executive
Director with effect from 27 September 2024.

(4) Re-designated as an Executive Director and Chief Executive
Officer with effect from 9 February 2024.

5) Resigned as an Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
with effect from 9 February 2024.

(6) Appointed as an Executive Director and Vice President with
effect from 31 March 2024.

(7) Resigned as an Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer
with effect from 31 March 2024.

(8) Appointed as an Executive Director with effect from 31 March
2024.

9) Resigned as a Non-executive Director with effect from 29
February 2024.

(10)  Appointed as a Non-executive Director with effect from 31
March 2024.

(11)  Resigned as an Independent Non-executive Director with
effect from 9 February 2024.

(12) Appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director with
effect from 9 February 2024.

During the meetings, Independent Non-executive Directors,
based on their respective expertise and experience as well
as the perspectives of minority Shareholders, actively
brought out valuable opinions and queries in order to allow
the Board to have comprehensive analysis and decisions on
each matter. According to the Board evaluation results in
2024, it was recognised that the Directors had been able to
seek external independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances to assist them in the performance of their
duties as reasonably required, had made significant
contribution to the Board by actively participating in the
Board and committees meetings and had provided
independent, constructive and well-founded opinions
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To keep the knowledge and skills of the Board members
up-to-date and to ensure effective guidance, direction and
monitoring of the Company’s affairs, according to the Board
evaluation results in 2023, the Company Secretary has
arranged the Board to participate in the online training on
the IFRS Sustainability Disclosure Standards conducted by
the United Nations Sustainable Stock Exchange (UN SSE)
and the International Finance Corporation (IFC) of the World
Bank in collaboration with the International Financial
Reporting Standards Foundation (IFRS), the training on the
theme of Regular Director Training and Briefing on the
Latest Listing Rules presented by Jingtian & Gongcheng
LLP (“Jingtian”), and the online training organised by the
Independent Commission Against Corruption of Hong Kong
(“ICAC”). Apart from the above, the Directors have also read
the Compliance and Regulatory Updates on Hong Kong
Stocks ((BIAMEEE IRIE)) issued by Jingtian in January
and July 2024 and also the Board training materials on the
ESG trend update on Al-derived risks prepared by the
Company Secretary. They have also read regulatory or legal
updates and other materials pertinent to Directors’ duties
and responsibilities, including a consultation conclusion on
optimising climate-related disclosure under the ESG
framework of the HKEx and reviewing the Corporate
Governance Code and related Listing Rules provisions, a
Listing Rules Enforcement Bulletin and a Listed Issuer
Regulation Newsletters during the year. To meet the
expectations and practical needs of the Directors, the
Company Secretary has obtained the views of the Directors
through a questionnaire and has consolidated their views,
which will be progressively advanced as appropriate.
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Records of training received by each existing Board
member in 2024 are summarised below:

REREFTENEN T _UFEIHIE
S e

Types of Training

Name of Directors FEHZ 3| A
WANG Silian T B E B, D
ZHU Fugang KAa A B
WANG Dianer TEBR= A, B, D
HUANG Chaoxiong = A B, D
SONG Jian R A B
MAO Jing £ A B, D
CHOW Siu Lui ;M= A B
YAN Houmin BER A B
LI Huagiang TEER A B D
Remarks: i -

A — Attending seminar(s)/forum(s) and/or giving talk(s).
B — Reading materials.

C — Attending corporate event(s)/visit(s).

D — Participating in Directors induction training(s).

Mr. WANG Silian was appointed as a Non-executive
Director and Chairman of the Board on 27 September
2024. He obtained legal advice from a firm of solicitors on
25 September 2024 and confirmed his understanding of the
obligations as a Director pursuant to Rule 3.09D of the
Listing Rules.

Mr. WANG Dianer, Mr. HUANG Chaoxiong and Ms. MAO
Jing were appointed as an Executive Director and Vice
President, an Executive Director and a Non-executive
Director on 31 March 2024. They obtained legal advice from
a firm of solicitors on 25 March 2024 and confirmed their
understanding of the obligations as Directors pursuant to
Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules.

Mr. LI Huagiang was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 9 February 2024. He obtained a
legal advice from a firm of solicitors on 5 February 2024
and confirmed his understanding of the obligations as a
Director pursuant to Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules.

A — HERNE RERSLERES -
B — BIEME -

C— HERXED RE-

D — 2HEERFBIEI
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RBUFRTESZT - BN _FT_MWF_A
T ABGREC EM AR 55 3.09D 6 2 2 6m
EBAOERER  UHABEERIESE
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Taking an Active Interest in the Company’s Affair

Other than attending the Board meetings, committee
meetings and AGM, the Directors also take an active
interest in the Company’s affairs and obtain a general
understanding of its business. The Executive Directors
frequently visit the project companies and personally
scrutinise their operations and internal controls.

Communication is critical to good governance. The valuable
recommendations contributed by each Board committee
have received serious attention by the Board and the Board
takes proactive actions to put the recommendations in
place. The 3 incumbent Independent Non-Executive
Directors have expressed concerns about the risks
associated with Al, all of whom have made pragmatic
recommendations. In the 2024 Board evaluation, 3
incumbent Independent Non-executive Directors provided
guidance on how to assist the Board in taking more
climate-related action and Al-derived risks more quickly,
thereby enabling the Company’s management to focus on
key areas in a targeted manner and report to the Audit and
Risk Management Committee and the Board in a timely
manner.
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In line with the legal and regulatory development and
investor’'s expectations, the Company has established a
regulatory framework for sustainable development. The
Sustainability Committee with terms of reference is chaired
by the Chief Executive Officer with 3 incumbent
Independent Non-executive Directors as members. Members
of the committee have direct access to the latest
development in the Company’s operations and talent
cultivation in the meeting. From the perspective of
sustainable development, each Independent Non-executive
Director, with their knowledge and experience, can provide
the management of the Company with more pertinent and
directional advice to help the Company manage risks and
capture opportunities. In 2024, the Sustainability Committee
reviewed the 2023 sustainability report of the Company,
received reports on the Company’s ESG work and reviewed
the Company’s ESG performance and received reports on
relevant resources, including staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes received by staff and
budgets. It also reviewed the Task Force on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures (TCFD) and reports and accepted an
update on the terms of reference of the Company’s
Sustainability Committee and new arrangement designating
department heads as the primary responsible persons for
advancing ESG initiatives.

According to the assessment of the Nomination Committee,
the Directors are able to devote sufficient time and effort to
perform their duties, despite some of them are holding
multiple directorship positions or important tasks in
universities.
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Policies and Procedures

The Company adopted and implemented a series of policies
and procedures to ensure the good corporate governance
is maintained, including but not limited to Risk Management
Policy, Policy and Procedures on Disclosure of Inside
Information, Whistleblowing Policy and Shareholders
Communication Policy. Those policies and procedures are
reviewed and monitored periodically.

Policy and Procedures on Disclosure of Inside
Information

To enhance the awareness of the specified procedures of
handling inside information and the importance of
compliance with the regulations of insider dealing, the
Board has formally adopted the Policy and Procedures on
Disclosure of Inside Information which contains the
guidelines to the Directors and the relevant employees,
including certain employees of the Company, certain
directors or employees of its subsidiaries (the “Relevant
Employees”) to ensure that the inside information of the
Company is to be disseminated to the public in an equal
and timely manner in accordance with the applicable laws
and regulations. To establish a formal reporting procedure of
material information concerning the business, finance and
operations of the Group by developing a monitoring system
and procedures, including the requirements for Relevant
Employees to complete a Potential Transaction and Inside
Information Reporting Form to identify and evaluate material
information or materials and reporting it to the
management, so that such information can be reported to
headquarters promptly. Chief Executive Officer, in the
assistance of the finance management department and
company secretarial department, determines whether such
information constitutes inside information within the meaning
of Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance,
Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong (“SFO”) and
whether disclosure requirements are needed to be fulfilled.
External advisers may be engaged throughout the process
if needed. After several years of implementation and internal
training, the reporting and disclosure process of potential
transactions, including connected transactions, have been
recognised and prioritised, leading to the effective
implementation of the regulation and management of
connected transactions.
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Such policy, together with the enforcement actions taken by
the Securities and Futures Commission relating to insider
dealing, were circulated to the Relevant Employees from
time to time.

Compliance with Model Code

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its
code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions.
Specific enquiries have been made with all Directors
regarding any non-compliance with the Model Code and all
Directors confirmed that they complied with the provisions
of the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Written guidelines were established for the Relevant
Employees, in respect of their dealing in the Company’s
securities.

Whistleblowing Policy

In order to maintain business integrity and promote a
healthy working culture, a fair and effective Whistleblowing
Policy, complementing with a confidential handling
mechanism, is adopted. The scope and purpose of the
Whistleblowing Policy is stated in the Company’s website at
https://www.ebgreentech.com/en/about/ewp.php.

As stated in the Whistleblowing Policy, the Company
prohibits the disclosure of identity of the whistleblower
without consent, unless otherwise specified by law. Case(s)
can be submitted, with name or without name, by post,
addressed to the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong or office in Shenzhen, which are currently
located respectively at Room 3602, 36/F., Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong or West Wing,
27/F, Oriental Xintiandi Plaza, No. 1003 Shennan Avenue,
Futian District, Shenzhen, China, or by email (email address:
report@ebgreentech.com), for the attention of Audit and
Risk Management Committee and Chief Executive Officer.
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A well-defined whistleblowing and reporting mechanism can
increase the trustfulness of the whistleblower and the
whistleblower protection is being enhanced through effective
awareness-rising, communication, and training. The
whistleblowing channel can be accessed on the Company’s
website, Staff Handbook, intranet, sustainability report and
annual report. An induction briefing to new joiners be
conducted for providing clear explanation on their rights and
obligations when disclosing wrongdoing. The Group is
committed to protecting the privacy of whistleblowers and
providing a reporting mechanism for whistleblowers or those
involved in the investigation of whistleblowing cases to
protect them from harmful acts such as harassment,
intimidation, bullying or unreasonable negative performance.

All whistleblowing cases and the investigation results will be
discussed at the Audit and Risk Management Committee
meetings and report the same to the Board on semi-annual
basis. During 2024, there were 6 cases reported through
the whistleblowing channels. No cases were refused to be
reported. Upon investigation, the majority of the cases did
not involve any misconduct, fraudulent activities or
malpractices concerning the Group and therefore no further
action was required, except for one case which was
referred to the internal audit department for investigation.

Anti-bribery and Corruption Policy

Staff Handbook and Code of Corporate Conduct of the
Company provide that all employees are strictly prohibited
to accept or offer bribes from anyone while handling
Company’s affairs, and should stay vigilant against
corruption and report any cases in accordance with the
Whistleblowing Policy in a timely manner if they become
aware of or reasonably suspect that individuals or
enterprises engaged in business transactions with the
Group which might involved in corruption. Moreover, staff
should surrender gifts or souvenirs provided by individuals
or enterprises engaged in business transactions with the
Group, and should refuse any unreasonable hospitality to
avoid compromising their business judgement.
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The Company has established a compliance department to
strengthen the implementation and maintain the
effectiveness of the system of anti-corruption laws and
regulations according to internal policies, to pay close
attention to the key areas of hidden integrity risks, and to
facilitate the supervision and education in a steady and
orderly manner. During the year, the Company invited all
Directors and senior management to participate in an online
integrity training programme organised by the ICAC.

RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board is responsible for formulating business policies
and strategies, directing and supervising management of the
Group, adopting and monitoring internal business and
management control, approving and monitoring annual
budgets and business plans, reviewing operational and
financial performance, reviewing and monitoring the
Company’s systems of corporate governance, ESG, internal
control, and risk management. It oversees the task of
making decisions in the best interest of the Company and
maximising the financial performance of the Company. With
the assistance of each Board committee, the Company has
effectively monitored every management system, promoted
the corporate culture by example, and actively advanced
business transformation and seized the business
opportunities for rapid development under the national Dual
Carbon policy.

The Board has delegated the daily operations and the
execution of policies and strategies developed by the Board
by formulating and implementing of annual work plans and
medium-term development plans for the Group to the
Management Committee. The Company formalised the
functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to
Management Committee, including but not limited to, the
Management Committee has no authority to approve any
mergers and acquisitions and non-recurring business
projects. Management Committee holds meeting every
month for discussing and reviewing the investment
proposals, key personnel matters and appraisals, project
schedules, budget executions, etc. Management Committee
has been actively implementing the strategies and targets
issued by the Board; pragmatically carrying out the
governance of the management system and controlling the
ESG of the operation of each project.
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The Board has established 3 Board committees, namely
Audit and Risk Management Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee, to oversee the
particular aspect of the Company’s affairs. The Board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties. The Board plays a guiding and
monitoring role through the assistance of each Board
committee.

The Board acknowledges that it should take leadership for
and accountability in promoting a top-down culture to
ensure ESG considerations (including the risks and
opportunities for the Company arising from climate change)
are part of the business decision-making process. The
comprehensive sustainability governance structure of the
Company ensures the smooth implementation of sustainable
development. Details of the same will be stated in the 2024
sustainability report of the Company.

The Company has subscribed appropriate and sufficient
insurance coverage on Directors’ liabilities in respect of legal
actions taken against them arising out of corporate
activities. The Directors may seek independent professional
advice at the Company’s expenses in carrying out their
duties and responsibilities.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant
information in relation to the Group’s businesses and affairs
as well as unrestricted access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary, who is responsible for providing
Directors with board papers and related materials. The
Company provides monthly updates to the Board members
on the Company’s performance and business position to
enable them to make a balanced and understandable
assessments on the Company’s performance, position, and
prospect.
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Board Evaluation

The Board recognizes that a formal, objective and open
assessment on a continuous basis can enhance the
effectiveness of governance structure of the Company.
Through the annual board evaluation exercise, each Director
can share his/her opinions and concerns to the Company,
which enhances Directors’ accountability. The evaluation
also enhances the continuing improvement and development
of the Board and the Board committees by reflecting on
their respective performance during the year, in turns
improving board effectiveness and maximising its strengths.
The Company Secretary acts as a bridge between the
Board and the management of the Company, delivers the
Board’s opinions and concerns to the management, which
in turn can take appropriate actions and report to the
Board.

During the year under review, the Board conducted its
assessment through a questionnaire with latest information
provided on the HKEx website under “Board Diversity &
Inclusion in Focus”, which took into account 5 key board
performance and corporate governance areas, including the
structure and composition of the Board and Board
committees, performance of the Board and Board
committees, independent views, communication with
stakeholders and professional development, and also
included options for ESG decision-making and the
progressing of climate-related actions, allowing each Board
member to rate relevant items in different areas. The
Company Secretary conducted statistics on the evaluation
results which concluded that the self-evaluation of the
Board was at a mid-to-high satisfying level, and had
reported the evaluation results to the Nomination Committee
and the Board.

LEADERSHIP AND INDEPENDENCE

With effect from 27 September 2024, Mr. WANG Silian has
succeeded Mr. HUANG Haiging as the Chairman of the
Board and with effect from 9 February 2024, Mr. ZHU
Fugang has succeeded Mr. QIAN Xiaodong as Chief
Executive Officer. The responsibilities between the Chairman
of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer is clearly
divided to ensure a balance of power and authority and to
reinforce their independence and accountability.
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Mr. WANG Silian, being the Chairman, is responsible for
providing leadership to the Board and ensuring that the
Board functions effectively; that Directors receive in a timely
manner adequate information which is complete and reliable
and that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising
at Board meetings. The Chairman also encourages Directors
to participate actively in and to make a full contribution to
the Board so that the Board acts in the best interest of the
Company.

Mr. ZHU Fugang was responsible for the daily operations of
the Company, execution of business policies, strategies,
objectives and plans as formulated and adopted by the
Board and leading the management of the Company.

In compliance with Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed 3 Independent Non-executive
Directors, one of whom has appropriate professional
qualifications in accounting and financial management. The
Company has received notice from each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors and confirmed their respective
independence during the year 2024 and considers them to
be independent in accordance with the guidelines for
assessing independence set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Nomination Committee has reviewed and
concluded that there is no business or other relationships
with the Group or management that are likely to affect, or
could affect their independence.

On 9 February 2024, Mr. Philip TSAO resigned as an
Independent Non-executive Director due to his plan to
focus on his position in the bank and was replaced by
Mr. LI Huagiang. Mr. LI Huagiang has confirmed to the
Company his independence in accordance with the
guidelines for assessing independence set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and the Company also considers Mr. LI
Huagiang to be independent.
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Directors have disclosed to the Company the number and
nature of office held in Hong Kong and overseas listed
companies and organisations, and their other significant
commitments. Biographical details of the Directors are set
out on pages 108 to 113 of this annual report.

The Company has maintained an updated list of its
Directors identifying their roles and functions on websites of
the Company and HKEx. Independent Non-executive
Directors are identified as such in all corporate
communications that disclose the names of Directors of the
Company.

Independent Views

The Company firmly recognises that the independence of
the Board is critical to sound corporate governance. The
governance framework of the Company includes relevant
mechanisms to ensure a strong element of independence
on the Board, thereby enhancing its effectiveness. The
Company has a sufficient number of 3 Independent Non-
executive Directors (accounting for one-third of the Board
members) on the Board. They have been actively
participating in the Board and committee meetings,
contributing their skills, expertise and diverse backgrounds
and qualifications. The Directors may seek external
independent professional advice, where appropriate, to
assist them in performing their duties, as reasonably
requested. The independent, constructive and informed
views of the Directors contribute positively to the
formulation of the Company’s strategies and policies. The
Board is also being updated on the Company’s operations
and financial position through monthly management
updates. The Company Secretary arranges annual Board
evaluations to review the implementation and effectiveness
of the above mechanisms.
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COMPOSITION AND NOMINATION

As at 31 December 2024, the Board consisted of 9

members, including:

Mr. WANG Silian (Non-executive Director and Chairman)’
Mr. ZHU Fugang (Executive Director and

Chief Executive Officer)?
Mr. WANG Dianer (Executive Director and

Vice President)®
Mr. HUANG Chaoxiong (Executive Director)*
Mr. SONG Jian (Non-executive Director)
Ms. MAO Jing (Non-executive Director)®
Mr. CHOW Siu Lui (Independent Non-executive Director)
Prof. YAN Houmin (Independent Non-executive Director)
Mr. LI Huagiang (Independent Non-executive Director)®

Notes:

1. Mr. WANG Silian was appointed as a Non-executive Director

and Chairman with effect from 27 September 2024.

2. Mr. ZHU Fugang was re-designated as an Executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer with effect from 9 February
2024.

3. Mr. WANG Dianer was appointed as an Executive Director

and Vice President with effect from 31 March 2024.

4. Mr. HUANG Chaoxiong was appointed as an Executive

Director with effect from 31 March 2024.

5. Ms. MAO Jing was appointed as a Non-executive Director

with effect from 31 March 2024.

6. Mr. LI Huagiang was appointed as an Independent Non-

executive Director with effect from 9 February 2024.

None of the members of the Board has any relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/

relevant relationship(s)) among one another.

Annual Report 2024

77
T FFIR

Corporate Governance Report & ¥ &8 H &

EPD S

R-ZE-_F+-_A=+—H B=EH
NEKBHARK - 85 :

TRMRE (FHTEFRLE)
REN L (BTTEFEFRTHARH)?

IR-SE(HTEFRFEH)?

B E (HITEE)
RIBFEE FHTEE)
EFRL(FHTEF)®
BNFRE(BUHHTEE)
BERBIR (BFLHHTEF)
FERRLE (BUHHTEE)

GhE

1. BE-ZT-_MEAA-t++HE B
HEZTRIFVTESRER

2. B-Z-MF-ANBEE  KERIELEH
EERTESRITREE -

3. E-Z-_MF=ZA=1+—88& TH=-%
EREZARBNTESRELH -

4. B-Z-_MWF=A=+—Ri EHHEL
EREZERRITES -

5. BE-Z-_MMF=ZA=1+—88 FFLL
EZTAIERITES -

6. BE_Z-_NF_ANBR TERELERE
ZAERBUIERITES -

EXeEBCHABMEFEETMEE B85
B 2% RBIEMER HENH
1%



78

China Everbright Greentech Limited
FENRKGZERRER AT

Corporate Governance Report ¥ &A% &

All Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive
Directors have entered into letters of appointment with the
Company for a specific term. Each of the Non-executive
Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a
term of 2 vyears and/or around 2 years. Under the
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company
(the “Articles of Association”), the term of service as a
Director is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election.
The Board is empowered to appoint any person as a
director to fill the casual vacancy on or as an additional
director of the Board. According to the Board Diversity
Policy and Nomination Policy, the Board considers a
candidate’s gender, experience, skill and knowledge and
competency and ability to fulfill duty of care and diligence
and fiduciary duties and recommendation by the Nomination
Committee (if any).

In accordance with Articles 108(a) and 108(b) of the Articles
of Association, Ms. MAO Jing, Mr. CHOW Siu Lui and
Prof. YAN Houmin, are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

In accordance with Article 112 of the Articles of
Association, Mr. WANG Silian shall hold office only until the
forthcoming AGM and shall be eligible and offer himself for
re-election.
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Board Diversity

The Board believes that the ratio between Executive
Directors, Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-
executive Directors is reasonable and adequate to provide
sufficient checks and balances that safeguard the interests
of Shareholders and the Group and recognised the
effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy. During the year,
with the assistance of the Nomination Committee, the
Board reviewed the gender diversity of Directors and
employees of the Company and confirmed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity
Policy. Conforming to the international trend on board
diversity, a female Director was appointed. However,
Ms. GUO Ying, the only female Director, resigned as a
Non-executive Director due to reaching the age of
retirement on 29 February 2024. During the period from
29 February 2024 to 31 March 2024, there was no female
Director. Subsequently, the Company appointed Ms. MAO
Jing as a Non-executive Director on 31 March 2024. As of
the date of this report, the Board comprises 9 Directors,
including 1 female Director and 8 male Directors, which has
met the requirements of appointing at least one Director of
another gender for listed companies as stipulated in Rule
13.92 of the Listing Rules. The Board also believes that the
views and participations of the Independent Non-executive
Directors in the Board and committee meetings provides
independent judgment on the issues relating to strategy
performance, conflict of interest and management process
to ensure that the interests of all Shareholders are
considered and safeguarded.
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The Directors come from diverse background with varied
expertise in finance and business fields. All Directors,
including Independent Non-executive Directors, have given
sufficient time and effort to the affairs of the Group and
have deepened their understanding of the latest regulatory,
ESG-related risks as well as the mission to promote
integrity through various trainings, including the update and
practice of the Listing Rules and the development of ESG,
so as to be more in line with the current needs of the
Company in giving full play to the respective strengths of
the Directors in considering various issues. Independent
Non-executive Directors have provided professional advice
to the Board with their diversified expertise and experience.
By closely aligning with the national strategies and seizing
opportunities for development presented by Dual Carbon.
Nomination Committee has identified skills and experiences
being the measurable objectives that should be contained in
the Board and the relevant assessment was conducted:

o=

Annual Report 2024 81
ZEZINFFR

Corporate Governance Report % B3R H 4%

EERaTRAER  SEME  Aeeil
BESFR2EEND - BRBILIFRT
EXHEAZERES ERAKEEHN
HESKHEES ) WERBTENE -
BRECEMHRAD O E T EEE RESGH #
& - DA - ESGHBR IR RIA K HES)
BRENEHMATH EREESTAM
REFRRSRBZEREMORKARAM
FoBUFATEFCREBERFTAZE
XAHEGLH REFeREIXES -
BREBEME R B - T ERERES -
REZBECHBURENERERESTS
FEM AR AT E 1T - WHETTAARE AT -

Directors

Bz

SONG CHOW YAN LI
Jian Siu Lui Houmin  Huagiang®

Rt BIE BEK FEH

Measurable objectives WANG ZHU WANG HUANG
to the Board Silian' Fugang Dianer? Chaoxiong?
ESEWHEEE I 2R S ER=? EE %2
Leadership skill and experience v v

FETREALR

Financial skill and experience

MR AL

Industry experience v v v
TRER

Marketing experience v v v v
Government experience v v v v
Corporate governance

experience

EERERER

Knowledge on sustainability and v

corporate responsibility

HARBRRACEEENZH

Risk management experience 4
RREBER

Talent management v v
ATER

4 v 4
v v
v
(4
v (4 4
v v v
v (4 4



China Everbright Greentech Limited
FENRKGZERRER AT

Corporate Governance Report ¥ &A% &

Notes:
1. Appointed on 27 September 2024.
2. Appointed on 31 March 2024.

3. Appointed on 9 February 2024.

Nomination Committee

During the year 2024 and as at the date of this report, the
Nomination Committee comprised Mr. HUANG Haiging (then
chairman, resigned on 27 September 2024), the then
Chairman of the Board, Mr. WANG Silian (chairman,
appointed on 27 September 2024), Chairman of the Board,
and Independent Non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. CHOW Siu Lui, Prof. YAN Houmin, Mr. Philip TSAO
(resigned on 9 February 2024) and Mr. LI Huagiang
(appointed on 9 February 2024). Details of the committee’s
membership and members’ attendance records during 2024
are set out on page 63 of this report.

The primary responsibilities of the Nomination Committee
include, among others, reviewing the structure, size and
composition (including skills, knowledge and experience) of
the Board, making recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategies, reviewing and reporting the board
diversity to the Board and considering the need for
identifying suitable persons to become directors and made
recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships. The terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee are published on the
websites of both the Company and HKEX.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, 1 Nomination
Committee meeting was held. The Nomination Committee
has reviewed the structure, size, composition (including
skills, knowledge and experience) and performance of the
Board and the qualification and experience of each of the
Directors according to the Board Diversity Policy and the
Nomination Policy. The Nomination Committee has
considered the independence of each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors and assessed the qualification and
experience of the Directors to be retired and entitled to be
re-elected at the AGM. During the year, the Nomination
Committee has also reviewed the changes of the Directors
and members of the Board Committees of the Company;
and the appointment contracts between the Company and
Mr. WANG Silian, Chairman of the Board and Non-executive
Director; Mr. WANG Dianer and Mr. HUANG Chaoxiong,
Executive Directors; Ms. MAO Jing, Non-executive Director;
and Mr. LI Huagiang, Independent Non-executive Director.
The aforesaid approved matters and review results were
recommended to the Board for consideration. In addition,
the Nomination Committee has considered the annual
performance of the Board, including assessing whether
each member of the Board has devoted sufficient time to
the affairs of the Company, and reviewed the 2023 Board
evaluation result.

The Board Diversity Policy was adopted. Selection of
candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to, gender, age,
cultural and educational background, length of service, skills
and/or professional experience. Other than the above
factors, the Company will also consider factors based on its
own business model and specific needs from time to time.
The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidate(s) will bring to the
Board.
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In consideration with the strategies and objectives of the
Company, the Nomination Committee takes a prime role on
board recruitment, including the appointment, re-
appointment or/and redesignation of the Director(s), to
ensure the Board possesses a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the strategic
direction of the Company’s business with a special focus on
female directors with the appropriate skills or knowledge.
When considering a candidate nominated for directorship or
a director’'s proposed re-appointment, the Nomination
Committee will make reference to certain selection criteria,
such as potential time commitment for the Board/
committees responsibilities, reputation for integrity,
accomplishment and experience in environmental protection
industry, independence of the candidate and governmental
or geopolitical expertise. The Board had 9 members,
including 1 female director, with a male-to-female ratio of
8:1. However, during the period from 29 February 2024 to
31 March 2024, there was no female Director. The
Company appointed Ms. MAO Jing as a Non-executive
Director on 31 March 2024, with a male-to-female ratio
remaining at 8:1. The Company will endeavour to achieve a
board with at least 20% female directors by 2028, provided
that in making such appointments, the Directors (i) are
satisfied with the qualifications and experience of the
candidates concerned after a reasonable review process
based on the above criteria; and (i) discharge their fiduciary
duties, so as to act for the interest of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.

Nomination Committee reviews annually the structure, size
and diversity of the Board, external agencies for collecting
impartial opinion in the nomination procedure may be
engaged if necessary. The Board, having the ultimate
responsibility for selection and appointment of Director(s),
will contemplate the recommendations from the Nomination
Committee when considering candidate(s) to be appointed
or re-appointed as Director(s).
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The Company recognises the importance of Board
succession planning to ensure optimal continuity and that
the Board is composed of members with proper and
relevant expertise and skills to govern and strengthen the
Company effectively. To empower the basis of talent pool of
potential candidates, the Company continues to develop a
broader and more diverse pool of skilled and experienced
employees and that, in time, their skills will prepare them for

~

Annual Report 2024 85
ZEZINFFR

Corporate Governance Report % B3R H 4%

ARAIRMEETQEIFINEEN - U
HREFSAAEBNTENE KEEA
BEENHBERMBMEREE  EREX
EANBEEARRT - ARBTHBEKRER
PARB THE  ZBREEREARBOER
BEBRAKE - &8 FIE) - HEKE
EBUBERE BESRERABRES
B o

the positions of senior management and directorship, by a
series of training courses.
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As of 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 3,337
employees, including 687 female employees and 2,650
male employees, and approximately 21% of the employees
are female. In the Group’s future development, it will
continue to uphold the corporate culture of gender equality
and diversified development, and stay focus to the rights
and interests of female employees in employee recruitment,
appointment and promotion to ensure diversified
development of the enterprise.

There are 666 middle management employees in the
Group, including 78 female employees and 588 male
employees, with 12% of the employees are female. This
reflects that there is still room for improvement in promoting
gender diversity within the middle management of the
Group. The Company recognize that female employees face
unique challenges in balancing career and family
responsibilities, particularly when it comes to job selection.
Given that the Group operates in the environmental
protection industry, key positions in production operations
and engineering construction require high physical stamina
and energy, often involving shift work, which has historically
attracted more male applicants. Additionally, most of the
Group’s projects are located in urban and rural areas of
third- and fourth-tier cities. These factors have temporarily
limited the Group’s ability to attract more female employees,
making increasing the proportion of female employees an
ongoing challenge for the Group.
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During the year under review, the Group conducted a
comprehensive review and revision of its diversity goals
based on the actual circumstances of the past few years
and industry development trends. The Company considers
that the original target of increasing the ratio of all female
employees to 25% has been reduced to maintaining a
female employee ratio of no less than 15% and actively
promoting gender diversity within the Board and middle and
senior management teams. The Group encourages and
supports more female in taking on managerial roles to
enhance the breadth and quality of decision-making,
contributing positively to the Company’s sustainable
development. Looking ahead, the Group will continue to
deepen its practices in gender equality and diversity,
particularly by researching and implementing diverse
measures to attract more female talent. Additionally, the
Group will strengthen internal management systems to
ensure that female employees have equal opportunities in
recruitment, compensation and promotion. The Group will
also provide more career development support, including
but not limited to targeted training programs for female
employees to enhance their professional skills, unlock their
potential and help them achieve significant progress in their
fields, offering long-term development opportunities.

Everbright Greentech is committed to fostering a workplace
characterised by diversity, inclusivity and mutual respect for
all employees, regardless of their age, gender, family status,
disability, race, ethnicity, nationality, religion or politics. The
Company will not tolerate employees using any physical or
verbal harassment, bullying or other regulation violations to
discriminate against any person on the ground of the above
factors. The Group advocates to safeguard this by a
mechanism, under which everyone enjoys equal
opportunities in terms of job positions. The Company also
believes that the availability of diverse talents is closely
associated with corporate development. Hence it is
vigorously procuring talents from diverse backgrounds and
strives to foster a harmonious, inclusive and diverse
workplace for staff of different genders from different ethnic,
cultural or professional backgrounds.
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Company Secretary

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman of the Board
in preparation of the agenda for the Board meetings and
Board committee meetings and ensures that all applicable
rules and regulations regarding the meetings are followed.
She also acts as the secretary to the 2 Board committees
and Sustainability Committee. She prepares and keeps
detailed minutes of each Board meeting, Nomination
Committee meeting, Audit and Risk Management Committee
meeting and Sustainability Committee. Within a reasonable
time after each meeting, the draft minutes are circulated to
all Directors or the above committee members for
comments and the final and approved version of minutes is
sent to all Directors or committee members for their
records. Board committees, including the Audit and Risk
Management Committee and Nomination Committee, all
follow the applicable principles, practices and procedures
adopted in Board meetings. The Company Secretary is also
responsible for organising Board trainings for all Directors
and circulating to all Directors materials relating to the
Directors’ jobs and duties for their review.

Ms. CHOW Wing Man possesses professional qualification
and extensive experience in discharging her duties as the
Company Secretary of the Company and she is an
employee of the Company and directly reports to the Chief
Executive Officer.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company Secretary of the
Company has undertaken 15 hours of relevant professional
training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
Ms. CHOW Wing Man keeps up-to-date with the regulatory,
legal and ESG developments relevant to the Company that
she serves.
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AUDIT AND RISK OVERSIGHT

Audit and Risk Management Committee and
Accountability

During the year 2024 and as at the date of this report, the
Audit and Risk Management Committee comprised
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHOW Siu
Lui (chairman), Prof. YAN Houmin, Mr. Philip TSAO
(resigned on 9 February 2024) and Mr. LI Huagiang
(appointed on 9 February 2024). Details of the committee’s
membership and members’ attendance records during 2024
are set out on page 63 of this report.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee is primarily
responsible for, including but not limited to, providing an
independent review of the effectiveness of the financial
reporting process, risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, overseeing the audit process,
reviewing the completeness, accuracy, clarity and fairness of
the Company’s financial statements, considering the scope,
approach and nature of both internal and external audits,
reviewing and monitoring connected transactions and
performing other duties and responsibilities as may be
assigned by the Board from time to time, etc. The terms of
reference of the Audit and Risk Management Committee are
published on the websites of both the Company and HKEXx.
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The Audit and Risk Management Committee held 3
meetings in 2024 and all minutes were kept by the
Company Secretary. The Audit and Risk Management
Committee has reviewed with the management and the
external auditor of the Company, including but not limited to
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group, significant audit matters such as significant
accounting estimates and judgmental areas and external
auditor’s audit plan, and has reviewed and discussed the
Group’s financial reporting matters, including review of the
audited financial results for the year ended 31 December
2023 and the unaudited interim financial results for the six
months ended 30 June 2024. The Audit and Risk
Management Committee has also reviewed the change of
auditors, including approving the remuneration and the
terms of engagement of the new auditors, and
recommending the appointment of the new auditors to the
Board. In order to ensure the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control functions of the Company,
the committee reviewed, discussed and monitored the
works of risk management and internal audit in 2024 and
their plans for 2025. Further, the Audit and Risk
Management Committee has reviewed the compliance of
continuing connected transactions; the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function; the investigation results of the
whistleblowing cases reported through the whistleblowing
channels; and non-audit services. During the year, the Audit
and Risk Management Committee has also reviewed and
approved the progress and outcomes of initiatives and
report on the Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (TCFD), as well as the review of the 2024 ESG
data. The Audit and Risk Management Committee reported
that there was no material uncertainty that casts doubt on
the Company’s going concern ability. The aforesaid review
results were proposed to the Board for review.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, the following
remuneration was received/receivable by KPMG, the
external auditor, from the Group in connection with the
provision of audit and non-audit services to the Group:
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HE_Z_NF+-_A=+—HILLFE "
INEZEMESHKSTMESABRARE
BIREE A RIERERES - mASBEYE
FE U T 51) S B

2024 2023
—E_MF —ETZ=F

HK$’000 HK$ 000

Annual audit services FEETIRE 2,072 2,750

Interim review services FR HA 2R B AR 75 300 300
Other services, includes tax service, etc. HEMpRTS - BIEHE

ligE 1,336 541

3,708 3,591

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial
Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparation of the financial statements for the financial year
ended 31 December 2024 which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group at
that date and of the Group’s results and cash flows for the
year then ended and are properly prepared on the going
concern basis in accordance with the applicable statutory
requirements and accounting standards.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is
set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” contained in
this annual report.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

Under the macro environment of the global economic
downturn, the business market environment becomes more
and more complicated and volatile. Robust and effective risk
management is increasingly important for the Company to
achieve its strategic objectives, performance growth and
sustainable development. Based on the above, the Group
has adopted a comprehensive and systematic risk
management methodology of “top-down coordination and
vertical-horizontal linkage”, not only has it integrated risk
management into the Company’s existing business
operation and management procedures but is also forward-
looking. It focuses on safeguarding the realization of the
Company’s strategic and operational objectives.

The Group has built a risk management system structure
based on the Guidelines on Comprehensive Risk
Management for Central Enterprises referencing the
standards of International Organisation for Standardisation
(ISO) 31000 and related contents of Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO0) Enterprise Risk Management.
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The main features of the risk management system of the
Group are summarised as follows:

Risks Management Culture

Risk management culture is a critical factor for
enterprises to realize sustainable development. It is not
only a set of strategies and methods to cope with
risks, but also a value concept integrated into the
enterprise’s daily operation, employee thinking and
behavioral patterns which profoundly affects the
enterprise’s ability and effectiveness in coping with
risks. The Group takes the construction of a risk
management culture as an integral part of its
development strategy to cultivate and shape a good
risk awareness and risk management culture. The
Company has integrated the construction of risk
awareness and risk management culture into the entire
process of corporate culture construction. It
endeavours to cultivate and shape a good risk
management culture, establish a correct risk
management philosophy, enhance employees’
awareness of risk management, and transform risk
management awareness into employees’ common
understanding and conscious actions. Part of the
characteristics of the Group’s risk management
culture include:

1. Full understanding and implementation of
objectives, rules and guidelines by each
member.

2. Identification and understanding of risks within

each member’s scope of responsibility, as well
as his/her anticipation of risks, communication
and effective action.

3. Timely, clear and effective communication of risk
alerts to relevant parties.
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1.

.

Risk Management Objective, Mission and Risk
Preferences

The risk management objective of the Group is to
ensure the realisation of the Company’s strategic and
operational goals through carrying out risk
management works in terms of participating in the
formulation and decomposition of the Company’s
strategic goals and ensuring the achievement of
financial and non-financial operational goals.

The Group takes the principle of “Overall Compliance,
Minimise Weaknesses, Manage Uncertainties and
Optimise Performance based Management” as its

mission of risk management.

The risk management is guided by the medium-to-
long term strategic goals of the Group. The Group
formulates its own risk appetites reasonably by
focusing on six dimensions including “Investment,
Finance, Engineering Construction, Operation,
Reputation and Human Resources” through reliable
market expansion and prudent operation
management. The Group set up quantitative early
warning values and limit values in line with financial
and non-financial indicators and constantly optimise
the effectiveness of internal control to enhance risk

resistance and management control capabilities.

Risk Governance Structure

The risk management framework of the Group is
based on the following “Three Lines of Defense”
model:

Board

The Board shall be responsible for the evaluation and
determination of the nature and level of risk to which
it is exposed, and to achieve the strategic business
targets of the Group. It shall also ensure the
establishment and maintenance of proper and
effective risk management and internal control

systems by the Group.
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Audit and Risk Management Committee

The Audit and Risk Management Committee shall
assume the role of supervising the overall risk
management structure of the Group and provide
advice to the Board on risk-related matters of the
Group.

First Line of Defense

In respect of the first line of defense, each of the
business centre, the project companies, command
authority and project departments of the Group, being
the officers for risk management, shall ensure the
effective implementation of risk control measures
based on the relevant systems and requirements of
risk management of the Company, supervise relevant
risks which involve in every business operations,
collect and report the risk incident in a timely manner.

Second Line of Defense

The risk management and legal compliance
department, being the second line of defense, shall,
based on the Board’s appetite, identify and assess
relevant risks and conduct necessary monitoring,
execute appropriate supervision to ensure effective
and efficient control of activities of all departments
internally or between different departments, as well as
evaluate and provide regular report to the Audit and
Risk Management Committee. Each functional
department at headquarters jointly deals with the risk
incidents reported from the first line of defense and
the comments from the Audit and Risk Management
Committee with the risk management and legal
compliance department.

Third Line of Defense

For the third line of defense, the internal audit
department shall carry out an internal audit every year
and ensure the effectiveness of the first and the
second lines of defense. The internal audit
department shall provide to the Audit and Risk
Management Committee and the Board an
independent assurance as to the sufficiency and
effectiveness of the internal control of the Group.
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V.

Risks (including ESG Risks) Management Process

“Top-down coordination” risks management
process

Top-down: The Board has formulated with due care a
risk management system policy and risk tolerance
levels through the Audit and Risk Management
Committee, while the management identifies major
risks according to sources of risks, scope of
influence, incidents and their potential impacts. Risks
identified are categorised into trade receivables,
strategic transformation and market competition,
policy changes, environmental compliance and safety
management, human resources, cost control and
capacity management. Discussion in relation to the
management policies and procedures for the
respective principal risk categories exposed to the
Group, the material impact that may have occurred or
may occur in future, and the corresponding mitigation
measures is set out in the section headed
“PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES” in the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 44
to 54 of this annual report. The Group’s risks are
classified according to their impact and probability of
occurrence, taking into account vulnerability and
speed of onset. The ranking shall be based on the
level of remaining risk. The level of remaining risk
refers to the score value of the existing risk after
taking into account all monitoring measures currently
in force. The assessment of risk analysis results aims
at determining whether the risks identified are within
the Group’s default risk appetite and risk tolerance
level. Based on such risk assessment, the risks could
be transferred, eliminated or effectively controlled

Bz (B1FESG/E ) B H i 2
[ £ FEE R E TR

BEMTIE: EFSEEFZNMA
RERZESEBMHIE T ARER
ERBRRERAZRE S - BEE
REgHIR - w EHE - FHERELE

FESHRTERBETRER - EHE
RlEEBR D RS - YRR - BlESE
MEMSHF WRES  RRAM
HZ2EIE - ANER - BRAES K
ERER - ARASEENSTIZR
PR 2 ERBRR AR F 2w - 7]
EREELAKRAELSEENEAT
EREENEBRERHL - CIIE
RARFRFEI4Z4EN[ERE W
Bt T2 kA EEME] —
BN AEERRIEETE RELN
Al HEZERB[UERRERE
B0 F A - Rk FARUAEFIERE R K
REREAE - FIREBKERT RAAE
ABEEERBEAFERRNDE -
[\ B 0 A7 48 R 9 5¥ 4 B BB RE P s Rl
B L iR A2 75 B A TELTE O L B2 1 4 B
HKEZA - ERARFHE - BRE



N

Annual Report 2024 97
ZEFFIR

Corporate Governance Report % B3R H 4%

through risk mitigation measures formulated. During NFE BT AR EREEES - 8
the year under review, the changes in the severity of PRk ERUESH c REIEFEN - AR
the Company’s principal risks are as follows: AMFrERREEEENE AT

Change in principal

risks (Higher/ FTERKEL

Principal risks

Trade receivables JE WLBR 5k Unchanged 3
Strategic transformation and B} B 8 £ B1 17 45 35 5 Unchanged ¥
market competition
Policy changes B EE) Higher A
Environmental compliance RESRETEEIE Lower T &
and safety management
Human resources ANTEIR Unchanged ¥
Cost control B AN 22 1) Higher A
Capacity management EfREE Unchanged FrF
Bottom-up: The project companies are responsible for ([BETmLE]FE: BEEARBERSE
collecting information on risk events and reporting it FElREHELTEFEERL R B
on a quarterly basis, and summarizing the information BEREGEENBERET TSR
on risk events to promote and improve risk bt il - iR BEIEREE o

assessment and risk control strategies.
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ESG-related Risks

The Group has incorporated ESG-related risks into the
risk management regime of the Company. Following
risk identification and assessment, the Group has
incorporated relevant risks into the control areas of
aforesaid principal risks, such as focusing on
sustainable development and new trends in the
sectors of low-carbon and circular economy in
strategic transformation and market competition risk
control, so as to facilitate the Company’s strategic
transformation and enhance market competitiveness;
paying attention to the impacts of global climate
change and extreme weather on the new policies
launched by the State, so as to cope with the risks of
policy changes in advance; preventing environmental
safety risks caused by extreme weather phenomena,
actively formulating and implementing contingency
plans and conducting regular drills, and securing
adequate and timely insurance coverage; creating a
sound human resources environment by establishing
and stringently enforcing an equal employment
system, implementing diversified recruitment measures,
enhancing employment opportunities for females, and
increasing the care and assistance for employees. The
Group treats the ESG-related risks that do not need
to be controlled as key risks for the time being after
risk assessment as elements of ongoing risk concern
and assesses changes in their significance regularly,
such as the risks associated with climate change,
corruption and fraud, cybersecurity and Al. The
control of ESG-related risks has enhanced the
Company’s risk management standard and made the
Group’s risk management more forward-looking, and
more practical control measures have also effectively
reduced the possibility of related risks and minimised
losses in the event of a risk incident.
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Risk Control and Report

Each risk-bearing unit submits a report to the risk
management and legal compliance department every
quarter in respect of the implementation of risk control
measures and the effectiveness of risk control, and at
the same time collects risk events in the report.
Based on the contents reported by various project
companies and functional departments, the risk
management and legal compliance department will
prepare Risk and Internal Control Report and submit
the same to the management of the Company. The
management of the Company will understand the
status of risk management in a timely manner
according to the report and optimise risk control
measures. The Audit and Risk Management
Committee provides assistance to the Board for
maintaining and monitoring the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of
Everbright Greentech. The risk management and legal
compliance department and internal audit department
will semiannually provide conclusive report to the Audit
and Risk Management Committee in respect of the
risk management and internal control aspects of the
Company, and adopt the risk management and
internal control plan for the next year. In addition, the
Board reviews principal risks taken by Everbright
Greentech annually. The risk management and legal
compliance department submits the Risk and Internal
Control Report to the Audit and Risk Management
Committee on a quarterly basis. The Company also
reviews the effectiveness of its risk management and
internal control systems in a timely manner through
the above procedures, identifies deficiencies timely and
improves them constantly.

In view of the exceeding of the annual cap for
continuing connected transactions regarding the
balance of deposits with China Everbright Bank
Company Limited (“CE Bank”) that occurred during the
year under review due to insufficient communication
and close monitoring following changes in financial
staff, the Board and the Audit and Risk Management
Committee have conducted reviews and considered
that internal controls and audits should be further
strengthened to prevent the recurrence of similar
situation. Additionally, the resources, qualifications and
experience of staff in accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions, as well as the training
programmes and related budgets provided to
employees, were deemed adequate.
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Viil.

Internal Audlit

Everbright Greentech has established the internal audit
department which shall directly report to the Audit and
Risk Management Committee. Undertaking a key role
to provide assurance to the Board of proper
maintenance and operation of the internal control
system by the management, the internal audit
department prepares internal audit report to the Audit
and Risk Management Committee and the Board for
the review of the sufficiency and effectiveness of the
internal audit functionalities. The internal audit
department also performs audit work in respect of
ESG data. Any matter proposed in the internal audit
report shall be dealt with by the management in a
timely manner. The Audit and Risk Management
Committee and the Board are satisfied with the
sufficiency of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group.

Annual Confirmation

The risk management and internal control systems of
the Group are designed to provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss, as well as to manage rather than eliminate
entirely the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives. They take up an important role in risk
management, which is critical to achieving business
objectives. Through the Audit and Risk Management
Committee, the Board has reviewed the risk
management and internal control systems of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024, and
considered that internal controls and audits over the
monitoring of connected transactions required to be
enhanced and the remaining matters were effective
and sufficient during the year. The management has
provided confirmation as to the effectiveness of the
systems for the year ended 31 December 2024 to the
Audit and Risk Management Committee (and the
Board).
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REMUNERATION
Remuneration Committee

During the year 2024 and as at the date of this report, the
Remuneration Committee comprised Mr. Philip TSAO (the
then chairman, resigned on 9 February 2024), the then
Independent Non-executive Director, Prof. YAN Houmin
(chairman, changed from committee member to chairman
on 9 February 2024), an Independent Non-executive
Director, Mr. QIAN Xiaodong (resigned on 9 February
2024), the then Executive Director and Chief Executive
Officer, Mr. ZHU Fugang (appointed on 9 February 2024),
the Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer, and
Independent Non-executive Directors Mr. CHOW Siu Lui and
Mr. LI Huagiang (appointed on 9 February 2024). Details of
the committee’s membership and members’ attendance
records during 2024 are set out on page 63 of this report.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
were published on the websites of both the Company and
HKEx, which set out the duties of the Remuneration
Committee, including determining, with delegated
responsibilities, the remuneration packages of the individual
Executive Directors and senior management, etc.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration
Committee held 1 meeting and the minutes were kept by
the secretary of the committee. The secretary of the
committee shall be the relevant responsible officer of the
human resources department of the Company. With
reference to the objects and objectives of the Company,
the Remuneration Committee has reviewed the
remuneration packages of Executive Directors, members of
senior management; reviewed and adopted the update of
the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee; and
reviewed the appointment contracts between the Company
and Mr. WANG Silian, Chairman of the Board and
Non-executive Director; Mr. WANG Dianer and Mr. HUANG
Chaoxiong, Executive Directors; Ms. MAO Jing,
Non-executive Director; and Mr. LI Huagiang, Independent
Non-executive Director. The above approved matters and
the review results have been submitted to the Board for
consideration. The Remuneration Committee follows the
applicable principles, practices and procedures adopted in
Board meetings.
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Remuneration Policy

A reasonable and comprehensive remuneration package is
one of the measures in attracting, retaining and motivating
experienced people of high calibre. The Company takes into
consideration a number of factors in determining
remuneration package of all level of staffs of the Company
(including Executive Directors and members of senior
management of the Company), including but not limited to
their job duties and responsibilities, performances, updated
salary index launched by independent human resource
agency and the financial and operational performances of
the Company. The remuneration of the Executive Directors
and members of the senior management of the Company
consists of fixed remuneration, double pay and performance
bonus, of which fixed remuneration includes basic salary
and cash allowance.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior
Management

The remuneration of the members of the senior
management by band for the year ended 31 December
2024 is set out below:

Remuneration bands (HK$

¥ R

BEREEMFMFELSR - BE M
BRBREENRREATHNERZ &
NREANEBEEARAZSRET (BRATES
EARBEGEREKRE) OFMETEEE
ZREEZE BRERETRNE TIERE LB
B R BYANEREBRMOSHH
M BA R KRR BN R EERT - #
TEERARASREEEXNENHFHE
EEEFH - B REUES - HREEH
MERERTENRRSE -

EEREREBAENGTMH

BE_E-_MNE+-_A=+—BLEE "
BREEBAEKNENESIEETEHDOT

Number of
persons

AH

Below $1,000,000
$1,000,000 to $2,000,000

1,000,0007T LA T
1,000,0007t £2,000,0007C 1

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the
5 highest paid employees as required to be disclosed
pursuant to Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules are set out in
notes 9 and 10 to the financial statements, respectively.

RIFCETRAD MDA T HRENESH
MEsEEREFHEEBFMNEZFE 25l
HN MWK TR0



SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND AGM
Dividend Policy

Adhering to the principle of sharing the fruit of success with
the Shareholders, the Board has adopted Dividend Policy.
Subject to certain factors, including but not limited to,
general business conditions and strategies of the Company
and the Company’s financial results and capital
requirements, the dividend payout ratio is approximately
20%.

Shareholders Communication Policy

The Company recognises the importance of maintaining
effective  communication with the Shareholders and the
investors and also recognises the value of providing current
and relevant information to the Shareholders and the
investors.

The Company has adopted the Shareholders
Communication Policy, which was updated for the second
time on 12 June 2024. During the year, the Board has
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholder Communication Policy. In view of the contents
of the policy, work arrangements and the results of the
Board’s evaluation below, the Board considers that the
implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders
Communication Policy is unquestionable. The provisions
contained in such policy aim to ensure that Shareholders
and investors have timely access to comprehensive and
consistent information about the Company (including its
financial and operational performance, business plans and
strategies, significant developments, corporate governance
and corporate structure, etc.), to enhance Shareholders’
understanding and awareness of the Company and to
enable them to exercise their rights in an informed manner.
Such policy sets out the means of contact for Shareholders
and investors to express their views and terms to protect
the privacy of its Shareholders.
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The Company has all along been publishing annual reports,
interim reports, circulars and results announcements in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules and
posting them on the websites of both the Company and
HKEx. The Company’s website contains information
regarding the Group’s business and projects, environmental
information and green finance information, etc., and also
issues press releases containing contact details of investor
relations from time to time. The corporate communication is
available on the “Investor Relations” section of the home
page of the Company’s website. In addition, the AGM held
each year serves as a bridge between the Board and its
independent Shareholders, who can raise questions directly
to the Directors. For investors, the investor relations team
of the Company facilitates communication with investors
through participating in the strategy sessions with major
brokerages, having individual one-on-one meetings and
project site visits.

Shareholder Relations

The Company understands the importance of maintaining
effective mutual communication with its Shareholders and
values every opportunity to communicate with them.

The AGM and site visit proceedings have been well
prepared to ensure that the Company will follow corporate
governance practices and Shareholders’ rights are
preserved.

The 2024 AGM was held on 14 May 2024, the Chief
Executive Officer chaired the AGM and the chairman (or
their delegates) of each Board committee attended the
meeting to ensure Shareholders’ views are communicated
to the Board. Auditor of the Company was available to
answer any queries that Shareholders may raise.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”)

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, any one
or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the
requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company having the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company on a one vote per share basis (‘EGM
Requisitionists”) shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition sent to the Board or the Secretary of the
Company, to require an EGM to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business or resolution specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within 2
months after the deposit of such requisition.

The EGM Requisitionists can deposit the written request at
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong,
which is currently located at Room 3602, 36/F., Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong. The EGM
Requisitionists must state in their request(s) the objects of
the EGM, and such request must be signed by all the EGM
Requisitionists, and may consist of several documents in like
form, each signed by one or more of the EGM
Requisitionists.

The share registrar will verify the EGM Requisitionists’
particulars in the EGM Requisitionists’ request. Promptly
after confirmation from the share registrar that the EGM
Requisitionists’ request is in order, the Company Secretary
will arrange the Board to convene an EGM by serving
sufficient notice to all the registered Shareholders in
accordance with all the relevant statutory and regulatory
requirements. On the contrary, if the EGM Requisitionists’
request is verified not in order, the EGM Requisitionists will
be advised of this outcome and accordingly, an EGM will
not be convened as requested.

If the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting
within 21 days of the deposit of the requisition, the EGM
Requisitionists himself (themselves) may convene a physical
meeting at only one location which will be the principal
meeting place, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
EGM Requisitionists by reason of the Board’s failure to duly
convene an EGM shall be reimbursed to the EGM
Requisitionists by the Company.
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Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
General Meeting

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to propose
new resolutions at the general meetings under the Cayman
Islands Companies Law. However, Shareholders are
requested to follow Article 64 of the Articles of Association
for proposing a resolution at an EGM. The requirements
and procedures are set out above. Pursuant to Article 113
of the Articles of Association, no person other than a
Director retiring at a meeting, shall, unless recommended by
the Board for election, be eligible for election as a Director
at any general meeting unless a notice in writing of the
intention to propose that person for election as a Director
and notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be
elected shall have been lodged at the head office or at the
registration office. The period for lodgment of the above
notices required under the Articles of Association shall
commence not earlier than the day after the despatch of
the notice of relevant general meeting appointed for such
election and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of
the relevant general meeting, and the minimum length of the
period during which such notices to the Company may be
given will be at least 7 days. The written notice must state,
among others, that person’s biographical details as required
by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules. The procedures for
Shareholders to propose a person for election as Director is
posted on the Company’s website.

Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries
to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing through the investor
relations whose contact details are as follows:

Investor Relations

China Everbright Greentech Limited

Room 3602, 36/F., Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2433 6546

Email: ir@ebgreentech.com
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Significant Changes in the Company’s
Constitutional Documents

A special resolution was passed by the Shareholders at the
AGM held on 14 May 2024 to adopt the Third Amended
and Restated Articles of Association of the Company with
amendments which, among other things, () updating and
bringing the Existing Articles of Association in line with the
latest regulatory requirements in relation to the expanded
paperless listing regime and the electronic dissemination of
corporate communications by listed issuers and the relevant
amendments made to the Listing Rules which took effect
from 31 December 2023; (i) allowing (but not requiring)
general meetings to be held as electronic meetings or
hybrid meetings where the Shareholders may attend by
electronic means in addition to or in lieu of a physical
meeting where the Shareholders attend in person; and (iii)
incorporating certain housekeeping changes.

Save as disclosed above, no other changes have been
made to the Third Amended and Restated Articles of
Association of the Company for the vyear ended
31 December 2024.
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Mr. WANG Silian

aged 51, is a Non-executive Director and the Chairman of the
Board and the Nomination Committee. He is also the executive
director and the chairman of the board, and the chairman of the
nomination committee and the member of the remuneration
committee of CEEGL (stock code: 0257.HK, a listed intermediate
holding company of the Company). Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. WANG was the vice chairman and president of China CYTS
Tours Holding Co., Ltd. (the shares of which are listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (“SSE”), stock code: 600138.SH) and
the chairman of Bravolinks Integrated Marketing Co., Ltd. (the
shares of which are listed on the National Equities Exchange and
Quotations, stock code: 837784.0C), both of which are
connected persons of the Company. He was also the deputy
general manager of the human resources department of China
Everbright Bank Company Limited (the shares of which are listed
on the Stock Exchange and SSE, stock codes: 6818.HK and
601818.SH), a subsidiary of China Everbright Group Ltd., which is
an indirect controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. WANG
holds a Master’s degree in Military Science from the Dalian Naval
Academy of the People’s Liberation Army Navy. Mr. WANG joined
the Board in September 2024.

Mr. ZHU Fugang

aged 45, is an Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer,
the chairman of Sustainability Committee and a member of
Remuneration Committee. Mr. ZHU holds a Doctoral degree in
Engineering from Southeast University and is a senior engineer.
He currently serves as a director of numerous subsidiaries and
certain joint ventures of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, he
served as president of eco-recycling sector in CEEGL (stock
code: 0257.HK, a listed intermediate holding company of the
Company), vice president of each of Everbright Environmental
Protection (China) Limited* and Everbright Envirotech (China)
Limited*, wholly-owned subsidiaries of CEEGL, and general
manager of each of Everbright Environmental Energy (Changzhou)
Co., Ltd*, Everbright Environmental Energy (Nanjing) Limited* and
Everbright Environmental Testing (Nanjing) Company Limited*,
wholly-owned subsidiaries of CEEGL. He also served as the vice
president of the Biomass Energy Industry Promotion Association
in November 2024. Mr. ZHU has conducted in-depth research in
the fields of high-value utilization of biomass and solid waste,
clean energy and power generation. He has published more than
20 papers, obtained more than 30 national patents, and won 5
provincial and ministerial science and technology awards. Mr. ZHU
joined the Group in September 2019 and joined the Board in
December 2022.

*

For identification purpose only
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Mr. WANG Dianer

aged 47, is an Executive Director and the Vice President.
Mr. WANG currently serves as a director of numerous subsidiaries
and certain joint ventures and associated companies of the
Group. He joined China Everbright Group Limited (the indirect
controlling shareholder of the Company) since November 2006.
Mr. WANG has previously served as the general director of
engineering of Dangshan project, the general manager of each of
Everbright Alternative Energy (Dangshan) Company Limited®,
Everbright Photovoltaic Energy (Zhenjiang) Limited and Everbright
Photovoltaic Energy (Huaining) Limited* under the Group, and also
served as the deputy general manager of Everbright
Environmental Energy (Yixing) Limited*, the deputy general director
of engineering of Jinan WTE Project and the general manager of
Limited*
intermediate holding

Everbright Environmental Energy (Zhenjiang) under
CEEGL (stock code: 0257.HK, a listed
company of the Company). Mr. WANG completed the legal
studies program at Anhui University in the PRC and the power
plant and electricity system program at Shanghai University of
Electric Power in the PRC and is a senior engineer. Mr. WANG
joined the Group in January 2016 and joined the Board in March

2024.

Mr. HUANG Chaoxiong

aged 45, is an Executive Director and the CEO Assistant.
Mr. HUANG concurrently serves as the general manager of the
investment and development department, and a director of
numerous subsidiaries and a joint venture company of the Group.
Prior to joining the Group, he served successively as the deputy
general manager of the investment and development department
of CEEGL (stock code: 0257.HK, a listed intermediate holding
company of the Company) and the general manager of the
investment and development department of its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Everbright Environmental Protection Technological
Limited®,
wholly-owned subsidiary, Everbright Environmental Energy
(Jiangyin) Limited*. Mr. HUANG holds a Bachelor's degree in

Management from Wuhan University, a Master’'s degree in

Development (Beijing) and also worked at its

Environmental Engineering from Tsinghua University and a
Master’s degree in Engineering from Harbin Institute of
Technology. Mr. HUANG joined the Group in January 2016 and
joined the Board in March 2024.

*

For identification purpose only
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Mr. SONG Jian

aged 55, SONG holds a
Bachelor’s degree in Economics from Renmin University of China.
He joined CEEGL in 2007 and currently takes a position of the
general manager of the strategic management department of
CEEGL and was a director of Everbright Birilliant Greenergy and
Lighting (Shenzhen) Limited* (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
CEEGL), of each of the strategic
development department and the operation and safety and

is a Non-executive Director. Mr.

the general manager
environmental management department of CEEGL and the chief
executive officer of Everbright Ecological Resources (Shenzhen)
Limited* (a wholly-owned subsidiary of CEEGL). Prior to joining
CEEGL, Mr. SONG had worked in China Light
International Engineering Co., Ltd. As at the date of this report,
Mr. SONG is deemed to be interested in 3,000 shares of the
Company through his spouse, and he is also deemed to be
interested in 7,851 shares of CEEGL through his spouse within
the meaning of the Part XV of the SFO. Mr. SONG joined the
Board in June 2019.

Industry

Ms. MAO Jing

aged 45, is a Non-executive Director. She is currently the general
manager of the investment development department of CEEGL
(stock code: 0257.HK, a listed intermediate holding company of
the Company) and was the deputy general manager of the
strategic management department of CEEGL. Ms. MAO holds a
Bachelor’'s degree in Human Resources from South China Normal
University. She also holds a Master's degree in Business
Administration from the University of Texas at Arlington in the
United States and holds the title of mid-level economist in China.
Ms. MAO joined the Board in March 2024.

* For identification purpose only
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Mr. CHOW Siu Lui

aged 64, is an Independent Non-executive Director, the chairman
of the Audit and Risk Management Committee and a member of
each of the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Sustainability Committee. Mr. CHOW is currently an
independent non-executive director of each of Genertec Universal
Medical Group Company Limited (stock code: 2666.HK), Futong
Technology Development Holdings Limited (stock code: 0465.HK),
China Tobacco International (HK) Company Limited (stock code:
6055.HK) and AGTech Holdings Limited (stock code: 8279.HK),
the shares of all of the above companies are listed on the Stock
Exchange. He was an independent non-executive director of each
of Shanghai Dazhong Public Utilities (Group) Co., Ltd.* (stock
code: 1635.HK), Fullshare Holdings Limited
0607.HK), CTF Services Limited (formerly known as NWS
Holdings Limited, stock code: 0659.HK), Shi Shi Services Limited
(stock code: 8181.HK) and Sinco Pharmaceuticals Holdings

(stock code:

Limited (stock code: 6833.HK), and a non-executive director of
Renrui Human Resources Technology Holdings Limited (stock
code: 6919.HK), the shares of all of the above companies are
listed on the Stock Exchange. He was also an independent
non-executive director of Global Cord Blood Corporation (listed on
the New York Stock Exchange, Symbol: CO). Additionally, he was
a partner of VMS Investment Group (HK) Limited, a partner in
KPMG and chairman of the Mainland Development Strategies
Advisory Panel of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and a member of its Registration and
Practice Committee of the HKICPA. Mr. CHOW was also the
chairman of the audit committee and a council member of The
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute. Mr. CHOW obtained
the Professional Diploma in Accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is qualified as a fellow member of the
HKICPA and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
Mr. CHOW joined the Board in May 2017.
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Prof. YAN Houmin

aged 70, is an Independent Non-executive Director, the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the
Nomination Committee, the Audit and Risk Management
Committee and the Sustainability Committee. Prof. YAN is Chair
Professor of Management Sciences at City University of Hong
Kong (“CityU”) where he directs International PPP China Center of
Excellence of the Unite Nations Economic Commission for Europe
(UNECE). Prof. YAN is also a director of Laboratory for Al-
Powered Financial Technologies Limited. He was the Dean of the
College of Business from January 2013 to June 2020. Prior to
joining CityU, Prof. YAN was a Professor at the Chinese
University of Hong Kong. He was the program director for the
Executive Master for Logistics and Supply Chain Management,
and he was the executive director of Center for Supply Chain and
Logistics Optimization, Li & Fung Logistics and Supply Chain
Institute, the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He was the
associate director and science advisor for the Hong Kong
Government R&D Center for Logistics and Supply Chain
Management Enabling Technologies. He was also a tenured
Associate Professor at the School of Management, University of
Texas at Dallas. Prof. YAN’s main research areas are stochastic
models, simulations, and supply chain management. He has
published extensively in top-tier international journals and has
been awarded the Best Paper Prizes by professional societies
such as the Production and Operations Management Society
(POMs) in 2004 and Institute of Industrial Engineers (IIE) in 2005
and 2012. He consults a number of international and local
Prof. YAN

Master’s degree in Electrical Engineering from the Department of

enterprises. received his Bachelor's degree and
Automation in Tsinghua University in the PRC and his Doctor of
Philosophy degree from the University of Toronto in Canada. Prof.
YAN joined the Board in May 2017.
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Mr. LI Huaqiang

aged 66, is an Independent Non-executive Director, a member of
each of the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee,
the Audit and Risk Management Committee and the Sustainability
Committee. Mr. LI is currently an independent director of Chinalco
Advanced Manufacturing Co., Ltd., First-Trust Fund Management
Co., Ltd. and Xiandaitouzi Co., Ltd. (the shares of which are
listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange (“SZSE”), stock code:
000900.S7), and an external director of Hunan Haili High-Tech
Industry Group Co. Ltd. Mr. LI is also a master’s instructor at the
Central University of Finance and Economics and an
entrepreneurship instructor at the Innovation and Entrepreneurship
Center of Global University Student of Peking University. He
served as a member of the Asset Securitization Expert Committee
of the SZSE, the vice president of the Securities Association of
Zhejiang, a director of the Shanghai Securities Association and a
researcher at the School of Government Peking University. He
also served in a large state-owned metallurgical enterprise
successively as a secretary of the Communist Youth League
Committee, deputy branch factory director and general manager,
a deputy general manager of the investment banking headquarter
of Guosen Securities Company Limited, the chairman of the board
of directors and the president of Founder Securities Co., Ltd. (the
shares of which are listed on the SSE, stock code: 601901.SH),
the vice president of Huaxi Securites Company Limited, a
director and the president of Chinalin Securities Co., Ltd. (the
shares of which are listed on the SZSE, stock code: 002945.S52),
the head of capital market department of non-banking
department, the head of the First Division of Securities and
Second Division of Securities of Central Huijin Investment Ltd., a
non-executive director of China Investment Securities Co., Ltd.,
the vice chairman of CSC Financial Co., Ltd. (the shares of which
are listed on the Stock Exchange and SSE, stock codes: 6066.
HK and 601066.SH), a director of China Everbright Group
Limited, an indirect controlling shareholder of the Company, a
non-executive director of China Everbright Bank Company Limited
(the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange and SSE,
stock codes: 6818.HK and 601818.SH), an independent director
of Sun Life Everbright Asset Management Company Limited, an
independent non-executive director of Hunlicar Group Limited
(formerly known as Huabang Technology Holdings Limited, the
shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code:
3638.HK) and the external director of Hunan Energy Group., Ltd
(formerly known as Hunan Energy Investment Group Co., Ltd.).
Mr. LI holds a Bachelor's degree in Metal Materials Engineering
from University of Science and Technology Beijing, a Master’s
degree in Master of Business Administration from Business
School of Central South University and a Master’s degree in
Executive Master of Business Administration from Guanghua
School of Management of Peking University. Mr. LI joined the
Board in February 2024.
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Mr. HUANG Weihua

Mr. HUANG is the CEO Assistant of the Company. Mr. HUANG
currently serves as a director of numerous subsidiaries and certain
joint venture and associated companies of the Group and is in
charge of the solid waste treatment center and procurement
management department of the Group. He successively served as
assistant chief engineer of Everbright Environmental Energy
(Suzhou) Limited*, deputy chief commander of the engineering
command department of Everbright Ninghai Waste-to-Energy
Project under CEEGL (stock code: 0257.HK, a listed intermediate
holding company of the Company), and also served as the
deputy general manager of Everbright Alternative Energy
(Dangshan) Company Limited*, chief commander of the
engineering command department of Yeji and Yu’an Biomass
Projects, general manager of Everbright Biomass Energy
(Huaiyuan) Limited, general manager of operation (environment)
management department and general manager of technical
research department under the Group. Since joining CEEGL in
May 2009, he has been awarded as “Everbright Environmental
Qutstanding Employee” for a number of times. He holds a
Bachelor’'s degree in Automation from Hefei University of
Technology, a Master’'s degree in Environmental Engineering from
Tsinghua University, and completed the CEO management training
course at Tsinghua University. Mr. HUANG has been engaged in
power related construction and operation management for over
28 years. Mr. HUANG joined the Group in January 2016.

Mr. LU Qilin

Mr. LU is the CEO Assistant of the Company. Mr. LU is currently
in charge of the operation management department and the
safety and environmental management department of the Group.
Prior to joining the Group, he served successively as the deputy
general manager and the chief commander of engineering of
Chengdu region of Everbright Environmental Protection (China)
Limited*, the chief commander of engineering of each of Ya'an
Waste-to-Energy Project, Leshan Waste-to-Energy Project and
Guang’an Phase Il Waste-to-Energy Project, the vice president of
Everbright Ecological Resources (Shenzhen) Limited* and the
general manager of safety and environmental management
department of Everbright Environmental Protection (China)
Limited* under CEEGL (stock code: 0257.HK, a listed
intermediate holding company of the Company). He holds a
Bachelor’'s degree and a Master’'s degree in Environmental
Engineering from Wuhan University and is also qualified as a
senior engineer and a registered environmental protection
engineer. Mr. LU joined the Group in April 2024.

*

For identification purpose only
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Mr. QU Ning

Mr. QU is the Chief Financial Officer and the general manager of
financial management department of the Company. Mr. QU
currently serves as a director of numerous subsidiaries and certain
joint venture companies of the Group. He has served as an
assistant to the general manager of the financial management
department of Everbright Environmental (China)
Limited*, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CEEGL (stock code:

0257.HK, the Company’s listed intermediary holding company).

Protection

Mr. QU holds a Bachelor’'s degree in Management from South
China University of Technology and is qualified as a Chinese
certified public accountant. Mr. QU joined the Group in January
2016.

Ms. CHOW Wing Man

Ms. CHOW is the Company Secretary of the Company. She is a
fellow member of both HKCGI and The Chartered Governance
Institute. She possesses extensive experience in company
secretarial and compliance, as well as a solid background in
sustainability. Ms. CHOW holds a Bachelor’'s degree in Laws from
the University of London and a Master's degree in Finance
(Corporate Finance) from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
She is also a Certified Environmental, Social and Governance
Analyst (CESGA®) from The European Federation of Financial
Analysts Societies (EFFAS) and a Certified ESG Planner (CEP®)
from the International Chamber of Sustainable Development
(ICSD). Ms. CHOW holds the Fundamentals of Sustainability
Accounting Credential (FSA®Credential) issued by the
Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB) and the
Sustainability and Climate Risk Certificate issued by the Gilobal
Association of Risk Professionals (GARP). Ms. CHOW joined the
Group in July 2017.

* For identification purpose only
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 which
are to be presented at the AGM to be held at Drawing Room,
Mezzanine Floor, Grand Hyatt Hong Kong, 1 Harbour Road, Wan
Chai, Hong Kong on Thursday, 8 May 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are
set out in note 39 to the financial statements. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities
during the year.

Business review of the Group during the year, particulars of
important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the
end of the year ended 31 December 2024 (if any), an analysis of
the Group’s performance using financial key performance
indicators and a discussion on the Group’s future business
development are provided from pages 18 to 43 of this annual
report. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties that the
Group may be facing are set out on pages 44 to 54 of this
annual report. Also, the financial risk management of the Group
can be found in note 37 to the financial statements.

Relationship with key stakeholders

The Group is committed to sustainable operations taking into

account the interests of employees, customers, suppliers,
business partners, government authorities and other community
stakeholders, and has built different channels to strive for better

quality in communication.
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(Continued)

Relationship with key stakeholders (Continued)

Employees
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group hired approximately 3,400 employees in Hong Kong
and Mainland China and is committed to building a workplace characterised by inclusivity,
unity and equality, regardless of age, gender, family status, disability, race ethnicity and
nationality. The Group believe that all employees should be respected and given the same
opportunities to showcase their skills and talents. To encourage employees suggestions for
the Group’s development, the Everbright e-Message APP has been set up where all
employees could tell the Group how they feel and what they need and furnish suggestions
at any time.
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The Group regards customers as one of its most important stakeholder groups and is
actively engaged in the development of close and long-term relationships with its customers.
Over the years, the Group has assisted the local governments of various regions to improve
local living environments and create job opportunities, winning the approval of governments
at various levels. In the meantime, the Group seek customers’ feedback through different
channels in an effort to maximise the potential effect of customer services, ensuring
customer satisfaction for the effectiveness of hazardous waste disposal. During the year
under review, the largest customer and 5 largest customers in aggregate of the Group
accounted for 26% and 55%, respectively, of the Group’s total turnover.
FEEREFPFAKEZNFNEL — BREZFEVRE  EBYNBE - ZFXK  ~5&H
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Relationship with key stakeholders (Continued)
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW FTEEBRNEKDOE(E)
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EERSOENBR(A)

@ Suppliers and business The Group has always conducted itself in a fair and equitable manner in its transactions with

suppliers and business partners in compliance with the most exacting ethical and
professional codes. Currently, the Group is engaged in cooperation with suppliers in cities
where its projects are located. Meanwhile, the Group have also extended the scope of our
suppliers and enhanced communication with them to further lower our operating costs and
manage supply-chain risks. During the year under review, the largest supplier and 5 largest
suppliers in aggregate of the Group accounted for 1% and 3%, respectively, of the Group’s
total purchase amount.
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During the year under review, the Group has a close cooperation with local governments
with timely reports to competent authorities governing relevant sectors on the progress of
project preparation and construction, as well as updating the status of completion of project
investment budget as required. The Group also receives government authorities at various
levels for on-site inspection, understand their views and suggestions for project planning and
the process of construction and operation, while advocating the environmental benefits for
people’s livelihood and positive lessons of the project.
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(Continued)

Relationship with key stakeholders (Continued) HEREOENBR(E)

Local communities
=¥

-— -

&

The Group has been maintaining harmonious relationships with local communities with
sincerity and openness. Residents of the community are invited to take part in project
investigation and hearing sessions prior to project construction so that the Group could
sufficiently solicit their opinions on project construction. Moreover, in accordance with the
working requirements set out in China Everbright Group Implementation Opinion on Assisting
Counties Designated for Aid to Reinforce Achievements in Eliminating Poverty and Ongoing
Advancement of Rural Vitalisation, the Group has been actively fulfilling co-development of
the villages and the enterprises in an effort to implement defined assistance programmes
and measures through business development, giving priority to the creation of job
opportunities for local residents, in order to drive environmental improvements and industrial
upgrades in neighbouring areas. With the commissioning of the project and the
establishment, improvement and expansion of the biomass collection, storage and
transportation regime, the Group has effectively formulated a strategy underpinned by “extra
income for farmers, development for the enterprise and benefit for all”, directly or indirectly
driving economic growth for the villages and helping local residents to lift themselves from
poverty. In 2024, the integrated biomass utilisation projects of the Group directly and/or
indirectly provided over 43,875 job positions, contributing to approximately RMB2,503 million
of additional income for more than 4.956 million farmers.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
(Continued)

Environmental policy and performance

As a professional environmental protection service provider in
China, the Group is committed to delivering greater investment
value to various stakeholders and undertaking greater social
responsibility in fulflment of its corporate mission of being
“Devoted to Ecology and Environment for a Beautiful China”.
Against this backdrop, the Group is profoundly aware of the
importance of low-carbon green development, and has
established the safety and environmental management department
for the supervision of relevant matters to ensure that the entire life
cycle of project operation has been taken into full consideration in
our internal policies and relevant management plans. At present,
material policies such as Protection of the Ecological Environment
Policy, Waste Management Policy, Water Resource Management
Policy, Energy Management Policy and ESG-related Policy have
been formulated by the Group to lay down detailed management
rules for different environmental aspects, such as discharge and
emission, energy consumption and climate change. In 2023, the
Group formulated and published the Nature-related Policy with the
aim of enhancing awareness for the protection of Nature and
concern for natural capital on the part of staff at all level of the
Group. Among them, the Protection of the Ecological Environment
Policy has made comprehensive and clear regulations on various
aspects such as environmental management organizations and
their responsibilities, environmental protection management of new
construction, reconstruction and expansion projects,
environmental protection management of projects in operation,
waste water and rainwater management, exhaust gas
management, solid waste management, noise management,
environmental information management, environmental risk
management, environmental ledger management and
corresponding inspection and assessment. Such policy is highly
systematic, complete and operable, and plays a decisive role in
improving the environmental management regime and enhancing
the Group’s environmental management level. To ensure effective
implementation of our policies, each project company has
established a safety and environmental management committee
branch, with the general manager of the project as the first
person in charge of safety and environmental management, who
is fully responsible for safety and environmental management
work. Dedicated personnel have been instituted to strictly control
the environmental indicators of exhaust gas, wastewater, solid
waste and noise, etc. The brief discussion on the Group’s
environmental performance are set out on page 55 of this annual
report and the details of our environmental performance will be
presented in the 2024 sustainability report of the Company.
During the year under review, the Group consistently applied
standardised operational models, formulated contingency plans
and conducted inspection over actual implementation in persistent
adherence to its environmental management regime, making
effective rectifications in respect of issues identified.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
(Continued)

Compliance with laws and regulations having a
material impact on the Group

The Group acts in strict accordance with laws and regulations of
the operating locations which may have a material impact on its
operations, conducts its business with integrity and subject itself
to the supervision of government, social groups and the public.
To this end, the Group has formulated the Regulations for the
Administration of Legal Affairs and developed a regime for the
administration of legal affairs which is centrally administered by
the risk management and legal compliance department and

consistently implemented by the subsidiaries.

With reference to laws and regulations relating to the environment
and operations, the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China might have a material impact on the Group’s
business. Such law is aimed at protecting and improving the
environmental, preventing pollution and other public hazards,
safeguarding public health, advancing the building of ecological
civilisation, and facilitating sustainable economic and social
development. Competent environmental authorities could order
enterprises which have committed violations of environmental
regulations to curb production, suspend production for
rectification or close down the operation. The Group has
instituted a number of internal policies and procedures and
ensures prudent management through regular reviews, training
and examination. In 2024, there were no cases of significant

violation of such law.

On the corporate level, save as disclosed in the section headed
“MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS” in this report
below, the Group has complied, to the best of the Company’s
knowledge with the requirements under the companies
ordinances in the Cayman lIslands, Hong Kong and the PRC, the
Listing Rules and the SFO for, among other things, the disclosure
of information and corporate governance, and the Group has
adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the

Listing Rules.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
(Continueq)

Compliance with laws and regulations having a
material impact on the Group (Continued)

For the discussion on the Company’s commitment to high
standards of corporate governance and the Board’s responsibility
for compliance with statutory obligations, please refer to the
Corporate Governance Report set out on pages 58 to 107 of this
annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages 155
and 156 of this annual report respectively.

The Board does not propose the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). Together with the
interim dividend of HK1.4 cents (2023: HK2.5 cents) per ordinary
share paid in October 2024, the total distribution of dividend by
the Company for the year of 2024 will be HK1.4 cents (2023:
HK2.5 cents) per ordinary share.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A financial summary of the Group for the last 5 financial years is
set out on pages 299 and 300. This summary does not form part
of the audited financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 38 to the financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution amounted to approximately HK$2,103,894,000. Details
of distributable reserve of the Company are set out in note 38 to
the financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

There is no charitable donations made by the Group during the
year.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as
at 31 December 2024 are set out in note 25 to the financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the major customers and suppliers
of the Group respectively during this financial year is as follows:
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123

Annual Report 2024
ZEZINFFR

Report of the Directors EE & &, &

Al £ 53 Ik 1 #fm

R-Z-mEF+-A=+—8 FARTHEIE
R REAEY2,103,894,0007T © AR A Z AT
53 R 1 2 5 1 5% 1 5 R o i 38

2 2= 18 =4
BEBK

AEBFRNREEER/N -

BITERKREMER
R-B-mEF+-A=+—H FEEZRTE
AR E A R T B BT T SRR I 205

TERFPRAER

REBRAGFREEz TERE htEm 2 &R
DR

Percentage of the Group’s total

LHARSBEBE L EDL
Turnover Purchases
e LLHE R
The largest customer BEREF 26%
Five largest customers in aggregate AAREF A 55%
The largest supplier AR 1%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate ARBEEEE 3%

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year are set out in note 28 to the financial statements.

DEBENTURES

Except as detailed in note 26 to the financial statements, the
Group has not issued any other debenture during the year.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year
and subsisted at the end of the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
has purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

WANG Silian** (Chairman)
(appointed on 27 September 2024)
HUANG Haiging™ (Chairman)
(resigned on 27 September 2024)
QIAN Xiaodong* (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 9 February 2024)
ZHU Fugang* (Chief Executive Officer)
(re-designated as Chief Executive Officer on 9 February 2024)
LO Kam Fan* (Chief Financial Officer)
(resigned on 31 March 2024)
WANG Dianer*
(appointed on 31 March 2024)
HUANG Chaoxiong*
(appointed on 31 March 2024)
GUO Ying**
(resigned on 29 February 2024)
SONG Jian**
MAO Jing**
(appointed on 31 March 2024)
CHOW Siu Lui***
Philip TSAO***
(resigned on 9 February 2024)
YAN Houmin***
LI Huagiang**
(appointed on 9 February 2024)

*

Executive Director
> Non-executive Director
o Independent Non-executive Director
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

In accordance with Article 112 of the Articles of Association, Mr.
WANG Silian shall hold office only until the forthcoming AGM and
shall be eligible and offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with Articles 108(a) and 108(b) of the Articles of
Association, Ms. MAO Jing, Mr. CHOW Siu Lui and
Prof. YAN Houmin will retire from office as Directors by rotation
and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM.

The Company has received notice from each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors and confirmed their respective
independence during the year 2024, and as at the date of this
report still considers them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
of the Group are set out on pages 108 to 115 of this annual
report.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION UNDER
RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Pursuant to rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, subsequent to the
date of the 2023 annual report, the changes in information of the
Directors as notified to the Company are set out below:

—  Mr. QIAN Xiaodong resigned as an Executive Director and
the Chief Executive Officer, the chairman of the
Sustainability Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee with effect from 9 February 2024.

— Mr. Philip TSAO resigned as an Independent Non-executive
Director, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
a member of each of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Sustainability Committee with effect from 9 February 2024.

— Mr. ZHU Fugang, the Executive Director and the vice
president of the Company, was re-designated as an
Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer and was
appointed as the chairman of the Sustainability Committee
and a member of the Remuneration Committee with effect
from 9 February 2024. He served as the vice president of
Biomass Energy Industry Promotion Association in
November 2024.
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CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION UNDER
RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES
(Continued)

— Prof. YAN Houmin was appointed as the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee with effect from 9 February 2024.

— Ms. GUO Ying resigned as a Non-executive Director with
effect from 29 February 2024.

—  Mr. LI Huagiang was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director and a member of each of the Audit and
Risk Management Committee, the Remuneration Committee,
the Nomination Committee and the Sustainability Committee
with effect from 9 February 2024. He resigned as an
independent director of Sun Life Everbright Asset
Management Company Limited, an independent
non-executive director of Hunlicar Group Limited (formerly
known as Huabang Technology Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 3638.
HK) and an external director of Hunan Energy Group., Ltd
(formerly known as Hunan Energy Investment Group Co.,
Ltd.) with effect from 20 April 2024, 24 September 2024
and 18 December 2024 respectively. He ceased to be a
researcher at the School of Government Peking University.
He was appointed as an external director of Hunan Haili
High-Tech Industry Group Co. Ltd with effect from 7 March
2025.

—  Mr. LO Kam Fan resigned as an Executive Director and the
Chief Financial Officer with effect from 31 March 2024.

— Mr. WANG Dianer, the Vice President, was appointed as an
Executive Director with effect from 31 March 2024.

— Mr. HUANG Chaoxiong was appointed as an Executive
Director with effect from 31 March 2024.

— Ms. MAO Jing was appointed as a Non-executive Director
with effect from 31 March 2024. She resigned as the
deputy general manager of strategic management
department of CEEGL and was appointed as the general
manager of the investment development department of
CEEGL with effect from 22 April 2024.
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CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION UNDER
RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES
(Continueq)

—  Mr. SONG Jian, the Non-executive Director, resigned as the
general manager of operation and safety and environmental
management department of CEEGL and was appointed as
the general manager of strategic management department
of CEEGL with effect from 22 April 2024.

Save as disclosed above, other changes in directors’ information
in respect of the period as at the date of this report, which are
required to be disclosed pursuant to the requirement of Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules are set out in the section of
“Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The term of service as a Director is subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the provisions of the
Articles of Association.

Each of the Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-
executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company for a term of 2 years and/or around 2 years.

Apart from the foregoing, no director proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one vyear
other

without payment of compensation, than statutory

compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed under the sections “Connected Transactions”,
“Continuing Connected Transactions” below and Related Party
Transactions as set out in note 34 to the financial statements, no
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
a Director or any entities connected with the Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year and up to the date of this report, Mr. WANG
Silian is also the executive director of CEEGL. CEEGL is a listed
intermediate holding company of the Company and is principally
engaged in CEEGL may be in
competition with the Group. However, the Board is independent
of the board of CEEGL and none of the above mentioned
Director can control the Board, the Group is therefore capable of

renewable energy business.

carrying on its businesses independently of, and at arm’s length
from the businesses of these entities. Furthermore, the Company
implements various corporate governance measures to ensure the
independence between CEEGL and the Company.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors are considered to
have interests in a business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group, as defined in the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ emoluments are subject to the recommendations
of the Remuneration Committee. The emoluments are determined
with
performances and the results of the Group. No Director is

reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities and

involved in deciding his own remuneration.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

The Directors and the chief executive of the Company who held
office as at 31 December 2024 and their respective close
associates had the following interests and short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company, its
holding company, subsidiaries or other associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) at that date as
recorded in the register of directors’ and chief executive’s
interests and short positions required to be kept under Section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Long position in shares of the Company

Capacity

7aN

Name of Director
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SONG Jian NI Interest of spouse
fefB 2 s
Notes:
(i) All those shares are beneficially owned by Mr. SONG Jian’s spouse.

(i) As at 31 December 2024, the number of shares of the Company in
issue was 2,066,078,000 shares.

REARRGZEFR
Approximate
percentage of
total issued
shares
Number of (note (ii))
shares held EEE1TIRM
(shares)
Nature of interest  Fri XD 2B
Rt E ()
Family interest 3,000 0.0001%
(note (i)

RS (M 3E()

B &E -
() FAEZEROARBEEZEBESHES -

(ii) ROZE-NMFE+-A=+—H  KQAFZEHTHK
& B £2,066,078,0004% °



l /30 China Everbright Greentech Limited

HEXREERRBR AR

Report of the Directors EE &, &

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE EENTETHAEEAE KRG - 8
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES, MM EEAEERLARE (&)
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(Continueqd)
Long position in shares of CEEGL, a listed RAEQXB ETHFNERAAXRAKBRERS Z
intermediate holding company of the Company e

Approximate

percentage of

total issued

shares

Number of ()

shares held (5B &1TRH

(shares) Bz

Capacity Nature of interest FTis Rt m 2 8 BAOBES

Name of Director 5 {7 15 (i) (B % (iv))

SONG Jian KR Interest of spouse  Family interest 7,851 0.0001%
BB 2 #E e (note (iii))

EN Y FACEE D))

Notes: 5T
(i) All those shares are beneficially owned by Mr. SONG Jian’s spouse. (i) FiIBZSERMARGEEZEEEEES -

(v)  As at 31 December 2024, the number of shares of CEEGL in issue (v) R-Z-WE+-A=+—0H XARBECHET
was 6,142,975,292 shares. f% 178 B £6,142,975,292 1% °



INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
(Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or which are
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, holding companies or fellow subsidiaries, a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE
UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons (other than a
Director or the chief executive of the Company) had an interest or
short position in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange:

\‘
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INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE 1RIB(EHFNLEBEEM)BTIREZIK

UNDER THE SFO (Continued) RiEm (&)
Long position in shares of the Company EATRRGDZEFRE

Name of
substantial shareholder

Capacity
5

Nature of interest
Eate

Long position in ordinary

shares held and

approximate percentage

of total issued shares

(note (6))

P ERERk e R
HEBTRNEH

BOBES I

(F3E(6)

China Everbright Green
Holdings Limited
(“CE Green Holdings”)
(note (1))

CEEGL (note (1))

China Everbright Holdings
Company Limited
(“CE Hong Kong”)
(note (2))

Guildford Limited (“Guildford”)
(note (2))

China Everbright Group
(note (2))

Central Huijin Investment Ltd.
(“Huijin”)

FEIF A EIERERAF
([ REGZEER])
(P &E(1))

FARTRE (HE(1)

FEEAREERAA]
(MEAEED (MEQ)

Guildford Limited ([ Guildford )
(M &E@)

PR AKE (HEQ)

PRESREFREAAT
(TEZ )

Beneficial owner

ESBAA

Interest of controlled
corporation
B NGl -

Interest of controlled
corporation
RIEHI A AR ER

Interest of controlled
corporation
G AAMERS

Interest of controlled
corporation

ERL NGl 3

Interest of controlled
corporation
XEHAA M ER

Corporate interest
AL 3

Corporate interest
REER

Corporate interest
NGIL: 323

Corporate interest
yNGIE S

Corporate interest
NGIL: 323

1,440,000,000
69.70%

1,440,000,000
69.70%

1,462,912,986
70.81%

1,461,706,369
70.75%

1,462,912,986
70.81%

1,462,912,986
(note (3)) (B ZE(3))
70.81%

100,550,000
(note (4) (HIZE(4))
4.87%
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UNDER THE SFO (Continued)

Long position in shares of the Company (Continued)

Name of
substantial shareholder

R
RiE

Capacity
15
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(B LEHERG)ETHE 2K

N\ 7 =
(&)

KA RG 2R (&)

Long position in ordinary
shares held and
approximate percentage
of total issued shares
(note (6))
FrLEk s ge Rk
HEETRNEE

Ningbo Ningdian Investment
Development Co., Ltd.
(“NB Ningdian”) (note (5))

Ningbo Energy Group Co.,
Ltd. (“NB Energy”)
(note (5))

Ningbo Development &
Investment Group Co.,
Ltd. (“NB Development”)
(note (5))

EREREERNERAAF
=S ICETR)

ERREREREERAA]
G- GEDIGER)

Beneficial owner

Interest of controlled
corporation

REH DA RS

Interest of controlled
corporation
RIEHI AR ER

Nature of interest BABDH
BEnitE (Pt zE(6))
= 122,127,000

5.91%
Corporate interest 189,713,000
NGIL: 3 9.18%
Corporate interest 189,713,000
NEER 9.18%

Notes:

CEX

(1) CE Green Holdings is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CEEGL, which (1)
is in turn controlled 43.08% by CE Hong Kong, through its direct
wholly-owned subsidiaries. Accordingly, CEEGL and CE Hong Kong
are deemed to be interested in the 1,440,000,000 shares held by

CE Green Holdings.

2) China Everbright Group holds 100% of the issued shares of CE Hong 2)
Kong. CE Hong Kong holds (1) 100% of the issued shares of

Guildford; and (2)

100%

of the issued shares of Everbright

Investment & Management Limited (“EIM”), respectively. Out of the
1,462,912,986 shares, 1,440,000,000 shares are held by CE Green
Holdings and 21,706,369 shares are held by Guildford. The
remaining 1,206,617 shares are held by EIM. Accordingly, China
Everbright Group and CE Hong Kong are deemed to be interested
in those shares held by CE Green Holdings, Guildford and EIM

respectively.

KRG EIERANKBRENZEMNBAT M
ABREAXABTESEREEEZEAWB A RLEH
43.08% ° EI - S ABRBE R A AETBWR AR
e K 4R 8 15 B 45 B /9 1,440,000,000 % A% 17 &
BRER -

FENXRKEBMBZENXKREE100% D ETHRM -
YK EE D B A (1)Guildford  100% B 3 17 %
B RQEREEEERERAR([AREEE
3 1) 100% B 31T %D ° 1£1,462,912,986% I 15
& - 5 1,440,000,000 8% B% 17 B3 o K 4% & 45 I 3%
A 1221,706,369% i 1 B Guildford¥s & - H #
1,206,617 RH BB X RIEEEERE - &
b FEEREBE R A REBHER B RITEL
Keg @ - Guildford & ¢ KIRE B IR 2
R IEE RS -

N

(3)  Huijin is indirectly wholly-owned by the State Council of the PRC  (3) [ELmFBEEGREZEE2EEE @ WHAHEN

and holds 63.16% equity interests of China Everbright Group. It is
deemed to be interested in the 1,462,912,986 shares indirectly
held by China Everbright Group.

Huijin is also deemed to be interested in 100,550,000 shares held
by its associated companies and a non-wholly owned subsidiary.

REE63.16% A% R BN P B KEE
FfEiBEs A 2 1,462,912,086 IR AR 15 R #E A #Eas

@) ESTEGEASBEBBEARIRIEZEWNBEAR
100,550,000 8% i 17 R #E B FE =S o
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INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE
UNDER THE SFO (Continued)

Long position in shares of the Company (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

5) NB Development holds 46.0% of the issued shares of NB Energy.
NB Energy holds (1) 100% of the issued shares of NB Ningdian;
(2) 100% of the issued shares of Ningbo BSLS Trade Co., Ltd.
(“NBBSLS”); and (3) 100% of the issued shares of Lvneng
Investment & Development Co., Limited (“Lvneng Investment”),
respectively. Out of the 189,713,000 shares, 122,127,000 shares
are held by NB Ningdian; 20,019,000 shares are held by NBBSLS;
and 47,567,000 shares are held by Lvneng Investment.
Accordingly, NB Development and NB Energy are deemed to be
interested in those shares held by NB Ningdian, NBBSLS and
Lvneng Investment respectively.

(6) As at 31 December 2024, the number of shares of the Company in
issue was 2,066,078,000 shares.

December 2024, the
Company had not been notified of any other interests by

Apart from the foregoing, as at 31
prescribed notices which were required to be recorded in the
register kept under section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur
in or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or
otherwise in relation thereto. There is appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers
of the Group.

RIECE 7 LB RO BT B EE 2K
R (&)

KABRDZ2ER (&)

M5« (48)

(65) ENFIREAENEE46.0% D BTG o TR
BERDRIEA()EREET100%E EITRND : (2)
BEERETESERAR ([FH G BEE])
100% B &7 + RQ)EFEREERABR QA
([#78238 & 1) 100% B 21 T%{H ° 1£189,713,000
BERE D e - 122,127, 00085 B 1) |1 2808k B+
A 520,019,000 AR E DLEHNEF &k
47,567,000 & D AR EE IR B H « Ut - 2K
FBEREFRERINEERES S5 B4
Mg EMBE RO P HAER -

6) M-ZE-WE+-A=+—08 AQRAZETRE
& B A&2,066,078,000 4% °

brLaiENN  RZZTZWEF_A=+—H " &
AR EEETAMNBA KRR TMEtmER
B AMKRBCES BB GG #3366 BFE
= - ny 111 A AN ID

BIEAEH
RER  BETTHNENDEESBAATE
BFTMEADBD R TERTREOEL

T /R R B (R K

RESRMAAT  SLEFHERURAAE
EREREATRBET R AR A EE
MESREE 2 A BARAS - ARRAEHA
SHMEEREABERBOBEZEEREAM
EETRR -



MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Material related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the year are set out in note 34 to the financial statements
include transactions that constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Group as defined in the Listing Rules, the
Company has complied with the disclosure requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Lease of the premise

On 6 May 2022, China Everbright Greentech Management
Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a new agreement with China Everbright International
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CEEGL, in relation to
subletting the commercial unit at Unit 3602 of 36th Floor, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for a term of
3 years commencing from 18 May 2022 to 17 May 2025 (both
days inclusive) at a monthly rent of HK$194,400 (exclusive of
rates, management fee, water, electricity, gas and other utility
charges payable to independent third parties not connected with
the Company in respect of the use of the premises during the

lease term).

Following the adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standard 16 Leases issued by the HKICPA with effect from
1 January 2019, the Company recognised this transaction as an
asset representing its right to use the leased asset, regarded as
an acquisition of asset under the definition of transaction set out
in Rule 14.04(1)(a) of the Listing Rules. Since the highest of all
applicable percentage ratios set out in Rule 14.07 of the Listing
Rules is more than 0.1% but less than 5%, this transaction is
subject to the reporting and announcement requirements but
exempt from circular and the independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Deposit and loan services

On 15 December 2022, the Company entered into a new deposit

services master agreement and a new loan services master

agreement (collectively, the “New Services Master Agreements”)

with  China Everbright Group. Pursuant to the New Services

Master Agreements, China Everbright Group will, through its

associate, CE Bank, provide deposit and loan services to the

Group for a term of 3 vyears from 1

January 2023 to

31 December 2025.

(@)

Pursuant to the new deposit services master agreement,
China Everbright Group shall procure CE Bank to provide
deposit services to the Group (including current and fixed
term deposit) in accordance with rules and regulations
prescribed by the People’s Bank of China (“PBOC”) and/or
other relevant rules and regulations within or outside the
PRC. The deposit services to be provided by CE Bank shall
be on normal commercial terms and no less favourable than
the terms available to the Group from independent third
parties.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s
actual maximum daily closing balance of deposits (including
interest accrued thereon) placed in CE Bank exceeded the
annual cap of HK$130,000,000 for the year ended 31
December 2024 during the period (i) from 19 August 2024
to 4 September 2024, with the highest maximum daily
closing balance of deposits (including interests accrued
thereon) during the period amounting to
HK$161,192,407.98 on 21 August 2024 (i.e. the Highest
Maximum Daily Closing Balance (August)); and (i) from 12
December 2024 to 26 December 2024, with the highest
maximum daily closing balance of deposits (including
interests accrued thereon) during the period amounting to
HK$184,950,836.63 on 26 December 2024 (i.e. the Highest
Maximum Daily Closing Balance (December)).

+ 5=
4

ERX S

FREERERS

LA —
N
-

- —F+-A+HEH ARBEPEEK

5 B RT ST 13 R BR 75 48 190 8 B ¥ B AR BR 745 48 19 o
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B KRB EBEBE N NIRITRARBEIEH
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MEIRINE AR BE AR R AR B - [ AR E
REFFRSG (BFEEHRERFR) X
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RZZ-_ME+ A -+ BABE
184,950,836.63 7T (Bl & = & H W 1 4 &
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Deposit and loan services (Continued)

(@)

(Continued)

The exceeding of annual cap was due to two deposits
being made in August and December 2024 for the sole
purpose of early repayment of two loans granted by CE
Bank pursuant to the terms of the relevant loan
agreements, to save the finance costs of the Group. The
Board, including the Independent Non-executive Directors,
considers that the deposits made in relation to the
exceeding of annual cap were conducted on normal
commercial terms and in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group. After considering the background
and circumstances leading to the current incident, the
Directors consider that the failure of compliance with the
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules was
due to the insufficient communication between the staff in
the finance department after the personnel changes in 2024
(including the continuous changes of members of the
previous working team in the finance department who were
responsible for monitoring the annual caps) and the failure
to closely monitor the closing balances of the deposits, the
responsible staff had overlooked the requirements of the
annual caps at the time of making the said deposits, which
led to the exceeding of annual cap. In order to prevent the
reoccurrence of similar breaches of the Listing Rules in the
future, the Company had taken additional actions, including:

1. The Company has arranged training to the Directors,
the senior management and the finance department
on the compliance requirements of connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules,
to reinforce their understanding and awareness of the
importance of compliance with the Listing Rules.

2. The Company has already put in place internal control
policies and relevant procedures on the
implementation of the relevant connected transactions
and compliance with the relevant requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company will
increase the frequency of reminding the relevant staff
to observe and follow such policies and procedures,
and require the finance staff to report the status of
compliance with the annual caps and records of the
daily closing balance of the deposits to the Directors
on a monthly basis.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Deposit and loan services (Continued)

(@)

(Continued)

3. The finance department will increase the frequency of
inspection and review of the closing balance of the
deposits, and will prepare forecast on the fluctuation
of the closing balances of the deposits after taking
into account any new deposits proposed to be made
and the interests to be accrued. The finance
department shall forthwith report to the Directors once
it is estimated that the annual cap will be exceeded
for consideration of the appropriate follow up actions
(e.g. to increase the annual caps).

The new loan services master agreement shall be on a non-
exclusive basis and the Company is at liberty to obtain loan
services from other third parties. Pursuant to the new loan
services master agreement, China Everbright Group shall
procure CE Bank to provide loans to the Group (including
revolving credit facility and fixed term loan) in accordance
with rules and regulations prescribed by the PBOC and/or
other relevant rules and regulations within or outside the
PRC. The loans services to be provided by CE Bank shall
be on normal commercial terms and no less favourable than
the terms available to the Group from independent third
parties.

Since CE Bank and the Group have a long-term relationship
of cooperation, CE Bank has a better understanding of the
operations and development of the Group and is in a better
position to serve the financial arrangements of the Group. It
is also expected that it will be cost-efficient, expedient and
beneficial for the Group to receive deposit and loan services
from CE Bank. In addition, CE Bank is regulated by China
Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission and is
subject to the rules and requirements of such regulatory
authority, thus reducing risks to the Group in receiving
financial services from CE Bank.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the maximum
daily closing balance of the Group’s loans (excluding loans
which do not require security over the assets of the Group)
provided by CE Bank amounted to zero. This amount did
not exceed the annual cap of HK$130,000,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Purchases of equipment

On 15 December 2022, Everbright Greentech Management
(Shenzhen) Company Limited* (“Everbright Greentech Management
Shenzhen”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a new equipment purchase master agreement with
Everbright Environmental Technology Equipment (Changzhou)
Company Limited* (“EB Environmental Changzhou”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of CEEGL, in respect of the purchase of
the equipment and related services from EB Environmental
Changzhou for a term of 3 years from 1 January 2023 to

31 December 2025.

The new equipment purchase master agreement enables the
Group to procure the equipment and related services from EB
Environmental Changzhou which has been a technologically

competent and reliable supplier of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the amounts payable
to EB Environmental Changzhou under the new equipment
purchase master agreement amounted to approximately
RMB12,107,000. The amount did not exceed the annual cap of

RMB100,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Purchases of steam

On 15 December 2022, EB Greentech Cogeneration (Sugian)
Limited* (“EB Greentech Cogeneration Sugian”), an indirect
wholly- owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a steam
purchase master agreement with EB Environmental

(Sugian) Company Limited* (“EB Environmental Energy Sugian”),

Energy

an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CEEGL, in respect of the
purchase of steam from EB Environmental Energy Sugian for a
term of 3 years from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025.

*

For identification purpose only
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Purchases of steam (Continued)

EB Greentech Cogeneration Sugian is a supplier of steam in
Sugian, Jiangsu, the PRC. EB Greentech Cogeneration Sugian
entered into the steam purchase master agreement with EB
Environmental Energy Sugian to continue the purchase of steam
from EB Environmental Energy Sugian under emergency
situations, so as to ensure its uninterrupted supply of heat to

customers.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the amounts payable
to EB Environmental Energy Sugian under the steam purchase
master agreement amounted to approximately RMB6,332,000.
The amount did not exceed the annual cap of RMB60,000,000
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Employee healthcare protection services

On 15 December 2022, the Company entered into an employee
healthcare protection services master agreement with China
Everbright Group. Pursuant to the employee healthcare protection
services master agreement, China Everbright Group shall procure
its associates (including but not limited to Sun Life Everbright Life
Insurance Co., Ltd.* (“Sun Life Everbright”) and its associates) to
provide employee healthcare protection services to the Group for
a term of 3 years from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025.

The Company values the health and safety of employees. Apart
from participating in social insurance programs as required, the
Company also takes part in the medical insurance and healthcare
protection scheme, to further improve the sense of belonging of
and healthcare

the employees and to refine the medical

protection system.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the amounts payable
to Sun Life Everbright under the employee healthcare protection
services master agreement amounted to approximately
RMB23,924,000. The amount did not exceed the annual cap of
RMB39,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024.

*

For identification purpose only
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Underwriting and advisory services

On 15 December 2022, the Company entered into underwriting
and advisory services master agreement with China Everbright
Group, pursuant to which, China Everbright Group shall procure
its associates (including but not limited to Everbright Securities
Company Limited (China Everbright Group being its controlling
shareholder, “EB Securities”) and its associates) to provide
underwriting and advisory services to the Group for a term of 3
years from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025.

EB Securities (an associate of CE Group) and its associates
which provide underwriting and advisory services are major
underwriters in the PRC securities market, and they have
extensive underwriting experience and strong sales and
investment capacities. Taking reference from the underwriting
services rendered by EB Securities for the Groups’ previous
issuance of asset-backed notes and term notes, the Group
expects that EB Securities and its associates, acting as the
underwriters of the Group, will greatly benefit the issuance, sale
and pricing of the Group, and facilitate the completion of the
issuance plans of bonds and securities of the Group in the
forthcoming years.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the amounts payable
to EB Securities under the underwriting and advisory service
master agreement amounted to approximately RMB6,170,000.
The amount did not exceed the annual cap of RMB9,424,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

China Everbright Group is a controlling shareholder of CEEGL, the
controlling shareholder of the Company. Therefore, each of China
Everbright Group and its associates, including CE Bank, CEEGL,
Sun Life Everbright, EB Securities, and their associates, is a
connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. In particular, EB Environmental Changzhou and EB
Environmental Energy Sugian are indirect wholly-owned
subsidiaries of CEEGL. Therefore, each of EB Environmental
Changzhou and EB Environmental Energy Sugian is also a
connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under
each of the New Services Master Agreements, the new
equipment purchase master agreement, the steam purchase
master agreement, the employee healthcare protection services
master agreement, and the underwriting and advisory services
master agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Details of the New Services Master Agreements, the new
equipment purchase master agreement, the steam purchase
master agreement, the employee healthcare protection services
master agreement and the underwriting and advisory services
master agreement were set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 15 December 2022.

The Independent Non-executive Directors have reviewed these
continuing connected transactions in respect of deposit and loan
services, purchase of equipment, purchase of steam, employee
healthcare protection services and underwriting and advisory
(collectively, the
Transactions”) and confirmed that 2024 Continuing Connected

services “2024 Continuing Connected

Transactions were:

° entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group;
° conducted either on normal commercial terms or, if there are

not sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they

are on normal commercial terms, on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from

independent third parties; and

° in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Shareholders as a whole.

KPMG, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to report on the
Group’s 2024 Continuing Connected Transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
HKICPA.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the
requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of
the 2024 Continuing Connected Transactions. Save as disclosed
above, the annual caps set by the Group were not exceeded.

The auditor has issued a modified letter setting out their findings
and conclusions regarding the 2024 Continuing Connected
Transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. The Group has not exceeded
the relevant annual caps as disclosed above, except for the
continuing connected transactions under new deposit services
master agreement entered with CE Bank. The Group’s actual
maximum daily closing balance of deposits (including interest
accrued thereon) placed in CE Bank exceeded the annual cap of
HK$130,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any connected
transactions which were subject to the reporting requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year.

RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Company operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and not
previously covered by the ORSO Scheme. The MPF Scheme is a
defined contribution retirement scheme administered by
independent trustees. Under the Group’s MPF Scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the scheme at 10% and 5% of the employees’

relevant income, respectively.

The employees of the subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the
The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of

retirement schemes operated by the local authorities.
their payroll to these schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to these schemes is the
required contributions under the schemes. The Group’s total
contributions to these schemes charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss during the year ended 31 December

2024 amounted to HK$45,829,000.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report”
contained in this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors, the Board confirms
that the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as
required by the Listing Rules during the year under review.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young retired as the auditor of the Company upon the
expiration of its term of office with effect from the conclusion of
the AGM held on 14 May 2024.

KPMG was appointed as auditor of the Company following the
retirement of Ernst & Young. The consolidated financial
statements of the Group have been audited by KPMG, who will
retire and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment
at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

By order of the Board

China Everbright Greentech Limited
WANG Silian

Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 March 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA
EVERBRIGHT GREENTECH LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Everbright Greentech Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 155 to 298, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2024,
consolidated statement of comprehensive

the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
comprising material accounting policy information and other

explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements

of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), together with any ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis

for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional

judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

A E X = TR

FREZFRIRERMANEZHERDNAE
REMBERRIBEGTRRERZFH BLF
BIRBE PR E M B RABRBETERALIZK
BAMNESNETREEN  BATHELSEHAR
HEBNESR -

Assessing expected credit losses on debtors and contract assets

AEERERRENEENHEBEESE

Refer to notes 21 and 22 to the consolidated financial staterments and the accounting policies in note 2.4.

B2 IRAMN 21 K22 URKA2.48) &5 B °

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our
audit

BRERSE BMRERPNAEEEREEER
As at 31 December 2024, the gross carrying amounts of Our audit procedures to assess the ECLs on

debtors and contract assets were HK$6,459 million and
HK$9,993 million respectively, net of expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) on these assets of HK$197 milion and HK$10 million
respectively.

RZBEZ_MFE+_A=+—HB BUERRENEENERE
B7 B AEE64.5918 T R AEKEIQ.IBIETT + N RITIRZEEEN
EHEEER((BREEEED BE1.7RTEKET -

Management performed ECLs assessment of debtors and
contract assets without significant financing component under
the simplified approach whereas contract assets with significant
financing component under the general approach.
ERERBMIEREFZHEEAREKR D NEKERRE L
BEETRBEEERNG MRE-—REEBHEZHEBEKX
MEXDHENEELETRBEEEENM -

debtors and contract assets included the

following:
B EEREER AN EENTRREESEN
EREFBENAT

e understanding and evaluating the Group’s
policy and method for estimating the ECLs
according to applicable accounting standards;

o RIBERNEGTER  THEFEAEEMEE
RHEEEFERNBREA X

e assessing the appropriateness of the key
assumptions used by management in the
ECLs assessment, including the basis for
segmentation of the debtors and contract
assets based on similar credit risk profile of its
customers;

e MEEBREREHEEEEMERAERANE
ERJBHNEEYE  EERBEPONBEUEER
RARNERRER RGN EEETHENE
il
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Assessing expected credit losses on debtors and contract assets (Continued)

AEERNRAREVNEENTHABEESE (&)

Refer to notes 21 and 22 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2.4.
(Continued)
B E BRI E21 822 URAF2.409 S5 HE o (&)

How the matter was addressed in our

The Key Audit Matter audit

BREXSEE BEMRERPNNEERESE

Significant management judgement are involved in the e assessing the inputs used by the management

assessment of ECLs after considering historical settlement in the ECLs assessment, including whether

pattern, ageing profiles and credit rating of debtors. the debtors and contract assets were

REBBELEEER RERBALEBANGEHAIRE  BEE categorised in the appropriate ageing bands

BEEEFEIRERNEEEHE - by comparing individual items to the relevant
underlying supporting documents, on a

We identified assessing ECLs for debtors and contract assets sample basis;

as a key audit matter because determining the level of loss o i AF R ELEERIEE RABHEBERAX
allowance requires the exercise of significant management % FEEEERBHEEBEIERSMER
judgement, which is inherently subjective. MEASE  BRERERERRENEERDS
BPBTHERERRENEENENEESERERABEE FHEEEHERNRRESE
ZEE RAETEERGEKTITFTEZEEEEFELERHE - mH
EARSGHEBXEIM - e with the assistance of our internal specialists,
evaluating the methodology of ECLs
calculation and the key parameters used with
reference to external available data; and
e ERMAIMERMNBIT 2/ I A
B ARG EEENEETEREAN
FEZH R

e re-performing the calculation of the ECLs as at
31 December 2024 based on the Group’s
ECLs allowance policies, inputs and
assumptions.

o REAKENEMEEBEREEK WA
BERFZ EFAER_Z_MOF+HA
=t+—HWEBEEERE-
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Assessing impairment of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use

assets

AEEVEE X BERRBEREAEEERR

Refer to notes 14, 15 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2.4.

FRM A EN T 14 - 16517 U RHTiE2.480 2 1 %

The Key Audit Matter
BREREZEE

How the matter was addressed in our
audit
EMREBEEDNNEEREBESEE

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of intangible
assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
amounted to HK$11,636 million, HK$4,114 million and HK$418
million respectively.

RZZEZWE+-A=+—H BFEE 9% BERZRER
EREEENKREES B ABK116.3618T - B¥M14ETR
BIEAAN8IETT ©

Management allocates intangible assets, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets to separately identifiable
cash generating units (“CGUs”) and assesses if there are any
indications of impairment of these CGUSs.

ERBHEVEE VX BEARBLEREEESEEAE
UHHNReELABEM((ReEFEN])  YAEZERE
HFEUREEEMAEETRR -

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of
intangible assets, property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets included the following:
BPFEEVEE WX BMELREBEREHAE
BERBNEZEFEENT

e evaluating management’s identification of
CGUs and the allocation of assets to each
relevant CGU with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;

o ZERTEHEANRAT  TEEBEHMNER
CEABNABEEIKEEHERSELE

i

e assessing the reasonableness of the revenue
growth rates and gross profit margins adopted
by management by referring to industry and
other available third party information, the
recent financial performance of each relevant
CGU subject to impairment assessment and
management’s plans for future operations;

o ZEFTERHEMAIARE=FEHK  B#ETHA
AR SRR e EE B VBRI R
EIREHARKEENE  FHAEEEEMRRA
WaHERERENEERARE
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Assessing impairment of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use

assets (Continued)

AEETVEE WX BERRERERAEEERE (A)

Refer to notes 14, 15 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2.4.

(Continued)

BRMGEEEEN T 14 16817 U RHTFH2.409 85 B F o (&)

The Key Audit Matter
BRERSR

How the matter was addressed in our
audit
EPREBEEZTNMEEEBEEE

At the financial reporting date, management reviewed the CGUs
to determine whether there were any indicators of impairment.
When
assesses the recoverable amounts of CGUs. An impairment

indicators of impairment are identified, management

loss is recognised as an expense in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss if the carrying amounts of the CGUs exceed
their recoverable amounts. The recoverable amounts of the
CGUs are the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use.

REBHRERN EEEEMNReEAEMN  UEEREEEM
RETR - 2REREPRE  EEESNARSELELNA
WEEHE - MRS EEEMNEEERLDHTKRE SR - AIFEE
BEENGERGREARAX ReELEUMNAIKE 25
RARBEREEXNFECHAEEREFHRE

In assessing the value in use, the projected cash flows
associated with the CGUs are discounted. The preparation of
discounted cash flow forecasts can be highly subjective and
requires the exercise of significant management judgement and
estimation, in particular in determining revenue growth rates,
gross profit margins and discount rates applied.

R EREER  HERASEFSUMBANTEARSREE
TRAIR - REARBR S RMERAFAEETEE -  FETEREED
BARAE R CHERETRRERE - ENXKAERD
BRI KA -

with the assistance of our internal valuation
specialists, assessing the appropriateness of
the methodology applied by management with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards and the reasonableness
of the discount rates used by benchmarking
against other comparable companies and
considering the risks specific to each relevant
CGU subject to impairment assessment;

ERMAABEEZRNHET - 2ERITES
ERWRE HEBEEEMERTEARSE
B WEREEMAI BB A RETELEL
REEZBAETREBNGNSHERSELE
R E R  FIEFTERBRERREL A

obtaining from management sensitivity
analyses of the key assumptions adopted in
the discounted cash flow forecasts to evaluate
the impact of changes in the key assumptions
to the conclusions reached and whether there
are any indicators of management bias;
MEREEERMRREREEAMRANEE
RENGREDN - AFEFERZEB LR
SERNTELESEENTRETREREL
Bim=
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Assessing impairment of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets (Continued)

AEEVEE X BERREREAEEERR (&)

Refer to notes 14, 15 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2.4.
(Continued)
BRI EHREN T 14 16K 17 U RHF24098 5B F o (&)

How the matter was addressed in our

The Key Audit Matter audit

BREXEHE BARERPNAEEEEASE

We identified assessing impairment of intangible assets, e comparing the key assumptions included in the
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets as a key discounted cash flow forecasts prepared in the
audit matter because of the significant management judgement prior year with the current year’s performance
and estimation required in making assumptions and estimations of each relevant CGU subject to impairment
which are inherently uncertain and could be subject to assessment and making enquiries of
management bias. management as to the reasons for any
KB TEEREE V¥ BELRIBREAEEEMRIBET significant variations identified, to assess
REREZEE AAEREEFTZHELEARNHE KRG - whether the judgement made by management

in the preparation of the discounted cash flow
forecasts in the prior year indicated possible
management bias; and

e B IFERGEMNURRENEBAMBEDN
FERRERETRBNENSHRRES
BUNARFERE  YAEEESHTMEH
MEAZENRE  UFEERER FFER
RERN e REBARELHNABRESETRE
BEAEERREEZ &

e assessing the reasonableness of the
disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of management’s
impairment assessment with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards.

o ZBATEHENNRTE TGRSV BRE
hERERERETENRERLSE -




INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITORS REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
issued by the HKICPA and the

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance

accordance with HKFRSs
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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The directors are assisted by the Audit and Risk Management
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken

on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, intentional

forgery, omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of

in order to design audit procedures that are

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.
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° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit and Risk Management
Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.
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Independent Auditor's Report ¥ 37 #% S & &

We also provide the Audit and Risk Management Committee with
a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit and Risk
Management Committee, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lee Ka Nang.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

18 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —WWF+—A=+—HI-FE

2024 2023
S —T-=fF
Notes HK$’°000 HK$’000
bz BT T BT
REVENUE &= 5 6,976,892 7,416,973
Direct costs and operating expenses BEEKAREEEA (5,517,037) (5,821,730)
Gross profit EF 1,459,855 1,595,243
Other revenue Yz 6 352,589 279,854
Other losses, net H b B8 F 58 6 (60,610) (86,532)
Impairment of goodwill, intangible assets, mE EEEE -
property, plant and equipment and right- W - BEREER
of-use assets FREEERE (1,174,936) (655,653)
Administrative expenses 1THRER (481,838) (649,039)
Finance costs M%ER 7 (769,793) (824,825)
Share of (losses)/profits of associates Frib Bt &~ 7 (E18)
2 (5,135) 895
Share of profits of joint ventures & & tERF 689 769
LOSS BEFORE TAX FREL AT 18 8 (679,179) (339,288)
Income tax credit FRiS T &% 11 173,691 37,457
LOSS FOR THE YEAR TEEBR (505,488) (301,831)
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: LIS
Equity shareholders of the Company PIN/NGIE g g (415,382) (301,711)
Holders of perpetual medium-term notes KEFHEERFTEA 30 34,001 36,285
Non-controlling interests FE A HE 2 (124,107) (36,405)
(505,488) (301,831)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE AATERREES
TO EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS OF BREE
THE COMPANY 13
Basic and diluted (HK cents) EARREE OB(L) (20.10) (14.60)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
FmEEXHW=ERE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —WFE+_A=+—HIFE

2024 0 2K]
“E-MEF =%
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T ook e e
LOSS FOR THE YEAR REEEE (505,488) (301,831)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hith2 K
Other comprehensive income that may be REBHMAIEENHEE
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent Bz EMEEEKE :
periods:
Changes in fair value of debtors at fair value BRAREFAEMEE
through other comprehensive income, e 25 /9 FE U AR SR A
net of tax N EEE - Mk
IR (958,328) (290,412)
Exchange differences on translation of financial RMERBIRINE LT
statements of entities outside Hong Kong, WMREEZERZE
net of nil tax BB TRIE
— Subsidiaries — WEBAA (256,927) (466,523)
— Associates — Bt A A (3,684) (6,370)
— Joint ventures — BEhE (404) (2,287)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR RNEREH M2 E R
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX MR IE (1,219,343) (765,592)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR AEEEEW DL
THE YEAR (1,724,831) (1,067,423)
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: AL S
Equity shareholders of the Company A E) RS IR (1,632,463) (1,058,943)
Holders of perpetual medium-term notes XERHEREEA 34,001 36,285
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR HE o (126,369) (44,765)

(1,724,831) (1,067,423)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e B AR R &

At 31 December 2024 A =—Z—U&E+—-HA=+—H

2024 2023
—E-mEF —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - WE k& 14 4,113,959 4,579,981
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15(a) 418,482 529,606
Goodwill GES 16 65,681 130,651
Intangible assets EmAE 17 11,636,066 12,820,119
Interests in joint ventures EETEER 18 32,191 31,906
Interests in associates iR NI s 19 225,590 234,408
Other receivables, deposits and B EBIA - e Kk
prepayments TET5RIR 22 348,537 391,012
Contract assets BHEE 21 6,114,112 6,357,849
Deferred tax assets BT IRE E 27 460,248 198,495
Total non-current assets EmBEEAE 23,414,866 25,274,027
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 20 377,812 364,659
Debtors, other receivables, deposits and FEUTBR 3R« Bt JE UK
prepayments 17~ e RBNFIE 22 6,984,231 8,464,079
Contract assets GHEE 21 3,878,841 3,270,503
Tax recoverable A] Uy [6] # 78 2,135 5,373
Pledged bank deposits EEBRITFER 23 13,981 47,361
Deposits with banks RITFE 23 24,084 22,844
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBESEEYD 23 1,635,651 2,308,578
Total current assets MENE EBRE 12,916,735 14,483,397
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Creditors, other payables and accrued FEATBR IR - E b FE AT 3K
expenses H K JESTE B 24 2,497,415 2,655,805
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &t BR1T R HMEE 25 7,718,360 10,213,907
Lease liabilities HESE 15(b) 2,890 4,080
Tax payables FE A FR IE 79,363 69,897
Total current liabilities mEN B EERE 10,298,028 12,943,689
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position #%:& Bt # ik % &

At 31 December 2024 A —Z—U&E+—-A=+—H

2024 2023
—E-MF — T =4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFHE 2,618,707 1,539,708
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT MEERARBERE
LIABILITIES 26,033,573 26,813,735
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBAE
Other payables H M FE S RRIB 24 218,893 177,754
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings & BiE1T R HEMEE 25 13,281,792 12,917,853
Lease liabilities HEARE 15(b) 18,894 22,015
Deferred tax liabilities BEERBEE 27 851,694 1,339,774
Total non-current liabilities ERBBEERE 14,371,273 14,457,396
NET ASSETS EEFRHE 11,662,300 12,356,339
EQUITY R
Share capital & 7 28 1,608,029 1,608,029
Reserves e 29 8,001,810 9,663,198
Total equity attributable to equity AAFEREREREN
shareholders of the Company AR 9,609,839 11,271,227
Perpetual medium-term notes KEF EER 30 1,900,700 806,982
Non-controlling interests FE 2 IR HE 2 151,761 278,130
TOTAL EQUITY XA 11,662,300 12,356,339
ZHU Fugang WANG Dianer
KERI ETE=
Director Director
EE EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
RERRBER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —WWF+—A=+—HI-FE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

RAARERRER.
Perpetual Non-
Share Share  Exchange Fair value Other  Reserve Retained medium-  controlling Total
capital  premium reserve  reserve  reserve fund profits Total term notes interests equity
DAE *& 2R
BE BOEE EXGE RE HtRE BEE REERN aE THZE B ERAER
Notes  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
Wi EETr E¥Tr  EMTn BETn E¥Tn E¥Tn EMTn BETn  EMTn  B¥Tn E¥Tn
At 1 January 2024 W=2-mE-A-A 1,608,029 3,485,457* (1,283,990)* (355,794)*  (11,588)* 584,271* 7,244,842* 11,271,227 806,982 278,130 12,356,339
Profit/loss) for the year REERA/(FR) - - - - - - (415382 (415382) 34001  (124,107) (505,488)
Other comprehensive income for REEEMRENG
the year:
Changes in fair value of debtors at RAR B AL
fair value through other 2ERENELR
comprehensive income, BABARE
net of tax 29 BHE - - - (958,328) - - - (958,328) - - (958,328)
Exchange differences on translation RERERNERY
of financial statements of entities BREEELE
outside Hong Kong, net of nil tax REE BT
fim
— Subsidiaries - HEBAR - - (254,665) - - - - (254,665) - (2,262) (256,927)
— Associates - BELT - - (3,684) - - - - (3,684) - - (3,684)
— Joint ventures —- RERS - - (404) - - - - (404) - - (404)
Total comprenensive income for TEERENGES
the year - - (258,753 (958,328) - - (415382 (1,632,463) 34,001  (126,369) (1,724,831)
Issuance of perpetual medium-term BIKETHEE
notes 30 - - - - - - - = 1,084,935 = 1,084,935
Distribution to holders of perpetual MK ERHRERAA
medium-term notes fEtiZ Ak 30 - - - - - - - - (25219 - (25218
2024 interim dividend “TCMERRERS 12 - (28925) - - - - - (28925 - - (28925)
Transfer to reserve fund ERERES - - - - - 90,205  (90,205) - - - -
At 31 December 2024 RZB-MmF
+-A=+-A 1,608,029 3,456,532* (1,542,743)* (1,314,122  (11,588)* 674,476* 6,739,255* 9,609,839 1,900,700 151,761 11,662,300

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
HK$8,001,810,000 as at

31

December

2024

*

(2023:

HK$9,663,198,000) in the consolidated statement of financial

position.

ZERBREEN_Z_MF+_A=+—HZ

BREMBRAKRZES

T(ZZE ==

it 4575 #8,001,810,000
: 76 #9,663,198,0007T) ©




160

China Everbright Greentech Limited

HEXREERRBR AR

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity #R&EZ S & X

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —WFE+_A=+—HIFE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

A
Perpetual Non-
Share Share  Exchange  Fair value Other  Reserve  Retaned medium- controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve fund profits Total  term notes interests equity
¥
iE ERRE Effae  WEe REZR B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TR kTR T T AETrn  B%Tr A%Tr
At 1 January 2023 W=Z2-=%-f-H 1,608,029 3,537,109  (817,170) (65382 (8,615 503,344 7,627,480 12,384,795 806,982 342,508 13,534,285
Profit/(loss) for the year REERA/(BR) - - - - - - (801,711)  (301,711) 36,285 (36,405)  (301,831)
Other comprehensive income for REEEM2ENE
the year:
Changes in fair value of debtors at BAREFALL
fair value through other 2ERENER
comprehensive income, net of BAMARE
tax EEREIY i = = - (290,419 = = - (290,419 = - (200419
Exchange differences on translation RERERIEEY
of financial statements of entities BRRELZE
outside Hong Kong, net of nil tax REE IBZ
il
— Subsidiaries - KBAR = - (458,163 - - - — (458,163 - (8,360)  (466,528)
— Associates - BERA = = (6,370) = = = = (6,370) = = (6,370)
— Joint ventures - RERE = = (2,087) = = = - 29 - - )
Total comprehensive income for AEERENGES
the year - — 466820 (200412 - — (B01711) (1,058943) 36285  (44,765) (1,067,429)
Acquisition of non-controling interests  WERSEIRRER = = = - = - oy - (19613 (22.580)
Distribution to holders of perpetual AKETFHREREA
medium-term notes fEdi 2 Ak 30 = = = = = = = - (36,289 - (36,289
2023 interim dividend “TCCERTERS 12 - (51659 = = = = - (165 = - (51652
Transfer to reserve fund BEBEES = = = = - 8097  (80927) = = = =
At 31 December 2023 RZFZ=f
+-A=+-A 1,608,029 3,485457* (1,283,990) (365,794)  (11,588) 584,271" 7244,842" 11,271,207 806,982 278,130 12,356,339
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mEEHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —WWF+—A=+—HI-FE

2024 2023
—EME =
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
B = BT T BEEF T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RESER
Loss before tax PR 750 Al S 18 (679,179) (339,288)
Adjustments for: KA
Depreciation of property, plant and Y BB R
equipment e 8 290,501 316,612
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEEERE 8 23,205 22,939
Amortisation of intangible assets B & ER 8 589,827 628,421
Impairment losses of goodwill HEEERERE 8 63,697 =
Impairment losses of items of property, W - WE R&E
plant and equipment JH B EEEE 8 449,734 380,086
Impairment losses of right-of-use assets FRAEEERIESE 8 82,825 65,423
Impairment losses of intangible assets M\ EERERE 8 578,680 210,144
Credit losses of debtors and contract YRR AN EE
assets EEEE 8 12,152 86,569
Credit losses of amount due from a joint B —HEEDE
venture FIBEEER 8 48,403 =
Write-down of inventories to net FEMBZEER
realisable value FE 8 - 35,405
Finance costs MBER 7 769,793 824,825
Interest income A B U A 6 (21,758) (23,113)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant HEME - BE &
and equipment Bl F -V
(M as) 6 55 (37)
Share of losses/(profits) of associates FTib B & A el &8,
(&F)) 19 5,135 (895)
Share of profits of joint ventures b & ERT 18 (689) (769)
Effect of foreign exchange rates HNGE PE R E B) 2 52
changes, net FER (6,880) 12,607
2,205,501 2,218,929
Increase in inventories FEEM (19,232) (32,027)
Increase in debtors, other receivables, JE YT BR 3R~ B FE UK
deposits and prepayments 18 - e RIEMFIE
0 (50,717) (1,978,324)
Increase in contract assets BHREEEM (507,992) (304,566)
Decrease/(increase) in creditors, FERTER N - EAb RT3
other payables and accrued expenses BREAERRD
&) (89,678) 59,841
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows AR ERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE—Z — U4+ F=+—HI-FE

2024 2023
—E-MEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T PR T T
Cash generated from/(used in) BERRE,(FTA) 2
operations BHe 1,537,882 (36,147)
Interest received B W F 8 21,758 23,113
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) income & #E AR
tax paid ([ B FrisHt (89,355) (112,569)
Net cash generated from/(used in) KETHHE(FTA)
operating activities ZEEFHE 1,470,285 (125,603)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREEH
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEEW%¥ - HE L& H (420,043) (505,957)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME - BE RE&E
property, plant and equipment IH B FT1S 3R 35,045 167
Additions to intangible assets HERTEE (177,068) (855,431)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests W FEVE R R 2 - (22,586)
Decrease in deposits with banks RITF FOR A (1,626) (1)
Net cash used in investing activities REETBFAZ
HEFE (563,692) (1,3883,808)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES mMEEH
New bank loans IBRITE R 5,293,184 9,237,319
Proceeds from issuance of medium-term BT EIER TS KIE
notes 2,145,924 2,201,071
Payment of transaction costs XNBETHHEE 2
on issuance of medium-term notes RBEA (10,830) (5,578)
Proceeds from issuance of perpetual BT KB HEE
medium-term notes P15 7008 1,088,200 —
Payment of transaction costs on issuance S {2717k 4E R HAZ &
of perpetual medium-term notes 2R G (3,265) —
Repayment of bank loans EERITER (9,041,417) (7,673,425)
Repayment of medium-term notes EEFHER (224,784) (907,248)
Decrease in pledged bank deposits BB RIT TR 33,046 26,133
(Increase)/decrease in amounts due from G EEY N ENGIE S
fellow subsidiaries (), m (12,477) 242
Increase in amounts due from joint FEULA & 1 3 FEIE N
ventures (16,235) (6,604)
Increase in amount to an associate FE A — B & A R 5B
N 3,413 =
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to non- & FEHE AR AE 2
controlling interests ;I CR D) 1,283 (1,118)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders of the & [AIAN A &4 25 B 3R
Company RS 2 B B (28,925) (51,652)
Distribution to holders of perpetual MOKEFEHEREEA
medium-term notes 7K (25,368) (26,803)
Principal portion of lease payments HMENR ARSI D (4,076) (3,8606)
Interest portion of lease payments HERRZFEH S (944) (1,067)
Interest paid EASFIE (747,581) (815,975)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows HRABREHRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —WWF+—A=+—HI-FE

2024 2023
—EME =
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
Ff 5 BET T BB T
Net cash (used in)/generated from BMESES (FTA) s
financing activities ReREFHE (1,550,852) 1,971,429

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH ReRESEEY

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS CR2) /¥R (644,259) 462,018
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FHZHERREE

of year B 2,308,578 1,904,785
Effect of foreign exchange rates INEEREE 2

changes, net FH (28,668) (58,225)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT ERZRERES

END OF YEAR ZEY 23 1,635,651 2,308,578
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH REeERRESEYLELH

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2
Cash and bank balances & NMIRTT4E 64 23 1,602,969 2,012,696
Non-pledged bank deposits with original REERRE BB

maturity of less than three months when D=8 A 2 EEHE

acquired RITER 32,682 295,882

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in BHE&RERMTZ
the statement of cash flows ReRESEEY 1,635,651 2,308,578
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 3R R B R

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

China Everbright Greentech Limited (the “Company”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands.
The registered office of the Company is located at Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands.

During the year, the principal activities of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
construction, integrated biomass utilisation project operation
(biomass direct combustion power generation projects,
biomass heat supply project, biomass electricity and heat
cogeneration projects, waste-to-energy projects and
integrated biomass and waste-to-energy projects),
hazardous and solid waste treatment project operation
landfill projects,
incineration projects, general industrial solid waste electricity

(hazardous waste hazardous waste
and heat cogeneration projects and physicochemical and
recycling projects),
project operation and solar energy and wind power project

resources environmental remediation

operation (solar energy projects and wind power projects).
The immediate holding company of the Company is China

liability
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. In the

Everbright Green Holdings Limited, a limited
opinion of the directors, the ultimate holding entity of the
Company is China Investment Corporation,
established in the PRC.

an entity

1.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all
HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for certain debtors
which have been measured at fair value. These
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 2024. A subsidiary

(including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,

December is an entity
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the
activities of the investee).

relevant
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

21

Basis of preparation (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of
voting rights results in control. When the Company
has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights
of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;
contractual

(b) rights arising from other

arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests  having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members

of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, any non-controlling interest and the
exchange reserve; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit
in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required
if the Group had directly disposed of the related

assets or liabilities.

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to these financial
statements for the current accounting period:

° Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of
financial statements — Classification of liabilities
as current or non-current (“2020 amendments”)
and amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of
financial statements — Non-current liabilities with
covenants (“2022 amendments”)

° Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases — Lease
liability in a sale and leaseback

° Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash
flows and HKFRS 7, Financial instruments:
Disclosures — Supplier finance arrangements
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf 7 & 3 K 5%

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. IR (&)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued) 22 BFBEEH (E)

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period. Impacts of the adoption of the
amended HKFRSs are discussed below:

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements (the 2020 and 2022 amendments,
collectively the "HKAS 1 amendments’)

The HKAS 1 amendments impact the classification of
a liability as current or non-current, and have been
applied retrospectively as a package.

The 2020 amendments primarily clarify the
classification of a liability that can be settled in its own
equity instruments. If the terms of a liability could, at
the option of the counterparty, result in its settlement
by the transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments
and that conversion option is accounted for as an
equity instrument, these terms do not affect the
classification of the liability as current or non-current.
Otherwise, the transfer of equity instruments would
constitute settlement of the

liability and impact

classification.

The 2022 amendments specify that conditions with
which an entity must comply after the reporting date
do not affect the classification of a liability as current
or non-current. However, the entity is required to
liabilities

disclose information about non-current

subject to such conditions.

The HKAS 1 amendments do not have a material
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. IR (&)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued) 22 BIBXEH (&

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases — Lease
liability in a sale and leaseback

The amendments clarify how an entity accounts for a
sale and leaseback after the date of the transaction.
The amendments require the seller-lessee to apply the
general requirements for subsequent accounting of the
lease liability in such a way that it does not recognise
any gain or loss relating to the right of use it retains.
A seller-lessee is required to apply the amendments
retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions
entered into after the date of initial application. The
amendments do not have a material impact on these
financial statements as the Group has not entered into
any sale and leaseback transactions.

Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows
and HKFRS 7, Financial instruments. disclosures —
Supplier finance arrangements

The amendments introduce new disclosure
requirements to enhance transparency of supplier
finance arrangements and their effects on an entity’s
liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. The
amendments do not have a material impact on the

Group’s financial statements.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong
financial reporting standards

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended
standards, which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 December 2024 and which have not been
adopted in these financial statements. These
developments include the following which may be
relevant to the Group.

Effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after

Amendments to HKAS 21, 1 January 2025
The effects of changes in foreign
exchange rates — Lack of
exchangeability
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Financial 1 January 2026
instruments and HKFRS 7,
Financial instruments: disclosures
— Amendments to the
classification and measurement of
financial instruments

Annual improvements to 1 January 2026
HKFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume 11

HKFRS 18, Presentation and 1 January 2027

disclosure in financial statements

HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without 1 January 2027
public accountability: disclosures

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of what the impact of these developments is expected
to be in the period of initial application. So far it has
concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to
have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies
Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a
long term interest of generally not less than 20% of
rights and over which
significant influence. Significant influence is the power

the equity voting it has
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture.
Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of
control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
The Group’s investments in associates and joint
ventures are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at the Group’s share of net assets
under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates and joint
ventures is included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when
there has been a change recognised directly in the
equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable,
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses
transactions between the Group and its associates or
joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s
ventures,

resulting from

investments in the associates or joint

except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates or
joint ventures is included as part of the Group’s

investments in associates or joint ventures.

[f an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the
retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the

investment continues to be accounted for under the

equity method. In all other case, upon loss of

significant influence over the associate or joint control
the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value.

over the joint venture,

Any difference between the carrying amount of the
associate or joint venture upon loss of significant
influence or joint control and the fair value of the
retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Business combinations and gooadwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of
non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets
includes an input and a substantive process that
together significantly contribute to the ability to create
outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Business combinations and gooadwill (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset
or liability is measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the
excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount recognised for non-controlling
interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously
held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
If the sum of this consideration and other items is
lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired,
the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs
its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.
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2.  ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. @EtEE (&)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 EREFTHBEK(E

Business combinations and gooadwill (Continued)

the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group

Impairment is determined by assessing
of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates.
Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An

impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.
Where goodwill has been allocated to a

cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying
amount of the operation when determining the gain or
loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of

the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell
the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in
the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or
a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in

their economic best interest.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described
as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities

Level 1 —

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for
which the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either

directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for
which the lowest level input that is
value

significant to the fair

measurement is unobservable
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, contract assets, deferred tax
assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value-in-use and its fair value less costs of disposal,
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for
impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a
corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is
allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can
be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or,
otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating
units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to
the statement of profit or loss in the period in which
it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. IR (&)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises. An impairment
loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

Related parties

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of
the Group;
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies:

U)

(i

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(i)

the entity and the Group are members of
the same group.

one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or of a member of a
group of which of the other entity is a
member).

the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

a person identified in (a)() has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

is a part, provides key
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

2.

SRR (E)
24 BEREFBERA

YVFE  BERRELALTE

BRER TSN WX - BERRET
BB RFHTE MERFEEBEA
B WX BB MRBEB ZKAE
EEBEEREMELEZEERR
KA EVEREE Rk 2 B E(H R ©

M - BB MEREBERBERAEERMR
EE 2z (PlmgEeRE) » —RR
HEAHRABRSRTIR - HE4

R AIERREXHEREE
RHRETERMAERER - WETH
EMYE  BERRBIEKRID
ARKREEBZFHMOERRBRTE
AERFRZEREE  WAHREL
weE -



2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4

Material accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-line
method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

— Buildings situated on leasehold land are
depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired
term of lease and their estimated useful lives,
from 20 to 50 vyears after the date of
completion.

— Plant and machinery 5 to 25 years

— Leasehold 10 years or over the

remaining term of the

lease, if shorter

improvements
— Other properties 3 to 22 years

leased for own use

carried at cost
— Furniture and fixtures 5 to 10 years
— Motor vehicles, 3 to 12 years
electronic equipment

and others

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the
parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
least at each financial year end.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the
statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Construction in progress is s stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. It is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for
use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and
buildings held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. Such properties are measured initially at
cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair
value, which reflects market conditions at the end of
the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values
of investment properties are included in the statement
of profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of
an investment property are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss in the year of the
retirement or disposal.
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2.  ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. @EtEE (&)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 EREFTHBEK(E

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at
the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

The following intangible assets are amortised from the
date they are available for use and their estimated
useful lives are as follows:

Integrated biomass utilisation 30 to 50 years
project operating rights

Hazardous and solid waste 6 to 30 years
treatment project operating
rights
Licences 6 to 10 years
Technologies 8 years
Backlog contracts 2 years

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected from
its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss
in the year the intangible asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sale proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant intangible asset.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The
Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that
contains a lease component and non-lease
component(s), the Group adopts the practical
expedient not to separate non-lease component(s) and
to account for the lease component and the
associated non-lease component(s) (e.g., property
management services for leases of properties) as a
single lease component.

(@)  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the
date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less
any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred,
and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Where applicable, the cost of a
right-of-use asset also includes an estimate of
costs to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land
Buildings

10 to 50 years
3 to 30 years
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(@

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the
Group by the end of the lease term or the cost
reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the

payment occurs.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease
the Group uses its incremental

borrowing rate at the lease commencement date

payments,

because the interest rate implicit in the lease is
readily determinable. After the
the amount of lease

not
commencement date,
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease
liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in lease
(e.g.,
payments resulting from a change in an index or

payments a change to future lease
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to

purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases of
machinery and equipment (that is those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value
assets.

Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease

term.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost and fair
value through other comprehensive income.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’'s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s
business model for managing them. With the
exception of debtors that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus,
in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Debtors that
do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss, irrespective of the business model.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement
(Continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in
order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a
business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while
financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial
assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell
the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (debt instruments)

For debtors at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation
and impairment losses or reversals are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss and computed in the
same manner as for financial assets measured at
amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon
derecognition, the cumulative fair value change
recognised in other comprehensive income is recycled
to the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what
it has retained the risk and rewards of
ownership of the asset. When
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the Group continues to
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also

extent,
it has neither

recognise the

recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the

Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held
at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on
the difference between the contractual cash flows due
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.
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2.  ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. @EtEE (&)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 EREFTHBEK(E

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach

ECLs are For credit

exposures for which there has not been a significant

recognised in two stages.
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs
are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining life of
the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default
(a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or
effort,

including historical and forward-looking

information.

In certain cases, the Group may consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements
held by the Group. A financial asset is written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering

the contractual cash flows.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Contract assets and financial

assets other than

debtors are subject to impairment under the general
approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for contract
assets that do not contain a significant financing
component and debtors which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Financial assets that are
credit-impaired at the reporting date
(but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for
which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. IR (&)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 BEAEFHEK(E

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach

For debtors and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not
track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date. The Group has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as loans and borrowings, or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include creditors, other
payables and accrued expenses, lease liabilities,
amounts due to fellow subsidiaries and a
non-controlling interest, and interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest

rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or

loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled or
expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially different
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified,
modification is treated as a derecognition of the

original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and

such an exchange or

the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or

loss.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories, mainly comprise biomass fuel, spare parts
and consumables used in the repairs and
maintenance and are stated at cost less provision for
obsolete. Cost is determined on the weighted average
basis. Net realisable value is based on estimated
selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred
on disposal. When inventories are consumed, the
carrying amount of these inventories is recognised as
an expense in the statement of profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of
financial position comprise cash on hand and at
banks, and short-term highly liquid deposits with a
maturity of generally within three months that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and
held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, and short-term deposits as
defined above, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the

Group’s cash management.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past
event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit
or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in
the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.
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SRR (E)
24 EXREFABRA

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences;
and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences

associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax

temporary differences,

losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences; and
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised
to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the same taxable
entity or different taxable entities which intend either to
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets
are expected to be settled or recovered.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to deferred income account and is released
to the statement of profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of
the asset and released to the statement of profit or
loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a
variable amount, the amount of consideration is
estimated to which the Group will be entitled in
exchange for transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at
contract inception and constrained until it is highly
probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one vyear, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract
inception. When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the Group with a
significant financial benefit for more than one year,
revenue recognised under the contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the
customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is
not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS
15.

The Group satisfied a performance obligation and
recognises revenue over time, if one of the following
criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs.

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced.

° the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternate use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. Eﬁﬁz%(ﬁ%)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

If none of the above conditions are met, the Group
recognises revenue at the point in time when the
performance obligation is satisfied.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at the point in time when the
customer obtains control of the asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on the
Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation, by reference to the surveyors’
assessment of work performed and the costs incurred
up to the end of the reporting period as a percentage
of total estimated costs for each contract.

When the Group provides more than one service in a
service concession arrangement, the transaction price
will be allocated to each performance obligation by
reference to their relative stand-alone selling prices. If
the stand-alone selling prices are not directly
observable, they are estimated based on expected
cost plus a margin or adjusted market assessment
approach, depending on the availability of observable
information.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effect of
a financing component if it is significant.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(@)

Construction service revenue

The Group’s performance in
construction services creates or enhances an

respect of

asset or work in progress that the customer
controls as the asset is created or enhanced,
thus the Group satisfies a performance
obligation and recognises revenue over time, by
reference to completion of the specific
transaction assessed on the basis of the
surveyors’ assessment of work performed and
the costs incurred up to the end of the
reporting period as a percentage of total

estimated costs for each contract.

Revenue from construction services under a
service concession agreement is estimated on a
cost-plus basis with reference to a prevailing
market rate of gross margin at the date of the
agreement applicable to similar construction
services rendered.

Operation revenue

The Group recognised revenue from integrated
biomass utilisation project operation services,
hazardous and solid waste treatment operation
services, environmental remediation project
operation services and solar energy and wind
power project operation services when the

related services are rendered.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from other sources and other income

Finance income from service concession
arrangements and interest income is recognised on an
accrual basis using the effective interest method by
applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the

financial asset.

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or
services to a customer before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration under the contract terms,
a contract asset is recognised for the earned
consideration that is conditional. Contract assets are
subject to impairment assessment, details of which are
included in the accounting policies for “impairment of
financial assets”. They are reclassified to trade
receivables when the right to the consideration
becomes unconditional.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the
related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related
goods or services to the customer).
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf 7 & 3 K 5%

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Employee benefits
Retirement schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme, except for the Group’s employer voluntary
contributions, which are refunded to the Group when
the employee leaves employment prior to the
contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the

rules of the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated by

in Chinese Mainland are

the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to the statement of profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the central pension scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when the Group
involving the payment of

recognises
restructuring costs
termination benefits.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e.,
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs
consist of interest and other costs that an entity
incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the
notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority
to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim
dividends are recognised immediately as a liability
when they are proposed and declared.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf 7 & 3 K 5%

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Differences arising on settlement or translation
of monetary items are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss with the exception of monetary items
that are designated as part of the hedge of the
Group’s net investment of a foreign operation. These
are recognised in other comprehensive income until
the net investment is disposed of, at which time the
cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement of
profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to
exchange differences on those monetary items are
also recorded in other comprehensive income.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition
of the related asset, expense or income on the
derecognition of a non-monetary asset or
non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date
on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple
the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or

payments or receipts in advance,

receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries,
currencies other than the Hong Kong dollars. As at
the end of the reporting period, the assets and

joint ventures and associates are

liabilities of these entities are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting period and their statements of
profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rates that approximate to those
prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange reserve, except to the extent that the
differences are attributable to non-controlling interests.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount in the reserve relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that
could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Construction contracts

As explained in the accounting policies set out in note 2.4
to the financial statements for “Revenue recognition” and
“Contract assets”, revenue and profit recognition on an
incomplete project is dependent on estimating the final
outcome of the construction contract, as well as the work
done to date. Based on the Group’s recent experience and
the nature of the construction activity undertaken by the
Group, the Group makes estimates of the point at which it
considers the work is sufficiently advanced such that the
costs to complete and revenue can be reliably estimated.
As a result, until this point is reached, the “Service
concession assets” as disclosed in note 21 will not include
profit which the Group may eventually realise from the work
done to date. In addition, actual outcomes in terms of
revenue or costs may be higher or lower than estimated at
the end of the reporting period, which would affect the
revenue and profit

adjustment to the amounts recorded to date.

recognised in future years as an
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Construction contracts (Continued)

Construction revenue arising from construction services is
recognised based on the estimation of the fair value of
construction services and the proportion of construction
work completed to date for each project. The fair value of
construction services is determined on a cost plus mark up
basis with reference to a prevailing market rate of gross
margin applicable to similar construction services rendered.

Provision for ECLs for debtors and contract assets

The Group uses a ECL model to calculate ECLs for debtors
and contract assets. The model takes into account of
supportable and
historical settlement pattern, ageing profiles, credit loss

reasonable information such as the
experience, published credit ratings with forward-looking
information. At each reporting date, the historical observed
default the
forward-looking estimates are analysed.

rates are updated and changes in

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and
ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is
sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience, published credit ratings and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative of a

customer’s actual default in the future.

The carrying amounts of debtors and contract assets at
31 December 2024 were HK$6,458,757,000 (2023:
HK$7,854,321,000) and HK$9,992,953,000 (2023:
HK$9,628,352,000), respectively. The information about the
ECLs on the Group’s debtors and contract assets is
22 and 37 to the financial

disclosed in notes 21,

statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment losses of gooawill

As explained in the accounting policy set out in note 2.4 to
the financial statements for “Business combinations and
goodwill”, goodwill is allocated to a cash-generating unit or
to a group of cash-generating units that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination for the
purpose of impairment assessment, which requires
significant judgement. The Group determined that the group
of cash-generating units to which goodwill was allocated
reflected the lowest level at which goodwill was monitored
for internal reporting and was not larger than an operating
segment in accordance with HKAS 36 /mpairment of

Assets.

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This involves an estimation of the
value-in-use of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value-in-use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash
flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at
31 December 2024 was HK$65,681,000 (2023:
HK$130,651,000). Further details are given in note 16 to the
financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all assets (including the
right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period.

non-financial

Indefinite life intangible assets and intangible assets have
not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually
and at other times when such an indicator exists. Other
non-financial assets are tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that their
recorded carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
Determining whether such assets are impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of each cash-
generating unit to which the assets have been allocated,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal

and its value-in-use.

The calculations of the fair value less costs of disposal or
value-in-use involves significant estimations about future
business performance with key assumptions including
forecasted revenue growth rate and discount rates used.
The Group uses all information in

determining an amount that is a reasonable approximation

readily available

of the recoverable amount, including estimates based on
reasonable and supportable assumptions and projections of
revenue growth rates, operating costs and discount rates.
Further details are set out in notes 14 and 17 to the
financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement on
the future tax treatment of certain transactions. The Group
carefully evaluates the tax implications of transactions and
tax provisions are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of
such transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into
account all changes in tax laws, regulations, relevant
interpretation and practices, and other related policies.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for temporary deductible
differences. As those deferred tax assets can only be
recognised to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the unused tax
credits can be utilised, management’s judgement is required
to assess the probability of future taxable profits.
Management reassesses these estimates at the end of each
reporting period. Additional deferred tax assets are
recognised if it becomes probable that future taxable profits
will allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered. The
carrying value of deferred tax assets at 31 December 2024
was HK$460,248,000 (2023: HK$198,495,000). Further

details are included in note 27 to the financial statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages its business by segments, which are
organised by business lines. In a manner consistent with the
way in which information is

reported internally to the

Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment, the Group has presented the following four

reportable segments.

(i) Integrated biomass utilisation project construction and
operation: this segment engages in the construction
and operation of biomass direct combustion power

biomass heat supply project,

biomass electricity and heat cogeneration projects,

generation projects,

waste-to-energy projects and integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy projects to generate revenue from
construction services, revenue from operation services
as well as finance income.

Annual Report 2024

T FFIR 213

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf #§ & 3 Kt 5t

3.

B ARG HE b5 (E)

st 2T REM (&)

B g #
EEMSHBEBBIREETRHGZAER
HERE R AELHE - AEBEeFETG
RS ZHEBRBHRE - HMmEHEBERE -
AEEBEeTHEFZRBEER G ZMER
Bk WEBRESERE  RH - BERE
KEG - LAREAMBBBER ZMEZEH7|
AREEEZ BREMEEEHRYRAIH
ﬁ%ﬁ%uﬁﬂomﬁﬁ%%:zLLm
HEEERRBRRAEEEEERHEAT
meAREABBERS u@%Z% " B
EIRERIE T - DAGT (5 E A R R FE R
MENZ AL -EEBENERESK
BT B ET - e R SR FERR B & R
%ﬁT%%‘LﬁEEFEMW@’J@
BRBINNELERIBEEE - R _T_NF
+TZA=+—R EEHBEEENEREEAE
5 #5460,248,000T (Z T = = F : B
198,495,0007T) ° # — B EH N B 15 |
=MIFE27 ©

oz
T

\
Dk\
gozs|
i}
e

SERDH(REGHES D) EEE

ZRAMAERD R KRRF A AL
AEmEEE2REMZ BTN K
2HT THNEETHREZDER -

L N
mmi

() HEVESKETREERERES %
DENERERESEMEEREE
HEH - EMEHAIEE EMEHE
HEIEE c WIREEBEE RAEME R
WREE—BIIEE MEEZER
Hia - BE RS RN o



214

China Everbright Greentech Limited
FENRKGZERRER AT

Notes to the Financial Statements Bt % & 3 i 5

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(it

)

Hazardous and solid waste treatment project
construction and operation: this segment engages in
the construction and operation of hazardous waste
landfill projects, hazardous waste incineration projects,
general industrial solid waste electricity and heat
cogeneration projects and physicochemical and
resources recycling projects to generate revenue from
construction services, revenue from operation services
as well as finance income.

Environmental remediation project operation: this
segment engages in the operation of environmental
remediation projects covering restoration of industrial
contaminated sites, contaminated farmland, mines and
landfills, treatment of industrial gas emission,
integrated treatment of oil sludge, treatment of river/
lake sediments and industrial sludge, construction and
operation of wetland parks, environmental stewardship
services and anti-seepage at landfill sites to generate

revenue from operation services.

Solar energy and wind power project operation: this
segment engages in the operation of solar energy
projects and wind power projects to generate revenue
from operation services.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and

allocating resources between segments, the Group’s most

senior executive management monitors the results, assets

and liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the

following bases:

)

BLDEER (&)

fEEREEREERBRENES %
DEN FRE LB EBREHIEIAR

ERENAER  —MIEERREH
#08 A R B RILFIRIAR - A
BE R TR S BRI R
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BB EIE R B RO B RS
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SIURER R IES AR B
.L SMEE  RRERRBKRE

BERE2IR UELEEZLRBK
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Segment assets include all tangible assets, intangible
assets, goodwill, interests in associates and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets and current assets with the exception of
intercompany receivables and other corporate assets which
are managed on a group basis. Segment liabilities include
tax payables, deferred tax liabilities, creditors, other
payables and accrued expenses attributable to the activities
of the individual segments and interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings managed directly by the segments, with
the exception of intercompany payables and other corporate
liabilities which are managed on a group basis.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to revenue generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or
which otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation
of assets attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reportable segment profit is “adjusted
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation” (the “Adjusted EBITDA”). To arrive at Adjusted
EBITDA, the Group’s earnings are further excluded for items
not specifically attributed to individual segments, such as
directors’ and auditor’s remuneration and other head office
or corporate administration costs.

In addition to segment information concerning the Adjusted
EBITDA, management is provided with segment information
concerning revenue, interest expense from borrowings
managed directly by the segments, depreciation and
amortisation and additions to non-current segment assets
used by the segments in their operations.

Annual Report 2024 215
ZEZINFFR

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf #§ & 3 Kt 5t

DHMEEBRRMBENEE BREE -
CBERRIRAEREREE  BIERIEA
MRBEE HETEERREEEAEE
ENSEEANRAREHERREAREMEEE
E-nHAEaeRsEERN DBz XHE
HZENEIR - EERIBERE - BAER
HiENREREAERASEIHE
EEEZFBRTREMESE EIERE
REBAEEENKREARNRBEEMN KA
REMPERE -

W 3
1)

Wa MR T2 ERTHRE D B ATRIZ
W hIEEZRAXAEBOHBEEZE
EMEEZTESEENOBEEGM@OE -

ARBED R RN A[EARR
B BB %%&ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁmw(%ﬁa%
EBITDA]) - & T 1S L4 AEEBITDA * A&
EzRAE Efﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁ HERER DB 2EE
(fln - B RAZEAN S & HAb 48 A F) sk
AT 1B — DBk -

B B BEAC S FEBITDAZ 2 EB & £ -
BIRERBREANZ  SHoHEE %.'I%Z
BEMNERIZRED I @Aﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁam
O EECTE HHEREBEZHHE
#} e



China Everbright Greentech Limited
FENRKGZERRER AT

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf % & & K &

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments
as provided to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance for the year
is set out below:

For the year ended 31 December

Integrated biomass
utilisation project
construction and

4. &

U]

Hazardous and solid
waste treatment project
construction and

LS

BER (&

-EERERE

AEBRAFEERD BN ERE
AfEmMAASERESERERMIZA
THREDBERHINMT

BE+-A=+—HLHEE

Solar energy and wind

operation operation power project operation Total
ENESANAER REREBREER ARBER
REREE BEREE EEEREE @
2024 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024
kg1 £:3 k13 F ZB-ME - kg1 £:3 k13
HK$'000 HK$'000 0 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETL BETR BETT BETR
Segment revenue (note 5): AEKES (KEs) :
Revenue from external customers and REMREFEIRER

reportable segment revenue BFREHPhE 5,482,377 1,140,224 1,180,106 203,182 209,946 6,976,892 7,416973
Segment results: AHEE:

Reportable segment profit/loss) BT RE2HBRH/(FR)

(Adjusted EBITDA/(LBITDA) (4B ERITDA/(LBITDA)) 1,917,517 (1,119,106)  (428,162) 178,811 188,338 1,002,312 1,648,369
Finance costs BBER (769,793)  (824,825)
Depreciation and amortisation, including TEREH (BEAIESH)

unallocated portion (903,533)  (967,972)
Unallocated head office and corporate income FARBRARGERA 17,943 20,713
Unallocated head office and corporate FRARBRARGERS

expenses (26,108)  (215579)
Consolidated loss before tax GARBAIGE (679,179)  (339,288)
Other segment information: Ethnabas
Finance costs BHHEA 247,254 95,769 89,143 9,199 10,356 356,748 408,838
Unallocated finance costs RARHBER 413045 415987
Depreciation and amortisation FEREH 461,711 346,109 415,200 74,456 70,577 897,862 962,911
Unallocated depreciation and amortisation AARFEREH 5,671 5,061
Impairment losses of intangible assets EVEERRER - — 578680 210,144 - - 518680 210,144
Impairment losses of property, plant and nE - BERRGEBER

equipment - - 449,734 380,086 - - 449,734 380,086
Impairment losses of right-of-use assets RRREEREEE - 82,825 65423 - - 82825 65428
Impairment losses of goodwil BEERER - 63,697 - - - 63,697 -
(Reversal)/recognition of credit losses of (BE),/BAERETRAD

debtors and contract assets BERERR 28,679 (14,540) 15,740 4,348 1,626 12,152 86,569
Credt losses of amount due from a ER-FABELEHEL

foint venture FEER - 16,086 - - - 16,086 -
Share of profits of joint ventures, net A ELER7ER - = (478) (514) (211) (255) (689) (769)
Share of losses/(profits) of associates, net B EAREE/(BH)

#8 ) 5,140 650 - = 5,135 (895)
Additions to property, plant and equipment, EENE  HERRE ER

right-of-use assets, intangiole assets, EAE BREE BE

goodwill and non-current portion of RERAREZENADH

prepayments 249,471 239,138 266,977 124,662 85,297 621,776 995,991
Additions to non-current portion of contract BEANEE DS

assets 386,071 3,962 4917 - - 390,033 397,754




4.  OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
() Segment results, assets and liabilities (i) 7P¥E BEEREEE)
(Continued)
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4. BEDHER (&

Hazardous and solid

Integrated biomass
utilisation project

waste treatment project Environmental

construction and construction and remediation project

Solar energy and wind

operation operation operation power project operation Total
ENEGAFIAER fEREBREER AREER

BEREE BEREER BRBEEAEE EEEEEE
2024 2023 2023 2024 2024 2023 2023
kg1 £:3 £ = =F ZB-ME kg1 £:3 =%
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
BET R BT E%Tn  BETn BET R B¥Tr EETn
Reportable segment assets AFREZAREE 26,491,004 27,951,768 6,548,363 7,865,046 627,175 695315 1,310,221 1,261,355 34,976,763 37,773,483
Unallocated head office and corporate assets AARBOARGERE 1,354,838 1,983,941
Consolidated total assets GREELR 36,331,601 39,757,424
Reportable segment liabilities BAFREZAPER 9,642,235 12,069,707 4,514,491 4,151,802 385679 411,638 346,879 397,447 14,889,284 17,030,594
Unallocated head office and corporate liabilties AARBARARGERRE 9,780,017 10,370,491
Consolidated total liabilties SRAELE 24,669,301 27,401,085
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4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of () the Group’s revenue from
external customers, (i) the Group’s property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
and (i) the Group’s non-current portion of other
receivables, deposits and prepayments and
The

geographical location of customers is based on the

non-current portion of contract assets.
location at which the services were provided. The
geographical location of the assets is based on the
physical location of the asset in the case of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets, whereas
the location of the operation to which they are
allocated in the case of other receivables, deposits
and prepayments, assets and contract
assets.

intangible

Revenue from external

=204
4, B

(ii)

Property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use

D ERE Y ()

i EE R

TREINEBOTEEBREBINAETP
ZWE - (WAEBZYE - BERK
- EREESEREREAE - R(i)K
SE 2 Eth IR - e RIERRK
187 FEBNERER D LA R A MO A B 2 3ERD
M 2 it Bk - BFFTE
Ml AR IR M B Bl D - BEFTE
WEIZREEERATELE (SRmE -
MERSEBEARERAEEENS) -
i3 & 2 275 2 B AE b 2h (5t B 4b FE
WRTE - R RTENRIE - BREE
REHEEMS)E S -

Non-current portion of
other receivables, deposits
and prepayments and

customers assets and intangible assets contract assets
HipERRE  RER
W BERRSE ARRERANEEZ
RENREF 2 W BRAREERENEE FENEE 2
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZED@mE T =F ZEBED@FE T =F  ZEBED@FE T -=F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$°000 HK$’000
BETT  BMTR TR BMTRT  #MTR #ETR
Mainland China B A B 6,960,082 7,402,205 16,153,741 17,857,730 6,462,649 6,748,861
Hong Kong £ 11,139 9,402 9,401 48,349 - -
Germany =E 5,671 5,366 5,365 23,627 - -
Total Foby 6,976,892 7,416,973 16,168,507 17,929,706 6,462,649 6,748,861
Information about a major customer i) EEEFEH

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
(2028:
government authority in the PRC from which the
revenue individually exceeded 10% of the Group’s
total
customer during the year ended 31 December 2024
amounted to HK$1,782,395,000 (2023:
HK$1,951,259,000).

has transactions with one one) local

revenue. The aggregate revenue from this

BE_Z-_NF+_A=+—HLHF
[ ARG E A —EE T
ZEC=F A ETRS A
RHEENRZEBEAEBRZER
B1I0% U L -HE_ZT-_WF+ = A
=+—HIEFE REZEPHWE
48 K A #1,782,395,000 T (= F
— =4 ¢ $¥1,951,259,0007T) °
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5. REVENUE 5 s
An analysis of revenue is as follows: Waa T

Revenue from integrated biomass utilisation

EMEHRAMAEE

2024

—E-MEF

HK$’000
BET T

2023

—E =4
HK$’000

BT T

project construction services BEERS M= 230,749 618,405
Revenue from hazardous and solid waste EEREEREIER
treatment project construction services EERB K E - 42,240
Revenue from integrated biomass utilisation EYEira N AER
project operation services B RS W s 4,926,861 4,826,455
Revenue from hazardous and solid waste EEREEREERERE
treatment project operation services B R = 1,136,263 1,132,949
Revenue from environmental remediation project IRIBEEIE B B4 R
operation services g 151,109 243,364
Revenue from solar energy and wind power HREFEERRAEIEHE
project operation services B RS W s 203,182 209,946
Revenue from contracts with customers within ~ FB B MK E#EBIFE15
the scope of HKFRS 15 FEHEENZEPEHL
W25 6,648,164 7,073,359
Finance income from service concession FRAG ST BT T2
arrangements B A 328,728 343,614
Total revenue W a5 4a s 6,976,892 7,416,973

The aggregated revenue from construction services, revenue
from operation services and finance income derived from

BE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HILEE "
PR 8 B E M BT R A B AR S A

the local government authorities in the PRC amounted to BEERBUm R BBABRERBE
HK$5,025,347,000 (2023: HK$5,531,505,000) for the year 5,025,347,000c (=& = = DB
ended 31 December 2024. The revenues are included in 5,531,505,0007T) ° A BF 7% 3R = M sE 4 FT 3%
four segments as disclosed in note 4 to the financial B ZEWEFT ALESEL -

statements.
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5. REVENUE (Continued) 5 W& (&
Revenue from contracts with customers BEEEHWE
(a)  Disaggregated revenue information (@ KD HrW s ER

Integrated biomass  Hazardous and solid
utilisation project ~ waste treatment project Environmental

construction and construction and remediation project  Solar energy and wind
operation operation operation power project operation Total
ENEGREARAER REREBEEER
BEREE BEREE BABERAEE AAYEREEREEE it
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2024 2024
“EomE F ZB-OF =t 1 £:3 b 1 £ p=t i 3
HK$'000 HK$'000 $ HK$'000 0 HK$000 HK$'000
BETRT T B¥Tn T E%Tn B BETR BETT
(i) Types of goods and services i) EYREBEE
Construction services BERE 230,749 618,405 - 42,240 - = - - 230,749 660,645
Operation services BE R 4,926,861 4826455 1,136,263 1,132,949 151,109 243364 203,182 209,946 6417415 6,412,714
Total b 5,157,610 5444860 1,136,263 1,175,189 151,109 243364 203,182 209,946 6,648,164 7,073,359
(i) Geographical markets* (i) B 5+
Hong Kong B3 - - - - - - 11,139 9,402 11,139 9,402
Mainland China B 5,157,610 5444860 1,136,263 1,175,189 151,109 243364 186,372 195178 6,631,354 7,058,591
Germany - - - - - - 5,671 5,366 5,671 5,366
Total @it 5,157,610 5444860 1,136,263 1,175,189 151,109 243364 203,182 209,946 6,648,164 7,073,359
* The geographical location of customers is based on * B PR R RIS IR 0 E 5 o

the location at which the services were provided.

Timing of revenue recognition W 75 T B B AT

2024 2023

E_OF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
Services transferred over time BB B R 2 AR TS 6,458,453 6,901,797
Goods transferred at a point in time RE—REER 2 EY 189,711 171,562
Total RET 6,648,164 7,073,359




REVENUE (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

b)

Performance obligations

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
(unsatisfied or
December are as

remaining performance obligations
partially unsatisfied) as at 31
follows:

Expected to be recognised within one
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5.

N\ 7 ==
= (&)

BEFAEN WS (&)

®)

JEXIE 1T
R+ZA=+t—HRESREHRTEN
BEE(CREBETHE D REEIT) 2%
ZEBTEET

2024
—E-mE

HK$°000
BET T

HK$’'000
BT

BN —FRNHER

year 7,117,483 7,456,071
Expected to be recognised after one year FEHA#E N —E & R 118,625,603 130,108,309
Total Mt 125,743,086 137,564,380

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations which are expected
to be recognised as revenue after one year relate to
construction services and operation services in
connection with the Group’s environmental protection
projects, of which the performance obligations are to
be satisfied within 50 years. All the other amounts of
transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations are expected to be
recognised as revenue within one year. The amounts
disclosed above do not include variable consideration
which is constrained.

The Group has applied the practical expedient under
HKFRS 15 and does not include information about
revenue that the Group will be entitled to when it
satisfied the remaining performance obligations for
contracts with an original expected duration of one
year or less.

ENRESRTREOBEFELFAERN —F
BER /NG 2 X HERETS MK
SERREENARATFRETE
ERBRELRBEZENEE -CN
RERTENETZMEEMRIZE
REBAHBN —FRBER /R -
EXFREEZ @ BT BEZR K
AERE-

AEBERATEEMBHELRES
BT ZATRERENEREEGRE
AEBEBRREBMER D —FHA
NZEHNZBTRAOEERTKER
RESZNm 2 ER -
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6. OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER LOSSES, NET 6. HE{ilgz & H B8 %58

(@)  An analysis of other revenue is as follows: @@ EflmsommT
2024 2023
—E-F ==

HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT

Other revenue H ik &
Interest income B U A 21,758 23,113
Government grants* BT Bh &~ 25,388 38,094
Value-added tax refunds* AR 236,580 174,666
Others EHi 68,863 43,981
Total other revenue E Uz 4258 352,589 279,854

>k

Government grants of HK$15,270,000 (2023:
HK$23,156,000) were granted during the year ended
31 December 2024 to subsidise certain integrated
biomass utilisation and hazardous and solid waste
treatment projects of the Group in the PRC. There
were no unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies
attached to the receipts of those grants. There is no
assurance that the Group will continue to receive such
grants in the future. Government grants received for
which related expenditure has not yet been
undertaken are included in deferred income in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group was entitled to PRC value-added tax
refunds of HK$236,580,000 (2023: HK$174,666,000)
during the year ended 31 December 2024. There
were no unfulfiled conditions and other contingencies
attached to the receipts of such tax refunds. There is
no assurance that the Group will continue to receive
such tax refunds in the future.

*k

HE_Z-_NWF+-_A=+—8H1
FE - ANEBEEBRTHEBSBE
15,270,000 (Z T = =4 : B
23,156,0007T) * LA & B AR £ @ R
FEMETEMERE TR RERE
MEEREEEE - WHZSHDS
ERER GG REMRREE -
BARERNEE BRG] #EES
ZEMYE  BEARERBERY
2 EWBFHEEREE R
RETABEIEYRA -

HE-_T-_MF+-_A=+—HL
FE AEEBEESPREER
R T 15236,580,0007T (Z B ==
& B 15174,666,0007T) © W BLEX
LIRTH LA R ER IR R E bk A
FHIE - WTIREANEEB B #
BESZEERM -
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6. OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER LOSSES, NET 6. Elizm kEMEEFEE (&)

(Continued)
(o)  An analysis of other losses, net is as follows: (b) EMEBEEFEIHTET :
2024 2023
—E-NF —T-=%F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T Nk
Other losses, net Hihg5 8 F5E
Net losses/(gains) on disposal of items of HEWE « WE RRE
property, plant and equipment BE 2 FEER
(Yezs) 55 37)
Credit losses of debtors and contract FEUEESR R ENEE
assets BEEEE 12,152 86,569
Credit losses of amount due from a B —M & & ERIE
joint venture EEEE 48,403 -
Total other losses, net Eith BB 4R F 5 60,610 86,532
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. B%ER
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: WBERINAT

2024 2023

—E_MF —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Interest on bank and other borrowings RITREMEEZFBE 601,249 709,041
Interest on medium-term notes FRHAZE A B 172,064 134,589
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBEZHME 944 1,067
Finance costs incurred EEZU%ER 774,257 844,697
Less: interest capitalised* B B2 F B (4,464) (19,872)
Total HBEr 769,793 824,825
* The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a rate ranging * HEZZT_NF+-A=+—HILFE -

EERA TR F2.20%%E3.35% (= F
T 2.70%FE3.50%) BFEREFUE
A -

from 2.20% to 3.35% (2023: 2.70% to 3.50%) per annum
during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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8. LOSS BEFORE TAX 8. BRTIAIEE
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/ NEBBRBATEBEED MR (GtA)
(crediting):
2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Cost of inventories consumed* EREATFE 2K A 2,627,079 2,701,343
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment*  #12% - W= LR ETE* 290,501 316,612
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEITE 23,205 22,939
Amortisation of intangible assets** I & B 589,827 628,421
Lease payments not included in the Rt AHEABEZ
measurement of lease liabilities HERR 6,771 10,717
Auditor’s remuneration 2 24 6 37 A
— audit services — EBZR 2,372 3,050
— other services — EhRE 1,336 541
3,708 3,591
Employee benefit expense (excluding directors’ & B @A = (T8
remuneration (note 9)) EEMS (FI5E9))
Wages and salaries TERE® 645,920 606,011
Pension scheme contributions BRIRRIE FT 2 R 45,829 58,763
691,749 664,774
Impairment losses of intangible assets | EERIEEE 578,680 210,144
Impairment losses of property, plant and W - E MR EREE
equipment 518 449,734 380,086
Impairment losses of right-of-use assets FREEERIEEBE 82,825 65,423
Impairment losses of goodwill PEEEEE 63,697 —
Credit losses of debtors and contract assets EUREREEHEE
EEEE 12,152 86,569
Credit losses of amount due from a FEU—RE& &3 RIE
joint venture FEEE 48,403 —
Write-down of inventories to net realisable GEMBERIER
value* HET - 35,405
Foreign exchange differences, net M W H =R (55,753) 28,069
* The depreciation of property, plant and equipment of * Y% - B KRR 3T & B 261,267,000

(= ZF = =4 : 75¥284,540,0007T) &f
ANFEBRR[BERARKEBRIN -

HK$261,267,000 (2023: HK$284,540,000) was included in
“Direct costs and operating expenses” on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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LOSS BEFORE TAX (Continued) 8.

> The amortisation of intangible assets of HK$571,946,000
(2023: HK$611,084,000) was included in “Direct costs and
operating expenses” on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

# These items were included in “direct costs and operating
expenses” on the face of the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 9.
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the vyear,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a),
(b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about

Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

BrERIE 1R (42)

b 18 T2 & 7 848 15571,946,0007T (=
— =4 : B%611,084,0007T) 5t ALR ?,a
mR[EERARKEEERIN -

' ZEFHRBAGABRRRIEERARE
EEMAIA-

EERTETHRAENE

RECEMARRD - FB QA& HI5E383(1)
@O CkHERAT(FERESFZE
B RO FEBEB 2 FRNERTREZETHR
AEBMS T :

2024 2023

—EE —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

BET T BT T

Fees we 991 990

Other emoluments: EMpe -

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R K

B = 2,839 3,779

Discretionary bonuses B 15 14T 1,737 3,342

Pension scheme contributions BRIKRERT S 507 601

Subtotal NG 5,083 7,722

Total @t 6,074 8,712
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 9. EFENFB2ITHAEMSE (&
REMUNERATION (Continued)
2024 —EC-ME
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits Discretionary scheme
in kind bonuses contributions Total
e 2HR BKRE
Be BENR% MisRA TR @zt
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
Executive directors HiTEE
QIAN Xiaodong BEBER(R-_Z-MF
(resigned on 9 February 2024) —ANBET) - - 1,737 - 1,737
LO Kam Fan ERH(M_T-ME
(resigned on 31 March 2024) =A=+—H#EF) - 487 - 183 670
ZHU Fugang (re-designated as KEB(RZTZWE
Chief Executive Officer on ZANBHAER
9 February 2024) TH @ﬁ) - 943 - 127 1,070
WANG Dianer EFR-(RZZ_ME
(appointed on 31 March 2024) =R=+—8
EZf) - 744 - 108 852
HUANG Chaoxiong HHM(RZTZHEF
(appointed on 31 March 2024) =A=1+—8H
EZf) - 665 - 89 754
Subtotal INEE - 2,839 1,737 507 5,083
Non-executive directors FHTES
HUANG Haiging 285 - - - - -
GUO Ying gB(M-_T-NE
(resigned on 29 February 2024) ZAZTHhBEAE) - - - - -
SONG Jian R - - - - -
MAO Jing EF(R-TZmF
(appointed on 31 March 2024) =A=1+—8H
BZE) - - - - -
Subtotal NeF - - - - -
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
CHOW Siu Lui BNZ 330 - - - 330
Philip TSAO EAE(M-_Z_M&E
(resigned on 9 February 2024) ZANBET) 36 - - - 36
YAN Houmin BEER 330 - - - 330
LI Huagiang FER(R_ZT-NE
(appointed on 9 February 2024) —ANBEZA) 295 - - - 295
Subtotal et 991 - - - 991
Total Fob 991 2,839 1,737 507 6,074
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 9. BEENFETHAEMSE (&)

REMUNERATION (Continued)

2023

—E-=F

Salaries,
allowances
and benefits  Discretionary
Fees in kind bonuses
e BWF% MiEEA
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BETT BETT

Pension
scheme
contributions
R
EIR
HK$'000
BT

& D+
HK$'000

BB

Executive directors BiTEE
QIAN Xiaodong BEEFE(RN-_T-NF

(resigned on 9 February 2024) ZANBEFE) = 1,379 887 51 2,317
LO Kam Fan ERH(R_S=ME

(resigned on 31 March 2024) =R=+—HE&HR) = 1,456 1,344 411 3,211
ZHU Fugang (re-designated as KEH(R=F=-mF

Chief Executive Officer on —ANBREE

9 February 2024) THEE) = 944 1,111 139 2,194
Subtotal NG = 3,779 3,342 601 7,722
Non-executive directors FHTES
HUANG Haiging 2B - - - - -
GUO Ying PEMR-T-NF

(resigned on 29 February 2024) ZRAZThBEH) - - - - -
SONG Jian N = = = = =
Subtotal it = = = = =
Independent non-executive BUkHTES

directors
CHOW Siu Lui N 330 - - - 330
Philip TSAO EAE(W-Z-NF

(resigned on 9 February 2024) ZANBEE) 330 = = = 330
YAN Houmin BER 330 - - - 330
Subtotal it 990 = = = 990
Total st 990 3,779 3,342 601 8,712

There was no arrangement under which a director or the
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration

during the year.

ARBNEITIEFNEELTETRAR
AR FRRE LR BRI ZHE -
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
four directors (2023: three directors), details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining one (2023: two)
highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief

executive of the Company are as follows:

10.

hE2EaHMES
FRAREESTHNEERENEES(=ZF
TEFZRER)  BEZHFHFRER
EXHEFI - FRB T —R(ZEZ=%F:
ZHR)UHFARFEEHEETHABZR
BFMEEMNFMEBOT ¢

2024 2023

—E-UE —E-=F

HK$°000 HK$’000

T 5T BT T

Salaries and other emoluments HEREMMSE 928 1,680

Discretionary bonuses I FEAT - 1,272

Pension scheme contributions RIKRFEFT IR 218 345

Total 1Bt 1,146 3,297
The number of the highest paid non-director and non-chief FHNTUTHE 2 IFEERIEEETH

executive employees whose remuneration fell within the AEBESFHMEEMNAZKRLT :

following band is as follows:

HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000

Number of employees

BEAH

2024
—F-NmF

2023
—E-=F

751,000,001 T &

75 #81,500,0007T 1 0

HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000

781,500,001 7T &

75 2,000,0007T 0 2

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
the directors of the Company or any of the highest paid
employees who are not a director of the Company as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

FAAEETEFAARBDESH ML
FARBE R Z &= % B & B ST (E ) B
T ERMARKEE SR MARE B2



11.

INCOME TAX CREDIT

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as
the Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
Nil).

Tax for the PRC operations is charged at the statutory rate
of 25% of the assessable profits under tax rules and
regulations in the PRC. During the year, certain PRC
subsidiaries are subject to tax concessions under the

relevant tax rules and regulations.
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11.

ISR

MR AREREE T -mF+ A=+
B LE 4 B e B0 S BRI ] FE R AL
B A E R GHBE (T =
i) o

PEIRBZ HBEREFEREER AR
RERBBFAEERE25%E - FA -
REBEBERERIOER - ETHENE
NEIZFAREBEES -

2024 2023
—E-MOF —TZ=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT

Current tax — other than Hong Kong NEARIE — HBRIN
Charge for the year AFEEHAX 130,627 142,854

Under/(over)-provision in respect of BEFEREBTIR

prior years (EBFERE) 3,470 (1,259)
Deferred tax (note 27) EIERTE (M 5E27) (307,788) (179,052)

Total tax credit for the year AEREHIBERKPBRE (173,691) (37,457)
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11. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued) 1. PSR L (&)
A reconciliation of the tax credit and accounting loss at BEARERFE HBERCASTTEERE Y
applicable tax rates is as follows: HERWMT

2024 2023
—E4E —ET =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Loss before taxation B 751 il /&5 18 (679,179) (339,288)
Notional tax on profit before taxation, HEARNBBEHGEE
calculated at the rates applicable to profits BEANMERGTE
in the tax jurisdictions concerned A R e =E
HIE (152,716) (63,135)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR R 2 2 RS
2 145,983 158,442
Tax effect of non-taxable income BARRBA BB
2 (14,179) (7,043)
Tax effect of profits entitled to tax concession  #£/ B Eﬁﬁﬂg@i
in the PRC BF MG 2 (173,008) (157,314)
Tax effect of withholding tax on undistributed TR E A B E QR
profits of PRC subsidiaries RO IRER 2 B
B 422 (32,596)
Tax effect of temporary difference not BEFE ﬂiﬁ?&%ﬁ i3
recognised in prior years ER OB E (49,651) —
Under/(over)-provision in respect of prior years BEFEEETR
(FBFEHE) 3,470 (1,259)
Tax losses not recognised RERHIBEE 65,988 65,448
Tax credit FRIg % (173,691) (37,457)




12. DIVIDENDS
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12.

R

2024
—EBEC-mF

HK$°000
BET T

HK$’'000
BT

Dividends attributable to the year: KEERE :
Interim — HK1.4 cents FRH — BREER.4
(2023: HK2.5 cents) per ordinary share BI(ZEZ=%F:
2.57%810) 28,925 51,652
13. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY 13. AR BIEFREE(EFIRER

SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based
on the loss of HK$415,382,000 (2023: HK$301,711,000) for
the year attributable to equity shareholders of the Company,
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
2,066,078,000 (2023: 2,066,078,000) in issue during the
year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share
amounts presented for the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023 in the calculation of diluted loss per share as
there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

BREANEBESENRARA R ESREE
1B A FE BB 415,382,000 (= &
— =4 B EE301,711,000L) A R FRE
B 17 % R AR hn #E T 15 £12,066,078,000 A%
(ZZT— =4 :2,066,078,0000%) 5+ & -

R BESRESHIERN  UEHMEZ5EH
EZE_NNFER-FE_=F+=ZA=+—
BEFEZBRERNEBCEELAR -
THREEZZS-_NMFR=-ZT=F+=
A=t RALFETEABETEIYE Y
Timag o
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14, Y% WBEMKE

Motor
Leasehold vehicles,
improvements, electronic
Plant and  furniture and equipment  Construction
Buildings machinery fixtures  and others in progress

A
BRMEEE.  RIER

#3 BEREE GAREE  RAg  ERIR a5

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000

BETL  EETR  AETR  AETR BNTR BETR

Cost: A :

At 1 January 2024 RZBZMF

—A—AH 2,320,183 3,003,345 192,533 257,269 625,289 6,398,619
Additions ®E 9,918 138,119 15,519 6,053 250,500 420,109
Disposals and write-off & R e (4,512) (4,961) (6,640) (32,544) - (48,657)
Transfers E2E2 94,459 293,757 1,343 18 (389,577) -
Exchange realignment I 5% (70,759) (75,809) (4,067) (3,143) (8,168) (161,946)
At 31 December 2024 RZTZMF

+=A=+—-A 2,349,289 3,354,451 198,688 227,653 478,044 6,608,125

Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZHTERFEEBS
losses:

At 1 January 2024 RZTZMF

ez = 508,780 1,019,802 121,711 152,931 15,414 1,818,638
Charge for the year AEERY 66,549 171,369 30,624 21,959 - 290,501
Impairment losses REERE 173,817 269,858 3,421 2,638 - 449,734
Disposals and write-off & R g (1,332) (4,961) (3,381) (3,883) - (13,557)
Exchange realignment ek (7,083) (39,361) (2,177) (2,282) (247) (51,150)
At 31 December 2024 NZTZF

+-A=+-A 740,731 1,416,707 150,198 171,363 15,167 2,494,166

Net carrying amount: BREFE :

At 31 December 2024 i if:3

+=ZA=+—H 1,608,558 1,937,744 48,490 56,290 462,877 4,113,959
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. %  BENRKRE (B
(Continued)

Motor
Leasehold vehicles,
improvements, electronic
Plant and furniture and equipment  Construction
Buildings machinery fixtures and others in progress

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFL  BETR  BMTR  BMTR  BETR

T

Cost: B :

At 1 January 2023 RZTZ=F

—-A—AH 2,337,272 3,007,371 126,327 262,359 477,971 6,211,300
Additions BE 30,795 43,208 71,153 1,483 207,696 354,335
Disposals and write-off HE R 88 (77) ©) (78) @1) = (179)
Transfers i 12,746 32,254 = - (45,000) -
Exchange realignment EHAZ (60,553) (79,485) (4,869) (6,552) (15,378) (166,837)
At 31 December 2023 RZT==%

+-A=+-H 2,320,183 3,003,345 192,533 257,269 625,289 6,398,619

Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZEMERFERES

losses:
At 1 January 2023 RZT==%

—A—A 217,076 719,677 85,579 130,667 13,812 1,166,811
Charge for the year AEERZ 95,682 164,465 33,337 23,128 - 316,612
Impairment losses HRESR 208,050 161,222 5,812 3,001 2,001 380,086
Disposals and write-off & R 8E (1) @) (14) (21 - (49)
Exchange realignment ek (12,017) (25,559) (3,003) (3,844) (399) (44,822)
At 31 December 2023 R-T-=%F

+=A=+—H 508,780 1,019,802 121,711 152,931 15,414 1,818,638

Net carrying amount: REEE

At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F

+ZA=+—8H 1,811,403 1,983,543 70,822 104,338 609,875 4,579,981
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14,

15.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Details of impairment for the year ended 31 December
2024 are set out in note 17 to the financial statements.

LEASES
The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of
buildings used in its operations. Lump sum payments were
made upfront to acquire the leased land from the owners
with lease terms of 10 to 50 years, and no ongoing
payment will be made under the terms of these land leases.
Leases of buildings generally have lease terms between 3
and 30 vyears. Generally, the Group is restricted from
assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the

Group.

14.

15.

W% - BB L&E (&)

BE_ZE-_NME+_A=+—HILFEZ
FEFBIHN S HREWE17 -

HE
FEBEREEA

AEBAESREBHEFETERANETE
BEZEREMBEESD -AKRBEEFD
—RMERTBM R HEAANERER S+
FERTENEELH MBRBEZF i
MEZ G BRIELFEENR - BFHE
EHBA-—RA=FE2=1F - EXL £&
BARRAAKEAIINTERZLDTHEH
HEEE -
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15. LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

15. F& (&)
REBEBERBA ()

(a)  Right-of-use assets (@ EHEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use REBEFERAEEE RAMEREFA
assets and the movements during the year are as BB -

follows:

Prepaid land
lease
Buildings payments Total
FEfT L ity
B3 HERE wmaE
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
BT IT BT BT
As at 1 January 2023 RZEZ=F
—H—H 17,376 601,978 619,354
Additions HE 10,741 — 10,741
Depreciation provided FAEFRTE
during the year (4,641) (18,298) (22,939)
Impairment losses FEEE — (65,423) (65,423)
Exchange realignment ME W R (318) (11,809) (12,127)
As at 31 December 2023 HR_E-=%F
and 1 January 2024 +t-HA=1t—~
RZ_ZT_mF
—H—H 23,158 506,448 529,606
Depreciation provided FRBFIRITE
during the year (4,651) (18,554) (23,205)
Impairment losses FEiEEE - (82,825) (82,825)
Exchange realignment b 5 2 (214) (4,880) (5,094)
As at 31 December 2024 R=-F—PF
+=—A=+—8 18,293 400,189 418,482
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15. LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

@

©)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Details of impairment for the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in note 17 to the
financial statements.

Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the

movements during the year are as follows:

15. & (&)

REBEEREBEA (A)
@ ‘ABEE(E)

®)

BHE_Z-_NF+-_A=+—HIHF
B2 EBFBHNMIEHRERME7

™~

2024 2023
—E-MEF ZEZ=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZEREE 26,095 19,562
New leases FETHEE - 10,741
Accretion of interest recognised during FANSRERF L
the year 944 1,067
Payments R (5,020) (4,933)
Exchange realignment ME W SR (235) (342)
Carrying amount as at 31 December R+=—A=+—8z2
FREE 21,784 26,095
Analysed into: DI
Current portion BN EREE 5> 2,890 4,080
Non-current portion JERNEREB > 18,894 22,015

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in
note 37 to the financial statements.

MEa B BBERD TR BRE
B EE37HKR R -



15. LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)  Lease liabilities (Continued)
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15. & (&)
KEBERBEBA ()
b HEBREE)

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to RERZFPERACEERBSBHOT -
leases are as follows:

2024 2023
—E_MF —E_=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
Interest on lease liabilities HEARZAE 944 1,067
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets fFHEEERTEE 23,205 22,939
Expense relating to short-term leases not AEEHAENHL
included in the measurement of lease Rt AHEEET=
liabilities 6,771 10,717
Total amount recognised in profit or loss HRIEEZFHERZEEHE 30,920 34,723
The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note HEZRES R HQERM S RERMT
31(c) to the financial statements. 31(c)# & -
16. GOODWILL 16. BH2&

2024 2023
—EE —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$’'000
BEFT  BETR

Cost and net carrying amount at 1 January

Impairment losses recognised (note 8)

Exchange realignment

R—A—BZRANER

REEE 130,651 134,207
ERREEER

(Pff7E8) (63,697) —
[E 33 & (1,273) (3,556)

Cost at 31 December, net of accumulated
impairment

Nt+—A=+—82
BAE - Bk RE
FEB 65,681 130,651
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16. GOODWILL (Continued)

16. & (&)

2024

—z-mE
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT T BETT

At 31 December R+=-—A=+—8H
Cost BAE 143,469 144,742
Accumulated impairment RErFEE (77,788) (14,091)
Net carrying amount BREFEE 65,681 130,651
Impairment testing of goodwill BE 2 FEEAE

BRI AR AETFRBRAEBELE G

The carrying amounts of goodwill acquired through business
relevant

combinations have been allocated to the
cash-generating units (“CGUs”) of the individual companies
for impairment testing, which are summarised as follows:

W E=EHEReELEM((REeE
B zEEBZERERRAT

2024 2023
—E_ME —E =4
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Environmental remediation segment: RIFEE D EL
Everbright Ecological Remediation (Jiangsu) HREREBE(CI®H)F
Limited (formerly known as Suntime AR (ATiE EER
Environmental Remediation CO., Ltd) (note i) BIEEBRAT)
(M &ED) 65,681 66,748
Hazardous and solid waste treatment segment: /& fRE M EE R E 2 &6 :
EB Greentech Technology (Wuxi) Limited* HREBIRIRBHR
(note i) (fm25) AR A A
(B i) - 63,903
65,681 130,651

* For identification purpose only



16. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The recoverable amounts of the CGU as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 are determined based on value-in-use
calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a five-year period. The pre-tax discount rates of
18.5% (2023: 10.0%) have been used for the value-in-use
calculations, and cash flows beyond the five-year period
were extrapolated using a growth rate of 2% (2023: 2.3%)
per annum. In the opinion of the directors, no impairment
loss has been recognised for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2028.

(i) The recoverable amounts of the CGU as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 are determined based on value-in-use
calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a five-year period. The pre-tax discount rates of
8.3% (2023: 10.0%) have been used for the value-in-use
calculations, and cash flows beyond the five-year period
were extrapolated using a growth rate of 2% (2023: 2.3%)
per annum. In the opinion of the directors, HK$63,697,000
of impairment losses (2023: HK$NIl) has been recognised for
the years ended 31 December 2024.

As a result of the poor operating performance of

Zhangjiagang Gelin Environmental Engineering Co., Ltd
(“Zhangjiagang Gelin”) and challenging market conditions, a
full impairment loss of HK$14,747,000 in respect of the
goodwill of Zhangjiagang Gelin was recognised in the

Group’s profit or loss in prior years.

Management determined the budgets based on service
agreements governing the relevant operations. The discount
rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to
the relevant segments.

Key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations of the
relevant CGUs
operating costs, terminal growth rate and discount rates.

include revenue annual growth rate,
Revenue is projected with a processing volume at growth
rates per annum over the projection periods with reference
to historical pattern and management expectation and
business plan. Operating expenses are expected to increase
at the long term inflation rate. The discount rates used are
the pre-tax rate that reflect the current market assessments
of the time value of money and the specific risks relating to

the relevant CGUs.
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16.

2 (E)
BEZHEBENR (&
B 5

0] RoB-NMER - TB-=F+-"F=+—
Az AR EEEM 2 ATWRE S5 TIIR
BERBENBELABET - ZZTEH AR
BEEEEZEZATFHYKBEZRE
METER - ARFTEFEREBEBEZBANE
R AE135%(ZFE - =4 :10.0%) * i
BRFH 2 BERSs I NFERER2% (=
To=F23%)HEE-EFZREHE
ZEWFERZE_=F+A=+—H
IEFEIWEERFEIBES -

(ii) RZEZWNER T -_=F+=-_A=+—
EZE%ﬁiF$$MZTW@ >FB TR
ﬁﬁ%ﬁ RTEEREE c RS E AR

RERECRAZATHYKEE RS
mgﬁw BRAEFEREE AR
REBI%(ZE-=F :10.0%) ' MiBA
TERZRERETIUERERI% (=T
TZF 23R EHE-EERA BHEZ
T _NE+ A=+ HIFERERFEE
B 18 7% #63,697,0007C (- T — = £ ¢
) o

HRRFBBMIRBETIRARAR (KRR
B EERERERTHRE T M
B AEERNBAEFEABETERER
AEMzBERAzEREERER
14,747,0007T °

EEERBREAMERZRFHE -
EAREE - FTAMBRERHA - RIRT
HEEMD BE NS ERR -

HHReEAEMNEREENE AR
ANEREREFEREFIERE  EENX
AR KABRERBEIRE o SR HRUKEIR
REENFEREZ2BEERARERE
FEHAREBFETRR - KL ERAERK
BREBBRXER AEANBREXRR

B B T S 5 B B 0 A 1 R B A
WIS A E A B AEE AR B
JER
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17.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

17. B EE

Integrated Hazardous and
biomass  solid waste
utilisation treatment
project project Total
operating operating Backlog Computer intangible
rights rights Licences  Technologies contracts software assets
ENEGENA RRRERRE
BEEERE EREER HR L ERNG EVRELE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Gt — ¥ — o 3 —
j T
31 December 2024 “B-ME+ZBZ1-B
Cost: KA
At 1 January 2024 RWZZ2-M§-A—-H 12,112,604 3,617,206 127,478 13,373 2,889 27,510 15,901,060
Additions #E 169,444 - - - - 7,624 177,068
Exchange realignment ERAR (195,921) (57,859) (2,039) (214) (46) (697) (256,776)
At 31 December 2024 RZBE-WF+=A=+-H 12,086,127 3,559,347 125,439 13,159 2,843 34,437 15,821,352
Accumulated amortisation and 2 BHREEEE
impairment losses:
At 1 January 2024 W=ZE=mF-A—-H 2,189,279 806,798 64,493 8,358 2,889 9,124 3,080,941
Charge for the year TEERX 414,920 155,826 13,612 1,666 - 3,803 580,827
Impairment losses REEE - 578,680 - - - - 578,680
Exchange realignment ERAR (40,338) (22,321) (1,206) (155) (46) (96) (64,162)
At 31 December 2024 RZE-mE+=A=1-H 2,563,861 1,518,983 76,899 9,869 2,843 12,831 4,185,286
Net carrying amount: FEFE:
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-MFE+=A=+-H 9,522,266 2,040,364 48,540 3,290 - 21,606 11,636,066
31 December 2023 ZBZZE+ZA=1-A
Cost: KA
At 1 January 2023 WZZE==%-A-H 11,834,000 3,672,973 130,947 13,737 2,967 18,974 15,673,598
Additions £E 564,264 42,240 = = = 9,029 615,533
Exchange realignment ERAE (285,660) (98,007) (3,469) (364) (78) (493) (388,071)
At 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=f+=-A=1-H 12,112,604 3,617,206 127,478 13,373 2,889 27,510 15,901,060
Accumulated amortisation and 2ABERARER:
impairment losses:
At 1 January 2023 WZZ2Z=%-A—-H 1,839,897 409,450 52,225 6,869 2,967 6,305 2,317,713
Charge for the year AEERX 404,928 205,035 13,885 1,700 - 2,873 628,421
Impairment losses fiEEE = 210,144 = = = - 210,144
Exchange realignment ERAE (55,546) (17,831) (1,617) @11) (78) (54) (75,337)
At 31 December 2023 R=B-=F+-A=1-H 2,189,279 806,798 64,493 8,358 2,889 9124 3,080,941
Net carrying amount; REFE:
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=f+-A=1-R 9,923,325 2,810,408 62,985 5,015 - 18,386 12,820,119




17.

(@)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes:

In light of the unexpected market conditions and deteriorating
performance of certain projects in the hazardous and solid
waste treatment segment during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023, property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, goodwill and intangible assets included in
CGUs which have been identified with indicators of
impairment in the hazardous and solid waste segment as at
the end of reporting period were reviewed for impairment
based on the individual CGUs level. These assets have been
allocated to individual CGUs. The operating plants under
each service concession agreement was identified as a CGU.
The recoverable amount of each CGU to which these assets
were allocated was determined based on value in use
calculations.

Based on the recoverable amount calculations, impairment
losses of HK$449,734,000 (2023: HK$380,086,000),
HK$82,825,000 (2023: HK$65,423,000), HK$63,697,000
(2023: Nil) and HK$578,680,000 (2023: HK$210,144,000) on
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, goodwill
and intangible assets in the hazardous and solid waste
treatment business, respectively, has been recognised in
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2024. The
aggregate recoverable amount of the relevant CGUs as at 31
December 2024 amounted to HK$2,319,696,000 (2023:
HK$1,200,957,000).

Key assumptions used in recoverable amount calculations of
the relevant CGUs of the hazardous and solid waste
treatment segment include revenue annual growth rate,
operating costs and discount rates. Revenue projections
represent the projected hazardous waste treatment volume
and the latest hazardous waste treatment fee. Both are
projected to increase for expected efficiency improvements
and expected market development. The volume growth is
capped at the optimal waste treatment capacity. Operating
expenses are expected to increase at the long term inflation
rate. The discount rates applied to the cash flow projections
range from 8.1% to 10.8% (2023: 9.3% to 16.2%). The
growth rate beyond the forecast period applied to the
projections range is 2% (2023: range from 2% to 3%).
Assumptions used are made with reference to historical data
of existing projects, observable market data of comparable
companies and industry reports, and management’s
expectation for the market development. The discount rates
used are the pre-tax rates that reflect the current market
assessments of the time value of money and the specific
risks relating to the relevant CGUSs.

As at 31 December 2024, there were certain projects that
had not commenced operation, the amount of the project
operating rights of these projects was HK$98,888,000 (2023:
HK$204,401,000). These intangible assets in biomass
utilisation segments that had not commenced operation at
the end of the reporting period are reviewed for impairment
by management. Based on the result of impairment
assessment, no impairment loss has been made on these
intangible assets that had not commenced operation for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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17.

(@

BE
g

E (&)

ERBE_ZT_MER-T-=F+_f
=t— Etifﬁr&lf ENEHET
B HBREUTRR TSR A R EED

frElt - RIS BRTER R K E R
ENHERBRIRNASELELTOY
X BERREG EREEE HELE
WEETREBERR S E L BAIKTFET
RIERE - ZTEECEDRZEMNAS
ELEA - RBFIHEEEHAESAEAT
MEEmEREN A MRS ELEM -
ZEBEMOENESEReELEMNA
Weml e g0 BIREE B EEELAE

-
E o

BHE—_Z-_NNF+-_A=+—HILFE -
RN SEAEE CEREEERES
EBOME BELKE FHRELSE-

AEMETLEENREEBES N ABE
449,734,000 (Z T = =F : B
380,086,0007T) - /& 82,825,000 (=
T~ =4 B #65,423,0000T) B
%w7mwﬂ:§:i¢4M&%m
578,680,000 L (ZE == : B
moAmmmww Bt ABR R _F
:E¢+:HE+—Evﬁ%ﬁﬁéiﬁ
{7 B AT Y2 [0 48 5A 5 78 15 2,319,696,000

TT(ZZF = =% : ##%1,200,957,0007T) °

EEMEEEE D DHBRSEEEMDN
TW@%%J &¢%ﬁmﬁﬁﬁ&@%
W FHRER  SERARIIE o g5

BRI EEREERRTEERE
B o BT E BN RIR S M B E T 5 3
B MEEIGIE - BENREENRE
BEN B ER - TERTEENABEE RE
PREMIEH - EARB S REFEAMEER
REE N T8A%E10.8% (T - =4 :
9.3% = 16.2%) ° i F7 7 78 8 &5 & #1788
HEEERERAE2HW(ZEZZF : N T72%
E3%) - FIEAMRBREI2BRBEEN
FEER - AIELRARN A BEMSH
BERTEREREEBHMSRENTEL
{EL - FTE AR IR R AR E R T I5 Y
BEEGEEENTEREEERSELS
NEBENETRBROTAIFE -

R-ZE-_NE+-—A=+—H ' &THEA
WARIGEE  ZEBEEMNBELLEES
B 475 1508,888,000t (Z T - =4 : &
#204,401,0007T) - B EHHREHR M
RAEABENEYEFNBSBHNELEE
HITTRBAG BREFETHER &
BT ONER-T=F+ A =+—
ALLFERAMBEBENZEBEEER
FTIRFEIEEIE -



242 China Everbright Greentech Limited
FENRKGZERRER AT

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf % & & K &

18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18. &1 EER

2024
—E-meE

HK$’000 HK$’000
BEFT BT

Share of net assets IR EE T 32,191 31,906

Particulars of the Group’s joint ventures are as follows: AEBEEPEZFBLOT :

Proportion of ownership interest

BERHELAH
Place of Group’s
incorporation Particulars of effective Held by the ~ Held by a
Name of joint ventures and business paid-up capital interest Company  subsidiary Principal activities
EMALR rEE2 = |
RELEZR S BHERAFE ERER MALAEH BE IEEEK
EBG Veolia Environmental Services (Changzhou) ~ PRC RMB110,000,000 50% - 50% Design, construction, operation and maintenance
Co., Ltd. of hazardous waste incineration project
RZRUBRERS (M) BRAR ikl AR%110,000,0007T 50% = 50% it Bt EEREELERNAER
EBG K. Wah Solid Waste Treatment Holdings Hong Kong HK$10,000 51% - 51%  Investment holding
Limited
AEEEREARERAR Bk 7110,0007T 51% = 51% RERK
Xiao County Guangmin Energy Limited* PRC RMBS6, 160,000 49% - 49%  Design, construction, operation and maintenance
of heat generation project
BEKREBERAR hE AR¥6,160,0007 49% = 49% Fif Bl EERAEEHMER
Kellon Concept Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 30% - 50% Photovoltaic energy
ERAEARAR & 7#10,0007C 30% - 50% XHKEE
Xuzhou Xinguang Greentech Renewable PRC RMB62,500,000 40% - 40% Design, construction, operation and maintenance
Resource Limited* of end-of-life tyres projects
BT EERBEEERERAR PE AR 62,500,007 40% = 40% Rit BE EERGEEESRLAR

* For identification purpose only

All the joint ventures are unlisted corporate entities whose EGEREARILMEAER IR
quoted market prices are not available. TIZMIE ©
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18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 18. & &R (&)

/|
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial TEREMTIEBENEANAEEREG E D
information of the Group’s joint ventures that are not (¥MEBTKER

individually material:

2024

—E-4E — T =4
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Share of profits of joint ventures FiiE & &b ERF 689 769

Share of total comprehensive income of joint Fiih & & tEE2EK S
ventures M 285 (1,518)

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s REBREEREL
interests in joint ventures HEmRREE 32,191 31,906
19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 19. Bt QRIS

2023
—ENF —E =4

HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T

Share of net assets FEIhEEF5 225,590 234,408
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19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 10. Bt& N Ak (&
Particulars of the associates are as follows: Bg N Nal 2 BT

Proportion of ownership interest

REERLA
Place of Group’s
incorporation Particulars of effective  Held by the Held by a
Name of associates and business paid-up capital interest Company  subsidiary Principal activities
ERRIR B R AR
BENRER EE3 BHERAFE AR ARE BE TEER
Anging Jinghuan Green Environment Solid Waste ~ PRC RMB202,000,000 34% - 34% Design, construction, operation and maintenance
Comprehensive Disposal Co., Ltd. (‘Anging of hazardous and solid waste treatment
Solid Waste”) project (note i)
REFRGEREEARGAREERAA HE AR #202,000,0007C 34% = 34% Rit B ELREELEREEREER
(T=ZEERE]) (B i)
Nanjing Liuhe Jasmine Green Energy Company PRC RMB160,000,000 44.1% - 44.1%  Financing, construction, operation maintenance
Limited™ (‘Nanjing Liuhe”) and management in urban household waste
business services and power generation,
transmission and supply (note i)
BRAARAGEEEERAR HhE AR %160,000,0007C 44.1% = 441% BHEFIREERBREE  GEREEEKH
(RAE)D BE 2R EE  BENEE (W)

* For identification purpose only

Notes: 5T

0] Anging Solid Waste was established by the Group with Beijing () AEEELFIRIEGR AR (LB E AR
Environment Limited in the PRC, the other investor to this 2B —WEE)NP BT EEEE A
associate, to enhance the harmless disposal ability of MAEZETHERENESEEES -

hazardous waste of Anging City.

Anging Solid Waste is an unlisted corporate entity whose ZRERE/IFLTEAESR  WEMISH
quoted market price is not available. & o
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19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 19. B & R AlHEm (&)

Notes: (Continued) MEE - (3%)

(i) Nanjing Liuhe was established by the Group with Nanjing iy AEH Eﬁiﬁ/?\/\mfaiiﬁﬁﬁﬁj(ﬁtﬁﬁ“
Liuhe Environment Company Limited in the PRC, the other RAZE—HEH)RPEKZE RS
investor to this associate, to improve the environmental = Mﬂﬁzﬁi)ﬁf“'féi CIREERIBEARRE
quality, enhance efficiency in the construction and operation EE&L CBERE  ARERERTAER
of environmental facilities, and to effectively alleviate the EERIREIEMENE (BB - RET &
investment (financing), design, construction, operation, BB BENBRIE-

maintenance and delivery work relating to household waste
treatment in Liuhe District, Nanjing.

Nanjing Liuhe is an unlisted corporate entity whose quoted MRANERAIELMEAETR  WEMIS®R
market price is not available. ()
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial TEREMIWIEBENERNASEEBEE R
information of the Group’s associates that are not A IE AR BF S5 B K

individually material:

2024 2023
—ES-NE —E=4F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Share of (losses)/profits of associates BT B & A 7] (&518),

&7 (5,135) 895

Share of total comprehensive income of FrifieE ARz E2E
associates U 5 48 %8 (8,819) (5,475)

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s IS (B A B % NAEZ

interests in associates S AREE 225,590 234,408
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20.

21.

INVENTORIES 20. 78

2024 2023
—E-UE — T =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T T IT
Raw materials and operating supplies RM B K E & A 328,436 307,634
Finished goods RIRK G 49,376 57,025
Total AT 377,812 364,659

CONTRACT ASSETS 21. BHEE

2024 2023
—E-mE =%
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 M T 5T ST T
Service concession assets RIS EEE E @) 6,494,201 6,744,070
Unbilled renewable energy tariff RAZEZERBERER
subsidy BEMAL (o) 3,106,104 2,495,034
Environmental remediation contract RIBEBEGNEE
assets (c) 402,969 416,237
10,003,274 9,655,341
Loss allowance BB (10,321) (26,989)
9,992,953 9,628,352
Less: Non-current portion e FEENHAER
— Service concession assets — RIEFEIIEERE
BE (5,961,984) (6,203,248)
— Environmental remediation contract — RIFEEA L
assets BE (152,128) (154,601)
(6,114,112) (6,357,849)
Current portion B EAES 5 3,878,841 3,270,503
Contract assets arising from FE1T EL AR T R T A &
performance under construction ZHRBENEESD
contracts in connection with EXNENEE -
service concession arrangements, Bt AEREE]
which are included in “Intangible (PfF7E17)
assets” (note 17) 98,888 204,401




21.

CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for contract assets
are as follows:
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BREE(E)

21. &
AEHBEBERENEFSBEROT

2024 2023
—E-lmE

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

At beginning of year F 1 26,989 7,869
(Reversal)/recognition of credit losses, net (Bm) fEREEEE

R (16,447) 19,660

Exchange realignment BE 5 5B (221) (540)

At end of year FR 10,321 26,989

Notes:

(@) Service concession assets arose from the Group’s revenue

from construction services under certain BOT and BOO
arrangements and bear interest at rates ranging from 4.65%
to 6.60% (2023: 4.65% to 6.60%) per annum as at
31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, HK$6,391,974,000 (2023:
HK$6,692,920,000) relates to certain BOT and BOO
arrangements with operations commenced.

Pursuant to the BOT and BOO arrangements, the Group
receives no payment from the local governments in Mainland
China (the “Grantors”) during the construction period and
instead receives service fees for the Group’s operation
services when relevant services are rendered during the
operating periods.

The service concession assets are not yet due for payment
and will be settled by the service fees to be received during
the operating periods of the arrangements. Details of the
service concession arrangements are disclosed in note 39 to
the financial statements.

All of the current portion of service concession assets is
expected to be recovered within one year.

GEE

@ BREFHCEREAEELEASRERES
FBOTKBOOZHE AR EiE RIS WE -
R-E-_MWE+-_/F=+—BENF
4.65%E6.60%MFFEFB(ZTE ==
L 465%E6.60%) °

RZZE-ZWNF+=—A=+—0 " ' BHEHAR
BLHETBOTRBOOR AR 2 A A
B #6,391,974,000C (ZFE = =4 : B
6,692,920,0007T) °

RIFEBOT RBOOZ #F - AEE N EREHRA

N AP BEAREE BB ([RFEA D WE
FIE - mAERE R AR AR R
FAAN SR B A E S RS WEURTS & -

RIS EEEE WA BSM Wi
BRZETHMNELHRRIMAN RIS EE
5o RBFHFFEERLHFBRIBRE
B 5EQOH 55 ©

RIS R E A E 2 PrE AV HIED ) TRt
R—FRYKE -
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21.

CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) The balance represents government on-grid renewable energy
tariff subsidy receivables for certain integrated biomass
utilisation projects which commenced operations and arose
from the Group’s revenue from operations. The amounts will
be billed and settled upon the completion of government
administrative procedures pursuant to notices jointly issued
by the Ministry of Finance, the National Development and
Reform Commission and the National Energy Administration
of the PRC.

(c) The balance arose from performance under environmental
remediation contracts. Such contracts include payment
schedules which require stage payments over the service
periods once milestones are reached.

The expected credit loss is evaluated at each reporting date
using the probability of default approach to measure
the
measurement of the expected credit losses of the contract

expected credit losses. The provision rates for
assets are with reference to the credit ratings assigned on
the respective provinces where the counterparties belong to
and the forward-looking factors to reflect the effect of the
external economic environment. The provision rates of
contract assets are based on geographical regions of
various customer segments with similar loss patterns. The
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the
time value of money and
information that is available at the reporting date about past

events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic

reasonable and supportable

conditions.

21.

BHEE (&)
sk« ()

b) MEHRAETRABENEYESFANAR
B2 WS EA R AR R B B AL
RESBAREEZEWE - FRED R
HE - ARERNNEZES  BERER
BEE B MV BATRBTTRTFER
ZHREEEREERRKD -

© HAHABTRESEAOMEL - ZFE
DEERERREAREDE T 2R
BIZA D BN RO SRk E &)

EHEEERENEREAHNEAEOMEX
AEHE - AT ETRHEEER - AREEN
BHEEBEEAENRERNI2EXRGY
FATB A (0 B AT ARUA B SR R S BR A8
REFENMNEERREE - ANEER
BEIREZEABRUBRREANERSD
M BN EFE o KT H RS R N
R RIEREBEEAMRNBESMSH
= AR B R SR AR AR L RO TROR 2 R
SEHHAESNEER AR -
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21. CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued) 21. BHWEE (&)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk TXHINEBAEBEENWEEZEERR
exposure on the Group’s contract assets: pa-vo
2024 2023
—E-mEF —T-=%F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T Nk
Expected credit loss rate TEHEEREL X 0.10% 0.28%
Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) REREE(BEToT) 10,003,274 9,655,341
Expected credit losses (HK$’000) THHEEBE
(B¥FT) 10,321 26,989
The Group’s credit policy with contract assets is disclosed REBEBREGNEENEEBRRRUBR

in notes 2.4 and 37 to the financial statements. R FE2.4ANBTHE -
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22. DEBTORS, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS

China Everbright Greentech Limited

HEXREERRBR AR

Debtors, net of loss allowances

K IR FROA

FEUHRTK - NRR &R

2024

—2_MlEF

HK$’000
BET T

22. RUWERF - A EUEIAE - e

—E-=F
HK$’000
BT T

B 6,458,757 7,854,321
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments Hi gl sIE ~ mE Kk
SEANE O 852,386 947,416
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries S S NGIE ] 3,838 3,053
Amounts due from joint ventures UL & & FRIE 17,787 50,301
7,332,768 8,855,091
Less: Non-current portion W SEBNHAER
— Other receivables, deposits and — HibpEUskIE -
prepayments ek
TE IR (348,537) (391,012)
Current portion BVEA &R 6,984,231 8,464,079

An ageing analysis of the debtors, based on the date of
invoice (or date of revenue recognition, if earlier) and net of

REZAH (RS EREH(UREER
%)) FHFEXL MR E R G - BRI R

loss allowance as at the end of the reporting period is as HFHRZIRERDTOAT
follows:
2024 2023
—S-E —E =4
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT T ke
Within 1 month TER—MEA 569,029 565,980
More than 1 month but within 2 months BR—EAETEZR
A fiE A 175,773 201,362
More than 2 months but within 4 months BEMEAETZR
Y& A 338,905 356,538
More than 4 months but within 7 months BBEEEABETZR
+@EA 371,544 465,813
More than 7 months but within 13 months BBEEEABTZR
+=M@A 681,164 850,494
More than 13 months iR+ =18 A 4,322,342 5,414,134
6,458,757 7,854,321
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22. DEBTORS, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 22. JEURBET ~ HfhfEW 1A -~ 124

AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Debtors are mainly due immediately within 90 days from the
date of billing. Further details on the Group’s credit policy
and concentrations of credit risk arising from customers are
set out in notes 2.4 and 37.

The amounts due from fellow subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and are expected to be recognised as
expenses within one year.

As at 31 December 2023, included in the amounts due
from joint ventures are loans to joint ventures of
RMB23,500,000 (equivalent to HK$25,563,000), which are
unsecured, interest-bearing at 125% of the Loan Prime Rate
(“LPR”) in the PRC and recoverable in 2024. Management
assessed that there was significant doubt on collection on
cash balance and accordingly, credit loss of the loans was
fully recognised during the year ended 31 December 2024.

All of the current portion of the above balances were
expected to be recovered or recognised as expenses within
one year.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount (net of loss
allowance) of debtors at amortised cost and at fair value
through other comprehensive income are HK$1,725,677,000
(2023: HK$2,181,288,000) and HK$4,733,080,000 (2023:
HK$5,673,033,000), respectively.

KIERFRIR ()

RURERETBHEZHREFNATHAL
B2 - ARAKREEERRAEFEL
MEERRETNE - PHBENME24
%37 e

ERFARMBRRARESEER 28R
B —FARRA -

RZEBE-_=ZF+=—A=+—RH R&E&DL
¥RHEMNERARK23,500,0007T (FHER
78 25,563,00070) i AL A & D ER
B ZEERAEER  RRBRERTSE®
BFIZ([LPR))M125%:t B AAT R = F
ZFRE - BEEE MRS G E
GHEERSE  ARRBE-T-_NF+=
A=+ —BLEFERHEERZEEREE
K18 -

FtiEsm B B O BHE R —F A
W ER RS

R-ZZE-_WNE+-—A=+—08  ZEHEK
At E RIEA R EF AE M2 E I8 E
WEER Z BREE (NBREEEE) 5B AE
#1,725,677,000c (ZE =4 : H K
2,181,288,0007T) K& 7% #4,733,080,000 7T
— T~ =4 : $B¥#5,673,033,0007T) °
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22.

DEBTORS, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

The expected credit loss from government authorities is
evaluated at each reporting date using the probability of
default approach to measure expected credit losses which,
except for customers with known financial difficulties or
significant doubt on collection, they are assessed
individually for impairment allowance. The provision rates are
referenced to the credit ratings of comparables with
published credit ratings. As at 31 December 2024, the
probability default rates and loss given default rates for
debtors at amortised costs and at fair value through other
comprehensive income were estimated to be ranged from
0.06% to 7.83% (2023: 0.05% to 5.80%) and 59.14% to
60.36% (2023: 53.10% to 64.90%),
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the
time value of money and reasonable and supportable

respectively. The

information that is available at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions. Debtors are written off (either partially or in full)
to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery.
This is generally the case when the Group determines that
the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off. The expected credit loss from non-
government authorities is evaluated at each reporting date
using the provision matrix approach.

The movements in the loss allowance for debtors are as
follows:

22, MEUERFR - HA EINFIA -« &

K FANFRR ()

B #EANEREEBERS @RS A H
FEREOBEEATG  UAr2BHEEE
B BREABVBRESIHKREEARE
MmEFN - e @R EFEERE - BiE
EN2ZEAMEATROATELRAR
WERILEEBEET R_T_MNE+_-A
=+ —H REHERAREAREBEFAR
2 ERENERRIN BN ERELD
BEREDFIHEFNF0.06%E7.83% (ZF
— =% :0.05%%5.80%) &59.14% %
60.36% (== = = 4F : 53.10% £64.90% )
Z2H - BETERMSIAETMELR - £
BEREEMRREAHAISZE@BES
- BRIBEARRREEERBAZEE
BEKEBEZER - BUIERFAGAEERA
BBl E AR T AMGE (o280 - 1t
BRBEEAESERTEBALBEEESK
WARBREETEHRESREEERE TH
HWeeB - FRNKENTEREEEER
EwE B HE AR BB AT -

MR R B R AR T

2024 2023

—FE-MEF —EZ=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

At beginning of year FH) 171,616 108,711
Recognition of credit losses, net BRIEEBEFH 28,599 66,909
Exchange realignment ME W S (3,439) (4,004)
At end of year FR 196,776 171,616




22. DEBTORS, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS

AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and credit loss for debtors:

As at 31 December 2024
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22. JERUWERF - A EIEIR - B E
R IaAS 5RO (&)

TRERAHEAKEREERZEERR
RIEEBRZER

R-ZE-_NMFE+=-A=+—8H

More than

1 year
Within but within

1 year VAL
BA-fF

BRZR

i

Expected credit loss rate BHEEBBLE

Estimated total gross carrying amount ~ RE B E T 2R EE
at default (HK$'000) B (B8 T

Credit loss (HK$'000) FEEER(BETT)

0.3% 2.6% 3.2% 3.9% 3.0%

904,271 1,627,721 1,311,940 2,811,601 6,655,533
2,969 42,291 41,508 110,008 196,776

As at 31 December 2023

RZE-_=F+=-A=+—H

More than

1 year

Within -~ but within

Current 1 year 2 years

HBR—F

LR BAER

O M
Expected credit loss rate BHEEEBRLX 1.3% 1.9% 2.0% 2.6% 2.1%

Estimated total gross carrying amount ~ FE B M AR EE

at default (HK$'000) RE(E%TT) 1,190,980 1,904,194 1,702,008 3,227,855 8,025,937

Credit loss (HK$'000) FEER(E%TI)

15,433 36,631 34,690 84,862 171,616

The increase in loss allowance of debtors at amortised cost
and at fair value through comprehensive income in 2024
and 2023 are mainly attributable to increase in the ageing
profile of debtors’ balances, increase in credit risk of aged
overdue balances and increase in the gross carrying
amount after the settlement and origination of new
receivables.

ZECMER T = FREEK R R IR
AREFAZEBERE 2 B ER A E
BRELSNMHDEEHREBAGLHIERR
N - BR e 8 HA A eR A0 15 AR R B 38 0 K2 R
45 T EE R JE W ERTE 18 AR TE AR (E 5 A0
e
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23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED DEPOSITS

23.

Be MR

TEEY M ERFR

2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=4F
Notes HK$’°000 HK$’000
Ff 5 BET T ok
Cash and bank balances R MIRTTE 8% 1,602,969 2,012,696
Time deposits and pledged bank EHGFERREERRT
deposits TR 70,747 366,087
Subtotal NET 1,673,716 2,378,783
Less: Pledged bank deposits A BEEARITER (@) (13,981) (47,361)
Time deposits with maturity TF R AR B = (8 A
period over three months 2 E BT (24,084) (22,844)
Cash and cash equivalents RekBFEEEY (o) 1,635,651 2,308,578
Notes: ik
(@)  Pledged bank deposits are mainly pledged to secure certain @ EEEARTEREIZCRFEALREESE

bank loans of the Group (note 25) and are pledged to banks
for the issuance of guarantees by the banks to the Grantors
in respect of the specific performance of the duties by the
Group under certain service concession agreements.

Included in “Cash and cash equivalents” are deposits of
HK$76,606,000 (2023: HK$66,763,000) placed with a bank,
which is a fellow subsidiary of the Group, as at
31 December 2024.

TIRITER (M5E25) 2 BMm

AR B

ETRITHAREES TIRE R 2%
BT 2 EROE EMAREAELE
R MEERTHRRT -

b [RekBReZEYISEN
‘1— A=+—BHERR—MH

B R RNEBLQ

66,763,0007T) °

iET
IR
76,606,000t (Z & = = F :

AT F
T(BARE
s
7



23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

PLEDGED DEPOSITS (Continued)

Pledged bank deposits and deposits with banks earn
interest at the respective time deposit rates and are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”)
amounted to HK$1,551,246,000 (2023: HK$2,309,572,000).
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for
varying periods of between one day and three months
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term time
deposit rates. The bank balances and time deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.
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23.

Be AT SEYNREEREFK
(&)

BEEMRITERLRITFREEBEE T
REERMBAE X ERAREEBRFAER
HA M08 W0 R0 8% 2 IRTT o

RBEHRR  AEEUARE(TARE])
FEZESRERRITESR BEE
1,651,246,000 L (ZE == F : B
2,309,572,0007T) ° AR 8E B B H K
HmE o A - RIEPBEKECHMNEE R
) RCERE - SERGEEERE) &
SEEF B BERELCEINEER ZIRITH
ANREE H ik Bt B -

RITREWFHEERAAE  MFBE
ERBERTGFABAESXREE - RFEA
SEZAEREHRME - EHERER
ZEFANF—HRE=EATE » LA
B2 B 7 KB R RELH B - RITAEER
REMERDERREERF BT Y &
BHIRCERZIRTT
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24. CREDITORS, OTHER PAYABLES AND

ACCRUED EXPENSES

24. JEATHERFR - EAD A RIA K B at
g

2024 2023
—E_ME —ET-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 BET T BT T
Creditors FET AR K
— third parties —f=5 0] 1,310,870 1,458,132
— fellow subsidiaries — RIRKBRF] () 21,841 20,730
Other payables and accrued b JE T RIE R
expenses EErE A (vii) 1,187,301 1,140,731
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries i ANIEE NGB (ii) 15,646 29,094
Amounts due to joint ventures & &S ERIE (i) 47 —
Amount due to an associate FEAS — B & A B 5E (iv) 3,369 =
Amount due to a non-controlling FE T IEIE AR R 2 5K IR
interest (v) 3,136 -
Loans from non-controlling interests REFIERERHER (vi) 6,150 8,150
Deferred income — government FREW A —
grants HIS B & (vii) 167,948 176,722
2,716,308 2,833,559
Less: Non-current portion W JEBNHAER &
— Deferred income — — RERA —
government grants BB € (102,076) (73,856)
— Other payables and accrued — HihE{ kI8
expenses REGER (116,817) (103,898)
(218,893) (177,754)
Current portion BN EAER > 2,497,415 2,655,805




24. CREDITORS, OTHER PAYABLES AND
ACCRUED EXPENSES (Continued)

Notes:

U

(i

)

)

(vi)

(vii)

Included in “Creditors, other payables and accrued expenses”
are creditors with the following ageing analysis based on the
date of invoice as at the end of the reporting period:
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24. FERTARIR - H M FE A FRIA R At
B/ (&)
GEE
() TR Ef R RUAREER S

EREMNERT - RREZAHERREH
RZREIT

2024 2023

—E-NEF B

HK$’000 HK$’000

BET T BT T

Within 6 months ~NMEA A 929,998 1,000,527
More than 6 months ~E A LA E 402,713 478,335
1,332,711 1,478,862

Creditors totaling HK$454,189,000 (2023: HK$592,683,000)
as at 31 December 2024 represent construction payables for
the Group’s BOT and certain BOO arrangements.

Creditors due to fellow subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable in accordance with the contract
terms.

The amounts due to fellow subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

The amounts due to joint ventures are unsecured, interest
free and repayable on demand.

The amount due to an associate is unsecured, interest free
and repayable on demand.

The amount due to a non-controlling interest is unsecured,
interest-free and repayable within one year.

Loans from non-controlling interests are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

Deferred income represents government grants received to
subsidise the construction of property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024, of
which an amount of HK$10,118,000 (2023: HK$14,938,000)
was credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
There were no unfulfiled conditions and other contingencies
attached to the receipts of those grants.

R-ZEBE-_WE+—_A=+—08 " BENEX
A HB 454,189,000 (ZE==F : /B
#592,683,0007T) A A EBBOT R & T
BOOLHEHI FE(f B s 51 1H ©

JEASS [F) 2 BT a8 2 R 9 A BR SRR AR AR
R B RBEAKIEREE -

(i) ENERMBARFELEER 28K
BIMBRERE -

(i)  ENRECEFAREEN  2ERAR
EREE -

(v) FERN—[EEERRFHIBEAEER 28K
BIMBRERE -

V) ENIEERERREAEER  REKA
R—FREE-

V) REFERESNERAEER 28R
BIMBRERE -

(i) BEEBAEAEBREZ_T-_NF+=
A=+ BLEFEARBNES ZHB
& ABPAEEEEYE BERER
B Ef AHBE®E10,118,000t (= F
— =4 : ##14,938,0007T) B it Ak A
BEX WHZSHHETERERER
&Mk H A sk SR 21T -
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24. CREDITORS, OTHER PAYABLES AND

24. JEATHRFR - EAD A RIA K B at

ACCRUED EXPENSES (Continued) EH (&)
Notes: (Continued) MisE : (8
(vii)  Included in other payables and accrued expenses are contract (viii)

liabilities of the advances received for provision of solid
waste treatment and heat supply. Details of contract

liabilities are as follows:

Advances received from customers

=P R IAURIA

H b A FOR KB B R B A R e (B RE
BRERHBARBRINBERFIRZANE
e amaEHBNT

2024
BomE

HK$’000

BETT

132,408

2023

—E=F
HK$’'000
BT

115,761

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

25. At EERITREMEE

BORROWINGS
2024 2023
—E-ME —T-=F
Maturity HK$'000 Maturity HK$'000
) BETT ) BETT
Current B
Bank and other loans — secured ROREMER — FER 2025 or on demand 1,373,408 2024 or on demand 1,313,121
“E-HEHRER “ZoNERREX
Bank loans — unsecured RITEH — BER 2025 or on demand 3,802,313 2024 or on demand 7,813,227
“ECREHREX “E-MESREK
Medium-term notes RERE — &R (M26) 2025 2,542,639 2024 ZFEZE 1,087,559
— unsecured (note 26) —E-RE
7,718,360 10,213,907
Non-current E: Ik
Bank and other loans — secured BOREMER — BER 2026-2039 6,861,395 2025-2039 7,806,594
—ECAERCESRE —E-RFEZZ=NAF
Bank loans — unsecured RITER — EER 2026-2037 2,369,605 2025-2037 1,439,570
CECNERCE=EE —E-RERE-T=ARE
Medium-term notes RERE — SER (M26) 2026-2029 4,050,792 2025-2027 3,671,689
— unsecured (note 26) “ECREE-ECNE ZE-RERZTCAR
13,281,792 12,917,853
21,000,152 23,131,760
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25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 25. ;T RIRTTREMEE (&)
BORROWINGS (Continued)

2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT
Analysed into: DT
Bank and other loans repayable: AR TSIBEEE
RITREAME K :
Within one year or on demand —F AR EK 5,175,721 9,126,348
In the second year FE_fF 2,874,277 1,525,103
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FZEFERFE(BE
BREMF) 3,433,444 3,923,492
Beyond five years hF& 2,923,279 3,797,569
14,406,721 18,372,512
Medium-term notes repayable: AR THEREER
FHIRE
Within one year or on demand —FRAREENR 2,542,639 1,087,559
In the second year F_F 1,913,025 2,586,427
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E=FEFERFE (B
EEGED, 2,137,767 1,085,262

6,593,431 4,759,248
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25.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)

Certain banking facilities and other loans of the Group are
secured by certain revenue, contract assets, intangible
assets and receivables in connection with the Group’s
service concession arrangements, bank deposit, property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of the Group.
Such banking facilities amounting to HK$10,071,698,000
(2023: HK$10,834,660,000) as at 31 December 2024 were
utilised to the extent of HK$7,947,956,000 (2023:

HK$8,773,695,000).

The unsecured banking facilities of HK$10,879,893,000
(2023: HK$14,076,086,000) as at 31 December 2024 were
utilised to the extent of HK$6,171,917,000 (2023:

HK$9,252,797,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not meet certain
financial covenants of bank borrowings amounting to
HK$4,293,835,000, and it did not have unconditional rights
to defer settlement for at least twelve months after reporting
period. The interest-bearing bank borrowings of
HK$4,293,835,000 in aggregate with repayable on demand
and with presented under current liabilities in the Group’s
position as at
31 December 2023. There was no breach of financial

consolidated statement of financial
covenants of bank borrowings as at 31 December 2024.
All of the non-current bank loans are carried at amortised

cost. None of the non-current bank loans is expected to be
settled within one year.

25.

AARRITREMES (&)

AEBEETRITHEREMEZFAEAR
SERBETCERTHEZETRE &
WEE  BREEREWRFE AEBEZR
TER ¥ BERREREREEEE
I e RZEZWFF+ZA=+—H kit
IRITRYE © %8 A/5%10,071,698,0007T (=
T~ =4 : %10,834,660,0007T) © HA
BB 7,947,956,0007T (T - =4 :
75 #8,773,695,0007T ) °

RZFEZNFE+ZA=+—8 " \EEKHR
1TRVE £ %8 5 757110,879,893,0007T (=&
— =4 : B%14,076,086,0007T)  HFE
EMB6,171,917,000c (ZE-=4F: /8
#9,252,797,0007T) °

R-ZE-_ZF+=-—A=Z+—H A&£EBEIL
mETA TIRITEE B 4,293,835,0007T
e T gEE
rEREHERED12@EANERN - 58
RITIE B85 5%4,293,835,000 L HIZE
FEE YRALEER_ZT-_=F+_A
=+—HNGREVBRREFTZ2I AR
BE -R-_Z_NF+-_A=+—1 I#&
BERIBITIEETHRE -

P SEBNHASR 1T B SRR SH A AN B B - 431
EIFBVHRITERIEHIN — F RN -



26. MEDIUM-TERM NOTES
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26. FHIRE

2024 2023
SN —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BET T BT T
Current ENHA

Medium-term notes — unsecured FRHAZE i — MmO 2,542,639 1,087,559

Non-current JEENHA
Medium-term notes — unsecured FREIZE R — SR 4,050,792 3,671,689
Total BET 6,593,431 4,759,248

The Company issued three tranches RMB-denominated
medium term notes to qualified investors in the PRC with an
underwriting agreement with the relevant financial institutions
in 2020 to 2022. These three tranches of such medium
term notes have a maturity period of five years from the
respective issue date. The Company is entitled to adjust the
interest rate of the medium term notes for the remaining
two years before the maturity date after three years from
the respective issue date of each tranche of the medium
term notes. The bondholders have an option to sell back of
these three tranches of medium term notes to the Company
at the nominal price, and the exercisable period of this
option is five working days immediately after the issuance of
the Company’s announcement related to the adjustment in
interest rate of the medium term notes.

The Company also issued various tranches of the medium
term notes following the approval of the application from
NAFMII since April 2023. These medium term notes have a
maturity period of two to five years from the respective
issue date.

The medium term notes bear interest at rates ranging from
2.24% to 3.27% (2023: 2.83% to 3.50% per annum) and
will be matured in 2025 to 2029 (2023: 2024 to 2027).

RAGRZEZEFE T —_FRFPEH
AERBREERT-PAREBREEZE
WEABEREEIT I 2HE RS - Z=H
FHEEMER B ABETE R R
Fo-ARABEERSHPREESANE
THEHEBH=F% HABRIHABABKRTM
FHPHERF X -BHFBEABREEER
LHEEEEAARGIERZ =R HEE -
ZIREROITEHR AR AR E T A
HEBRFEARBEQNEENREIER -

B-ZT_=-FMAR ARFRNMEESBSR
SEMERBEERBITLHPHRER -
ZETHEEMERAEHEBEITERR
AI—ERF-

FHZEEN T2.24%E3.27% (ZF ==
F:EF283%E3.50%) 2 M EFE K
%%:%—ﬁié:%—niﬂﬁfg
T B CFE T 4F) e
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27. DEFERRED TAX 27. EERIA
The movements in deferred tax liabilities/(assets) during the EEREEE(BE)RFRZEEHNT

year are as follows:

Temporary
differences on
EE
recognised Temporary  Temporary Fair value
under  Temporary  differences  differences adjustments
HK(IFRIC)  differences arising from arising from arising from Undistributed
Interpretation ~ arising from  provision on impairment of acquisition of profits of
tax losses inventory assets  subsidiaries  subsidiaries Others

KEREAE
HEFEEE GEREEL ZEXBELE EE20RE HEAR
2EBEE  2ERER 2ERER Hit
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETL BETT it BETT
At 1 January 2023 WZZ-=%-A-R 1,348,644 = = (53,849) 40,351 36,768 (18016) 1,353,898
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss ~ 7EB#&41% /(FtA)

(note 11) (MzE11) 30,732 (42,681) (8,851) (121,232) (4,293) (32,596) (131) (179,052)
Exchange realignment EHAZ (36,432 718 149 3,465 (997) (949) 479 (33,567)
At 31 December 2023 and RZZ_=F+-f

1 January 2024 =t-Hk

—EoEE
-R-H 1,342,944 (41,963) (8,702) (171,616) 35,061 3,223 (17,668) 1,141,279
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss 7 B0k, /(FtA)

(note 11) (MizE11) (53,086) - - (250,379) (4,279) 422 (466) (307,788)
Charged/(credited) to reserves EREESNR/(GEA) - - - (432,796) - - - (432,796)
Exchange realignment EHAZ (11,459) 671 139 2,132 (506) (515) 289 (9,249)
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-MF+=A

E—E 1,278,399 (41,292) (8,563) (852,659) 30,276 3,130 (17,845) 391,446




27. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial
position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax

balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:
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27. IELEFIIA (&)

RTEMEN ETELEHRBEELAR
ERMHBARRARFEE - TRBAYH A
HWENMBAREEEHBLERIEL Z
DT

2024 2023
—E_ME —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BT T BETT
Deferred tax assets recognised in the RirE MR R IER
consolidated statement of financial position ZBELERIBERE 460,248 198,495
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the RERE B ARR R R
consolidated statement of financial position ZIEERBERE (851,694) (1,339,774)
(391,446) (1,141,279)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from
1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there
is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction
of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate
is 5%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on
dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in
Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from
1 January 2008.

The Group has unrecognised tax losses arising in Mainland
China of approximately HK$485,264,000 (2023:
HK$221,312,000) that will expire in one to five years for
offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets
have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they
are not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

RIEFFBESEMERE R BRI
ZHNELERIBEREETIRRER - &
B10% 2 HEHKENR - ZRER=-F
ENF-A-BBEN XWEAR_-ZEZT
tE+T A=t —BZREEZEN - i
HERBEAREEBBINEIREENERARE
BRI ARBERG R R EAEEZE
MRE - AEBE 2 ERARERE%  FItt
AEBEARPEAREXLIZMEARBS =
ZENF-A-BEELEZRNMDIKZ
B B TE -

REBRFPEAEEEAERRIEEEY
& 485,264,000 (ZEZ=F : B
221,312,0007T) B —Z= A F N AR K HE
RRERBAET W ERZEEERRE
EHEEE AECHBEEHRRATAK
AREGELEERBAFEE ISR 2B
THEE °
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27. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 27. IRIERIIE (&)
At 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of temporary RZTZZWNE+=ZA=+—H BEER
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in R B K B B B A R AR B A 1 R i RIRE B
Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not EEENEREZELBFORASE
been recognised was approximately HK$438,335,000 (2023: 438,335,000 (ZE - =F : B K
HK$412,481,000). In the opinion of the directors, it is not 412,481,0007T) ~ EEFR R R A R
probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings K ZEMBRETRAREDIRZEMNE -

in the foreseeable future.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the AN &) ) B AR ERIR B A% B3 T B A () BT
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders. BRER -
28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. &7
2024 2023
—E-IEF =%
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Authorised: EE
5,000,000,000 (2023: 5,000,000,000) 5,000,000,000 /%
ordinary shares of US$0.10 each =
5,000,000,000 %)
FRMEME0.10ETT
2 BB 3,891,500 3,891,500
Issued and fully paid: ERTREHHE :
2,066,078,000 (2023: 2,066,078,000) 2,066,078,000 /%
ordinary shares (===

2,066,078,000%)
LR 1,608,029 1,608,029




29. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 159
to 160 of the financial statements.

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, the fund in the share premium account of the
Company is distributable to the shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the date
on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed,
the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts
as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of entities outside Hong Kong.

Other reserve

Other reserve comprises the difference between the
consideration paid for the acquisition of
non-controlling interests and the carrying amount of
non-controlling interests at the transaction date, less
the foreign exchange movements on translation of
those subsidiaries attributable to the non-controlling
interests.
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AREEBRAFERBEFEZ2HESER
HEBF BRI EHRERPEI159F1608 2
AR EHREN -

(i) KROEE
REBE(FEHERATE)ERIAR) - K
RARMDEERANE R A 2R TA
NEBER - EREREEE D KALE B
Hg - KRB AN ER BB ER
WIS HEE -

(i) ERFEE
ERFEERIERERERIEEZH
BRERFMEEZFTAINEREN =58 -

(iii) HEtbREE

HoAh ok 48 B 40 W BB FR PR AR R 25 P 51 O
REEFZERERNRZ S HHNKE
BEZHEMER  BIREIFERERE
HZENB LR ZINEE L EH -
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29. RESERVES (Continueqd)

(iv) Reserve fund

(v)

Statutory reserve — wholly-foreign-owned
enterprises

Subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC, which are
wholly-foreign-owned enterprises, follow the
accounting principles and relevant financial regulations
of the PRC applicable to wholly-foreign-owned
enterprises (“PRC GAAP — WFOE”) in the preparation
of their accounting records and financial statements.
Pursuant to the accounting regulations for business
enterprises  (1& % & & &l Z[8 & (2000) 259%]), the
subsidiaries are required to appropriate 10% of the
profit arrived at in accordance with PRC GAAP-WFOE
for each year to a statutory reserve. The profit arrived
at must be used initially to set off against any
accumulated losses. The appropriations to statutory
reserve, after offsetting against any accumulated
losses, must be made before the distribution of
dividends to equity owners. The appropriation is
required until the statutory reserve reaches 50% of
the registered capital. This statutory reserve is not
distributable in the form of cash dividends but may be
used to set off losses or be converted into paid-in

capital.

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net
change in the fair value of debtors at fair value
through other comprehensive income held at the end
of the
accordance with the accounting policies in note 2.4.

reporting period and is dealt with in

29. @ (&)

(iv)

(v)

HEE

AW — RIELE

REBUNRPRZHBRR (2INE
TE)RBERANINEBEELEZF
EestRAEREEFEER((FEA
RETRA — 2HERE] KR
SR B®RE - BRIB(RES
=1 E B € (2000)2558]) - HEB A 7
BAEFRRTPRARSREY — 2
INEETEMBZRFEP10%E
BEETERE - BRI MEAGERK
HWEMZBFEBE IABTEEBAET
(BB EM R EER) EETHE
‘AR M REEE ADIRRE - /8
NRIBE—HERBRRBANZEZERE &
EETREEEFAMEARS0N AL °
WEERETAIURESBREFX D
&R AREHEEBERER AT
BRA o

DRERE

AR EFRBRERESHIRZAAER
AHMEER RN EREROAAE
MR EEFE  WIRRHE2.48
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30. PERPETUAL MEDIUM-TERM NOTES

Annual Report 2024 267
ZEFFIR

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf #§ & & Kf &

30.

KB EIREE

Principal Distribution Total
PN a3 #at
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT BT
As at 1 January 2023 R-ZTE-_=%F—H—H 806,982 — 806,982
Profit attributable to holders of KEBETRHERFEA
perpetual medium-term notes FE G & 7 = 36,285 36,285
Distribution to holders of perpetual MOKEFHEREEA
medium-term notes 7k = (36,285) (36,285)
As at 31 December 2023 and P
1 January 2024 +—A=+—H8X
—ZE-pm&E—HF—H 806,982 - 806,982
Issuance of perpetual medium-term — FERBITKETHEE
notes during the year 1,084,935 — 1,084,935
Profit attributable to holders of KXEFRHERZFEA
perpetual medium-term notes e & F - 34,001 34,001
Distribution to holders of perpetual MOKEFHERREEA
medium-term notes 7K - (25,218) (25,218)
As at 31 December 2024 N-ZE-PUE
+=ZA=+—H” 1,891,917 8,783 1,900,700

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
issued perpetual medium-term notes with a principal
amount of RMB1,000,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,088,200,000). Net proceeds after deducting the
issuance expenses amounted to HK$1,084,935,000. The
distribution rate for the perpetual medium-term notes is
2.43% per annum in the first 3 years from the date of
issuance, and subsequently the distribution rate will be reset
in every 3 calendar years. The distribution of perpetual
medium-term notes is accrued in accordance with the
distribution rate as set out in the offering memorandum,
and the distribution is payable on 12 September annually.
The perpetual medium-term notes have no maturity date
and the instruments can only be redeemed at the option of
the Company. The payments of distribution can be deferred
into perpetuity at the discretion of the Company, except
when a compulsory distribution payment event, including
declaration or payment of any discretionary dividends to
ordinary shareholders, has occurred over the past 12
months before the payment date of each distribution.

HE-_FT-_WMF+_A=1T—HIEFE"
AR EITA e R A AR EA1,000,000,000
7T (ZE 497 1,088,200,000 7T ) Y7k 48
HZE o CMKRETHY%  KETHEE
Z 1S 3k TE 558 A #1,084,935,0007T °
REETHPRE;EIF  KETHEEN
DIREBEFFE2.43%  HEBHREIEEF
BE— R KETHERNDIRIIIRRE
THTEEN D RRETRE  BZSE
ARERFFAA T BN —K o KE
PHEEYENESE RS T AETARAN
NBIEEED - ANAR A BBERER DK
REREERXEFD BRIENZTHIEZH
HEgBAEI2E A LR DR RS
- BIEAEEREEIRSORMNEEEE
B8 o
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activities:

Medium-term

31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 31. #R&HE&REXRM T
OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions (@ EEFREXRS
()  During the year ended 31 December 2024, ) HEz2z=—F-—_mWF+=A
interest expenses on medium-term notes of =T —HLEFE  AEE®K
HK$20,127,000 (2023: HK$10,236,000) are not METPHRBENEFR B
yet settled by the Group, and are recorded in 20,127,0007C (ZE == : &
“Creditors, other payables and accrued #10,236,0007T) * BERIELD
expenses” in the consolidated statement of ABRZZ_MFE+—_A=+—H
financial position as at 31 December 2024. ZERE P BMAR [ERERER
Hibh B RESBRAINA -
(i)  During the year ended 31 December 2024, i) REBEZE-ZFZ-_NNF+=A
the Group had non-cash additions to =T—HLFE - X&EEASF
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$Nil EREF o HERE 2 FAE
(2023: HK$10,471,000) and HK$Nil (2023: BENEEREHRSEED
HK$10,471,000), respectively, in respect of lease AABEET(ZE_=F: 4
arrangements for buildings. #10,471,0007T) R A BT T
—T =% : #%10,471,000
7T °
Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) METHELENEEZE2E

Bank and  Medium-term  notes interest Lease
other loans notes payables liabilities Total
RITR Eftn#iE
Hit &5 HERE BHE HESE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
At 1 January 2023 RZZE-=%F—-fA-H 17,163,132 3,673,393 78,913 19,562 20,835,000
Changes from financing cash flows ~ BEREREEF 1,549,071 1,288,245 (124,353) (4,933) 2,708,030
New leases MEHE = = = 10,741 10,741
Finance costs, including capitalised % & 8 (RIEE EALH
interest expenses BH%) 14,823 = 134,589 1,087 150,479
Exchange realignment ERAR (354,514) (102,390) (7,860) (342) (465,106)
At 31 December 2023 and RZZ==F
1 January 2024 +ZA=+-Rk
“Z-mE-A-H 18,372,512 4,759,248 81,289 26,095 23,239,144
Changes from financing cash flows ~ BEREREED (3,759,669) 1,910,310 (151,937) (5,020) (2,006,316)
Finance costs, including capitalised BB BR (BHEEER(LA
interest expenses BR%) 11,436 - 172,064 944 184,444
Exchange realignment EiER (217,558) (76,127) (1,066) (235) (294,986)
As at 31 December 2024 i 3
+ZA=1+-AH 14,406,721 6,593,431 100,350 21,784 21,122,286




31.

32.

33.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the
statement of cash flows is as follows:
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31. AR RNEBRME (E)

(c) HEZRSRHARE

HeRERFEAE BN ERE
mF

2024 2023

—E-INF ZEZ=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

BET T ook o e

Within operating activities K TEEA 6,771 10,717
Within financing activities REEEN 5,020 4,933

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group’s
banking facilities and other loans are included in note 25 to
the financial statements. The aggregate net book value of
assets pledged amounted to HK$17,920,001,000 (2023:
HK$17,239,332,000) as at 31 December 2024.

COMMITMENTS

(@ At 31 December 2024, the Group had outstanding
purchase commitments in connection with the
Group’s construction contracts not provided for in
the financial statements of HK$50,834,000 (2023:
HK$108,723,000).

(b) At 31 December 2024, the Group had an outstanding
capital commitment relating to the capital contribution
to a joint venture not provided for in the financial
statements of HK$26,760,000 (2023: HK$27,195,000).

32. EEEF

HAEERTHREREMERME FER
ZAEBEEZHFBHERT B REM T
25 - R-_ZFE-_NFF+=-A=+—H B
W& E 2 REZFE /A%17,920,001,000
JL(ZE =4 : #%17,239,332,0007T ) °

33. AIE

@ RZZEZWF+ZA=+—H '*&
EWAREMBRERPHREB R EEE
BEAHNZABTHRBARESK
50,834,000 (Z T =~ =4 : B ¥
108,723,0007T ) {E#Ef °

b) RZZE-_NF+-_A=+—8 K&
EWAREMBREAKEBRA—REE
CEFEZARABITERRESLE
26,760,000 (Z T =~ =4 : B ¥
27,195,0007T ) 1E# 5 -
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group entered
into the following material related party transactions:

(@) Transactions with fellow subsidiaries

34. BEIALTZR 5

BB IR EAME D T2 X5 MR
AEEFTIATEREBALRS

(a) HERWEBLARZXS

2024 2023
—E-MEF =
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 5% BT T BT T
Rental expenses e (vi) 1,445 2,189
Hazardous and solid waste EEREEREERA (vi)
processing income 5,412 2,448
Underwriting fee BIEER (vi) 6,690 3,651
Interest income** FE A () 511 315
Interest expenses** B (if) 9,645 5,619
Purchase of machineries** 28 EL B~ (ii) 13,128 25,357
Design fees RETEM 801 640
Purchase of steam** E (iv) 6,867 15,341
Medical insurance fee** BEERRE (v) 25,942 27,803
Notes: B 5T
0] Interest income was derived from deposit services (i) FEWAREREERRITROE

provided by China Everbright Bank Company Limited
(“CE Bank”). The deposit services provided by CE
Bank was based on normal commercial terms and no
less favourable than the terms available to the Group
from independent third parties. Interest income was
charged based on normal terms and agreed through
arm’s-length negotiations between the parties.

(i) Interest expenses was incurred on a loan from CE
Bank. The loan services provided by CE Bank was
based on normal commercial terms and no less
favourable than the terms available to the Group from
independent third parties. Interest expenses was
charged based on normal terms and agreed through
arm’s-length negotiations between the parties.

(iii) Purchase of machineries from a fellow subsidiary,
Everbright Environmental Technology Equipment
(Changzhou) Company Limited*, was charged in
accordance with the terms of the agreement entered
into between the Group and the fellow subsidiary.

RAR(ERRITD REZ FHR
o XARRITREZ FHRB IR
—RAEEGIIRE - ARG
BRARBEBBLE=ESZIK
o FBUT AR — R AR EN BB
BETR T 2R R TVEBIHE -

(i  MEZHTIEERRITERESE -
RRRITRE 2 BRI TR — K
AR M - BBRIGRTER
FEBBBIE=HES 2GR -
B R — ARG R S B B RT
A5 2B A FRERBIHE

(i) FRRKB A T AR R
(BM) BIRA 7 e 22 4R I8 2018 T
RIS B R B A 75T S
125 3% 2R KR, -



34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Transactions with fellow subsidiaries
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

)

*%

Purchase of steam from a fellow subsidiary, EB
Environmental Energy (Sugian) Company Limited*, was
charged in accordance with the terms of the
agreement entered into between the Group and the
fellow subsidiary.

Medical insurance fee was paid to Sun Life Everbright
Life Insurance Co., Limited*. The fee was charged in
accordance with the terms of the agreement entered
into between the parties.

These transactions were conducted in accordance with
the terms mutually agreed with the relevant parties.

For identification purpose only
These related party transactions also constitute

continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Group paid key management personnel
compensation as follows:
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ABMALT RS (&
() HRZHMEBARNZXS (&)

M ()

(v) AR ZHE A F Y AIRREER (T8
) AR QBRI Z TR AR
AR S ] ER (R R T8 X B RT SLAY 1%
IR R

V) MHARKAAZSRBERAFZ(
BEREBE - ZBRIRETON
Z [ERT SLH 1h 5 AR

V) BREXSHIRBEEEEHHBR
TE AR FETT

o REHEBMALRSIMERCETMR
ANDFEVUAT A E 2 FHBEBER
5 e

(b) AEKEEINITBEEEASHE
mF -

2024 2023
—E-MF

HK$°000 HK$’000
BET T BT T

Salaries and other short-term employee ~ #r& REMEHIES
benefits ekl 34,412 46,420
Retirement scheme contributions RRET B K 4,871 5,631
39,283 52,051

Total remuneration is included in “Employee benefit
expense” (see note 8).

e mat ATRB R I(RH
i8) e
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 35. BE\RE Sz ®

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

follows:

2024

Financial assets

—EmEF
& AEE

Financial assets
at fair value

through other

comprehensive

Financial assets

income at amortised cost
BARMEA
Ht2mliE REBHRATEZ
ZERMEE CREE Ht
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BET T BET T BET T
Debtors & W AR R 4,733,080 1,725,677 6,458,757
Financial assets included T AE AR
in other receivables, ®e RENHE
deposits and prepayments ZEBMEE - 262,079 262,079
Pledged bank deposits BEMIRITER - 13,981 13,981
Deposits with banks RITER - 24,084 24,084
Cash and cash equivalents  BR& RELFEY - 1,635,651 1,635,651
4,733,080 3,661,472 8,394,552
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 35. BERE eI A (&)
(Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RWmERR SEeRITEZREAABER
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as T (48)

follows: (Continueq)

2024 (Continued) “EF (E)
Financial liabilities ETHEE

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost

BREHB A

AR EE
&
HK$’000
BET T

Financial liabilities included in creditors, other STABMERR - HibEMAFRIB R ERT

payables and accrued expenses ERzeRmBE 2,366,148
Lease liabilities HEAE 21,784
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FTEIRITREMEE 21,000,152

23,388,084
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continueqd)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

follows: (Continued)

2023

Financial assets

35. REREI D zEWMIE (&)

%

BERR SR TAZEEEN
™ (%)

7

—=— =

—_—=—

& AEE

Financial assets

at fair value

through other
comprehensive Financial assets
income  at amortised cost

REHER AT EZ

ZEMEE CREE Bt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BETT BET T

Debtors & W BR X 5,673,033 2,181,288 7,854,321
Financial assets included ST AE ftb UL FOE
in other receivables, e REMNFE

deposits and prepayments JEBEE = 276,573 276,573

Pledged bank deposits BEHEARITER = 47,361 47,361

Deposits with banks RITHER = 22,844 22,844

Cash and cash equivalents BRE&RBEEEED = 2,308,578 2,308,578

5,673,033 4,836,644 10,509,677

Financial liabilities THEE

Financial liabilities included in creditors, other
payables and accrued expenses

Lease liabilities

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost

12 SH PR

HEZOR
& (&
HK$’000
BEF

AR BRSR - B A B S SRR K AT

BRoMABE 2,541,074
26,095
FERTREMER 23,131,760

25,698,929




306.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, pledged bank deposits, deposits with
banks,

debtors,

current portion of financial assets included in

other receivables, deposits and prepayments,
creditors, other payables and accrued expenses, lease
liabilities and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the
immediate or the short term maturities of these
instruments.

The Group’s finance department is responsible for
determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. At each reporting
date, the finance department analyses the movements in the
values of financial instruments and determines the major
inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed
and approved by the chief financial officer. The valuation
process and results are discussed with the audit and risk
management committee twice a year for interim and annual

financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of financial assets
included in other receivables, deposits and prepayments,
other payables, lease liabilities, interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings and certain debtors have been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk, annualised yield and remaining maturities. The Group’s
own non-performance risk for interest-bearing borrowings as
at 31
insignificant.

December 2024 and 2023 was assessed to be
The carrying amounts of these balances
approximate to their fair values.
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36.

30|

TRTAZAARBRRABRER

EEEEFEREMASEFEY SHER
RITFER - |RITER - BRESASREE
BIEE - At EUFIR - e RFEMNRK
H - BARR - HMENFRELETER -
HEREBEMABRITEEMEEZALE
HHREERE  FTEHRZFTANE
FHIS e AR B H

AEENMEHPAAEBEEERTALR
B ENBRENERF - REREEH - B
MANTERTANEEEIRETHE
FAEMNEIZEARE - BRAMGEHMS
RERMIME BERLEREEZES
BFEMAFwmEERFRER  REHFD
TR FEMBRE o

TREENBENAABURZTARER
R REIBERHERINEARSH T
ZARZGEEAR - AT HERBRRAR
ERAVNEE

EAHMBEWRKIE HeRBNREBEZS
BMEEZIENBANS - HMEARE  BE
BE FERITEKEMEERE TREE
FE R B AR A AR EB RGN -
EERR  FlaXkEKIHANT
EWMFERERARKREREAE - R
TECNER-ZFE__F+-A=+—H"
AEEBEFFEEBENENRRTHAE
M- ZEEBZEAMEREARERE -
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 36. @R T A AR BEALBEER

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

Quoted prices
in active
markets
(Level 1)
RER S
ZRE
(F—1%)
HK$’000
BT T

(&

1

DMREER

TRUPALTEESBMT A AR ER
F

fein
iz

BAREFEZEE

Fair value measurement using
AREFEFEAUTHZE

Significant Significant

observable unobservable

inputs inputs

(Level 2) (Level 3)

BERUBER BERFUBER
BARE BARE
(B=%) (B=%) A5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BET T BETT BETT

As at 31 December 2024 R-E-FE
+-A=+—8

Financial assets at fair value ~ EAABEFAEMBEE
through other comprehensive Wz emEE
income =

4,733,080 - 4,733,080

Quoted prices in
active markets

(Level 1)
& BT 5
Z (B

(F—#)

HK$’000

BRT

As at 31 December 2023 N-T-=F
+=A=+-8

Financial assets at fair value ~ EARBEFAEMBEE
through other comprehensive Wz eMEE
income -

Fair value measurement using
RAEERBATHZE
Significant
Significant unobservable
observable inputs inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3
SE BARNABRE
WA BIE A
(FE=&) £
HK$'000 HK$'00!
BT T AT T

5,673,033 - 5,673,033

The Group did not have financial liabilities measured at fair
value as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

R-CE-NMER T -_=F+_-_A=+—
B AEBEVERBEZARBEFENSRH
BfE-



306.

37.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were no
transfers of fair value measurements between level 1 and
level 2 and no transfers into or at level 3 for financial
assets (2023: Nil).

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income in level 2 is determined by
discounting the expected future cash inflows derived by the
assets. The discount rate used is derived from the relevant
government yield curve as at the end of the reporting

period plus a credit spread.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
interest-bearing borrowings, cash and short-term deposits.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
finance the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as debtors, other
receivables, deposits, and creditors, other payables and
accrued expenses, which arise directly from its operations.
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and

they are summarised below.
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36.

37.

RREEBR(HF)

BHE_Z_WM&E+_A=+—HILEE"
REMEEMS  F—AMNE_HNDA
B 2B EEE R HEE AL = KK
BE=fEH(ZZ-_=F /)

F_RBRAANEFAELMEZEREZEF
BEZAARBETVERMREEEL ZEY
ARBRESRAEE - IEAZHREXRA
WEMRZBEABRFTRERHRIN EEE
BE-

RS IR B AR MR

AEBZTEZSRIABENEEE B
ERERER - HEFEERTAZEIEZAN
ERBAKEZEBERERES - A%
BEREMEREENAG  BREEWE
o EABRWEOR « B ARENERR - B
ENKEREFER  DERBEXRK
EE -

AEERTAEAZTIERRBENE
R SNERR - EERBRERBE SR
Re-BEEeRIMBEEETRABAR
ZHBE - RABBERERR T X o
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 37. i ESEIEBE RS (42)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate risk F 2= [ B

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from the AEBEY  FERAREERELAEEZ
Group’s cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks, RERBEEFEY - BITHER - RITREM
bank and other borrowings and medium-term notes. BERTPEHARE - ZFEHF X REEME
Borrowings issued at variable rates and at fixed rates HEZEESCAEESRIAZRESREN
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair KRB R A ERNERE o ANE B EF
value interest rate risk, respectively. The Group does not AemiTET B RE R ERRE - NEH
use financial derivatives to hedge against the interest rate ZHREFABREEEER HFBHANTX
risk. The Group’s interest rate profile as monitored by (i) °

management is set out in (i) below.

() Interest rate profile ) FIEHLR
The following table details the interest rate profile of TRHEINANEEBRREAREEF
the Group’s net borrowings (being interest-bearing HEFTEERMABERERITERA
financial liabilities less deposits with banks and cash FBReRBEEEY) 2 FI RN -
and cash equivalents) at the end of the reporting
period.

2024 2023
—E-mE =
Effective Effective
interest rate Amount interest rate Amount

REAIE &8 LTI 2%
% HK$’000 % HK$’000
BET R BETT

Net fixed rate borrowings/ EEEE/(FR)

(deposits): T
Medium-term notes mHER 2.24%-3.27% 6,593,431 2.83%-3.68% 4,759,248
Lease liabilities (note 15(0)) AEEE (HE150)  1.42%-4.90% 21,784  1.42%-4.90% 26,095
Less: Deposits with banks A RITER 1.35% (24,084) 1.45% (22,844)
Cash and cash BekilesE
equivalents EY 0.55% (32,682) 3.05% (295,882)
6,558,449 4,466,617
Net variable rate borrowings/ FEEE/(FH)
(deposits): BE
Bank and other loans FITREME R 2%=-5.95% 14,406,721 2.45%6.17% 18,372,512
Less: Cash and cash equivalents & : & KRR EEEY 0.01%-3% (1,602,969)  0.03%-2.50% (2,012,696)
Pledged bank deposits BIRBRITER 0.1%-2.7% (13,981)  0.25%—2.75% (47,361)
12,789,771 16,312,455

Total net borrowings BEEFE 19,348,220 20,779,072




37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of one percent in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would increase/
decrease the Group’s
approximately HK$127,898,000
HK$163,125,000).

loss before taxation by
(2023:

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s loss before
taxation that would arise assuming that the change in
interest rates had occurred at the end of the reporting
period and had been applied to re-measure those
financial instruments held by the Group which expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk at the end of
the reporting period. In respect of the exposure to
cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating rate
non-derivative instruments held by the Group at the
end of the reporting period, the
Group’s
annualised impact on interest expense or income of
such a change in interest rates. The analysis is

impact on the

loss before taxation is estimated as an

performed on the same basis as 2023.
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37.

EEREREBRNEXE)

T =@ b (4F)
(i) BEE ST

RZBZMFE+—A=+—H " BX
SEGR - WAIRBEEA TR
1 BN MAEBEEMEHERT
‘‘‘‘‘‘ CAEE KRB AIEES G M
,)Ek/%@,%%mzsg&ooofz(_%5:5
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 37. i ESEIEBE RS (42)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk Ih | B

() Exposure to foreign currency risk ()  ERZZINEE R
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk NEEEERHINE R £ ZR B LA
primarily from bank loans, cash and cash equivalents, M (BPE S AE R R D B B IS DASNEY
receivables and payables that are denominated in a EBIGFEZRTENR RekHe
foreign currency, i.e., a currency other than the ZEY - BURFEREMNGIE - EE
functional currency of the operations to which they ZRBRNEETEABE AR -
relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are ETLREIT - ZRRVERIUREE
primarily Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, United States EEEINELAERE R FHBER -
dollars and Euros. The Group ensures that the net RE B BIREE R SRR g TR
exposure is kept to an acceptable level, by buying or BRI -

selling foreign currencies at spot rates where
necessary to address short-term imbalances.

The following table details the Group’s exposure at TRV AEERSMERKRBOHE
the end of the reporting period to foreign currency risk REEXBE(UHBEEB 2SR
arising from recognised assets or liabilities BEAON 2 BHEEHE) FTEE 2 INER
denominated in a currency other than the functional R MEFNENME @ BERSEUE
currency of the entity to which they relate. For BTN - WIRHRE AR IR EIE R
presentation purposes, the amounts of the exposure H o ARINHEBE R ERE B mEK B
are shown in Hong Kong dollars, translated using the BEARKERNZINNEEMELENERE
spot rate at the reporting date. Differences resulting TEFTAINERRR ©

from the translation of the consolidated financial
statements of foreign operations into the Group’s
presentation currency are excluded.

2024
—E-mE
United United
States States

Renminbi dollars Euros Renminbi dollars Euros
ARH EYH B ARE e BT
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE®TT BT BE®TT BETT BT BETT

Cash and cash equivalents E&REE&EEY 192,975 403 569 310,502 405 190
Amounts due from/(to) fellow FEYL,/ (1) I 2B

subsidiaries (net) NAFEFE 5,587,847 - - 4,580,002 = =
Other receivables H i FEYRE 380,382 - 51,283 13,770 - -
Bank loans RITER (9,737,610) - - (5,065,385) - -
Other payables HibENFE (187,317) - - (142,891) - -

(3,763,723) 403 51,852 (304,502) 405 190




Annual Report 2024 281
ZEFFIR

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf % #& & Kt &

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 37.
AND POLICIES (Continuea)

B 5 e B IR B AR MR (F)

Foreign currency risk (Continued) ShEEE B ()
(i) Sensitivity analysis (i) EEE S

The following table indicates the instantaneous change
in the Group’s loss before taxation that would arise if
foreign exchange rates to which the Group has
significant exposure at the end of the reporting period
had changed at that date, assuming all other risk
variables remained constant. In this respect, it is
assumed that the pegged rate between the Hong
Kong dollar and the United States dollar would be
materially unaffected by any changes in movement in
value of the United States dollar against other
currencies. The impact of foreign exchange rate
fluctuations with respect to the assets and liabilities

denominated in United States dollars is insignificant as
Hong Kong dollars is pegged to the United States

TREIIBRRNERE RRAE B @ L
EXEBOIEERNEHLHRE
B MAAEMESHRIFTE &2
5 7% 55 18 & B 75 A S PR E AR BN B B2
Eopitms - MRBEHLETME
BEXTERXTEELEMERH
EAZSMIANERTE - ANEE
BT - EIAXTTAHENEE M
BEAMZINEERTKRBNFZEL T
BEXe

dollars.
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=fF

Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) in (decrease) in
foreign Effect on loss foreign Effect on loss
exchange rates before tax exchange rates before tax
HNEEXLH/ HREAGEN SNEEXLH/ HERAEEN
(FE&) 2 %
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT
Renminbi ARK 10% (376,372) 10% (30,450)
(10%) 376,372 (10%) 30,450
United States dollars ET 10% 40 10% 41
(10%) (40) (10%) (41)
Euros BT 10% 5,185 10% 19
(10%) (5,185) (10%) (19)
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37.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)
(i) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Results of the analysis presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects
on each of the Group entities’ loss before taxation
measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rate ruling at the end of the reporting period for
presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in
foreign exchange rates had been applied to
re-measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk at the end of the reporting period, including
intercompany payables and receivables within the
Group which are denominated in a currency other
than the functional currencies of the lender or the
borrower. The analysis excludes differences that would
result from the translation of the financial statements
of foreign operations into the Group’s presentation
currency. The analysis is performed on the same
basis as 2023.

Credit risk

The Group assesses the credit quality of the customers and
other counterparties, taking into account their background,
financial position, past experience and other factors. The
Group has a credit policy in place and the exposures to
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. Debtors are
usually due immediately within 90 days from the date of
billing.

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
cash and cash equivalents, debtors, other receivables and
contract assets.

7. MBEREREBREREEK (&)

S L B ()
(i) SRR DT ()

EREFNZDMERBE T AEESR
BRI~ RIARRE Y e BT 8 2 IR
ABRZASTE  BETENRSE
HRZEXRFTEREEZR -

BREDMRZINEEXNESHE A
REFFTERERRAKEMFTE R
EAREAZINERBROZFTERT
B BHEAERAIERANTIES
BN BB SHEN B R A R FE
T 5RIE R FEMR IR o 3% 3 T R 15 SN
BEBNMBEHRREESAEEZT
ERMEEANER ZN MR _-F
TR EEET

EERRE

AEEEREFPREMRZHFHNES
MBARR  BEE R R EMEARKEE
EEEEX - ARBEREEEFEREK  UF
BERMHEEBNEERR BEKRFER
mEEEHET AT HRBIE -

EERREXZIUFARABTHAOEMLEM
EYAKREELEMBELIOAR A5 H
MEERRIEREASIRASEEY -
FEM RN - E BRI R AN EE -



37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continuea)

Credit risk (Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31 December.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for
financial assets and the exposure to credit risk for the
financial guarantee contracts.

As at 31 December 2024
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37. BERERBERRBE (&)

FERRE (&)

R 5 /B8 R F K 55 B R 0 2R
TERBAKENEERR  JIREEmM
EREaREERR BREABAKARS
HERESEMEMI  TREZNAH
BRERTZA=+T—HZFROEED
BAERE-

I EHERERMEERSRERGNEER
R\ R AR BREIE ©

R-ZZE-_NE+=ZA=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 A R H
EEFE RAGEONRAEEFE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E-E8 E-RE FZEA L& &%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BET R BETT BETT
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREZEY 1,635,651 - - - 1,635,651
Deposits with banks with maturity period ~ F#iBB=AF 2 H17
over three months BH 24,084 - - - 24,084
Pledged bank deposits BERBROTER 13,981 - - - 13,981
Debtors* R - - - 6,622,908 6,622,908
Financial assets included in other STAE AR GE
recelvables, deposits and prepayments e REBFTEN
SREE 240,454 - - - 240,454
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries A GEL YN
HE 3,838 - - - 3,838
Amounts due from joint ventures BRAELERE 17,787 - - - 17,787
Contract assets ANEE
— with significant financing component ~ — EBEAREAR
#H5 6,494,201 - - - 6,494,201
— without significant financing - TAEEARE
component* Bk pn* - - - 3,509,073 3,509,073
8,429,996 - - 10,131,981 18,561,977
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 37.

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023

12-month

B 5B TR B AR MR (B

FERR (&)
REEBRRFRDER IR (B)

RZE-_=F+=-A=+—H

Lifetime ECLs

B EEER

Simplified
Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-RE FoER FoER Bk )
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BEFT B%Tr AETr AT BETRH
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEEY 2,308,578 — - — 2,308,578
Deposits with banks with maturity period FREBa=fAZ
over three months RITER 22,844 = = = 22,844
Pledged bank deposits BEFEITER 47,361 — - — 47,361
Debtors* JE W AR 70 = = — 7,893,254 7,893,254
Financial assets included in other FHAE A B R IE
receivables, deposits and prepayments Ee RIEMFEN
TREE 223,219 = = = 223,219
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries FE U R R P B A7)
FIE 3,053 — - — 3,053
Amounts due from joint ventures & &1 IR 50,301 — - — 50,301
Contract assets EHEE
— with significant financing component — BAEAREMK
o 6,744,070 = = — 6,744,070
— without significant financing component* — TEBEK@E
Ak = = - 2911271 2,911,271
9,399,426 — — 10,804,525 20,203,951
* For contract assets without a significant financing component * MAEEHAMEAERENTAESE

and debtors to which the Group applies the simplified
approach for impairment, information is disclosed in notes
2.4, 21 and 22 to the financial statements.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure

to credit risk arising from contract assets and debtors are
disclosed in note 21 and 22 to the financial statements,

respectively.

REEEKREBD N E KA ERERERRT
5 EBEMRERNYHWEME2.4

21522 °

BRASEANEERBRERMEEDN
SE RO RE— 2 E 8BRS BIRNE

FmEM 5FE21 224 55 -



37.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

Since the Group trades only with
creditworthy third parties,
collateral. Concentrations of credit risk are managed by

recognised and
there is no requirement for
counterparty and by geographical region. At 31 December
2024, “Debtors, deposits and
prepayments” and “Contract assets” of the Group amounted
to HK$17,325,721,000 (2023: HK$18,483,443,000), of which
HK$907,969,000 (2023: HK$1,268,990,000) was due from
the largest customer and HK$3,610,465,000 (2023:
HK$2,882,552,000)
customers in aggregate of the Group, respectively. The
maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the

other receivables,

was due from the five largest

carrying amount of each financial asset and contract asset
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Liquidity risk
Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short-term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to
cover expected cash demands. The Group’s policy is to
regularly monitor its

liquidity requirements and its

compliance with lending covenants to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial institutions
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer
term or to obtain waiver from the relevant banks if the
Group is not able to satisfy any of the covenant

requirements. When there is any potential breach of
undertaking or financial covenants, the Group will actively
negotiate with the bank to obtain a waiver for the relevant
undertaking or financial covenants to avoid the banks from
requesting for immediate repayment of any outstanding
bank borrowings drawn under the facility, such that the
facility and bank borrowings will continue to be available to

the Group.

Annual Report 2024

T FFIR 285

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf #§ & 3 Kt 5t

37.

EEREREBRNEXE)

EERE (&)
R AR RF KBS ()

AR AEEEERAREEEECE=FR
EITEE  MUAREZREHERR - £HR1E
ERBRELXSHFRIEETERE - R =
TZMF+ZA=+—H AKBEZ[EK
R - EMERHIE - ke RTEMNFRE] R
[GHEE | BBA17,325,721,0007T (=&
T =4 : 75118,483,443,0007T) * HFE
¥ 907,969,000 (=T = =F : B
1,268,990,0007T) BEK A E B H AT P
FRIA N S 13,610,465,0007T (—ZFE = =4 :
7 2,882,552,0007T) BEK A EE AKX
BEREBERE SAEERBRENGRAHY
BARAKRPTREBEEMNEERGNEELZ
REEZY -

RENE = E b

AEEBETBEYEEERAGTAERS
EETF ERRASBBIEHRERSE
EERUNREMNEMREFIRL - AKREZK
REEHERABESTRMEREYE
BERZmZAaRBEN BREBEFIEHN
ReHERN T 2N BREBIG RN A
HREERE NENEHLRERARDES
oK e AN S A B 1T (] R A E
FARRITEGH R MR ETELE
RAEGEIPBREZBER  AEE KBS
HIRTTH A AESEEARAMBREZ
B NBRBITERIINMEERERE
REZ EfHARBEEZRITEE - LML
BMEMRTEEVEEHRAEEER -
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37.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s
non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period)
and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

37.

B 75 B IR B AR MR (F)

REBESER (&)

TRINAAEERBERRZIFTETR
TRBEZIHBANBARBR  LATH
AMBRBRERE (BREERAONERL (WE
FR)REBN|ME AR Z M REFE 2B
P EAGEABEAEFAZRTANR
EEMIH -

31 December 2024
“Z-ME+=A=1+-H

Total
contractual More than More than
Carrying undiscounted Within 1 year 1 year but 2 years but More than
amount cash flow or on demand within 2 years within 5 years 5 years
AHARER —FR —F% mE#
BHE REeRELH RER BRER BREER LEE
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BB T BRI BETT BRI BETT BRI
Interest-bearing bank and other SRR RAMES
borrowings (note 25) (FizE25) 21,000,152 22,380,283 8,201,746 5,078,289 6,025,807 3,074,441
Creditors, other payables and ERER - HiEAFER
accrued expenses* [E-did 2,366,148 2,369,187 2,249,331 15,524 - 104,332
Lease liabilties (note 15(b)) HE A fE (H7E15(0) 21,784 27,241 3,517 2,918 5,609 15,137
23,388,084 24,776,711 10,454,654 5,096,731 6,031,416 3,193,910

December 2023

=F+=-A=1—H
Total
contractual More than More than
Carrying  undiscounted ~ Within 1 year 1 year but 2 years but More than
amount cash flow or on demand  within 2 years  within 5 years 5 years
—f —%1% kR
FREE bi7g: ERER BERER AFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
Interest-bearing bank and other AERTRAMES
borrowings (note 25)* (FizF25)¢ 23,131,760 25,312,353 6,828,763 6,610,550 7,804,572 4,068,468
Creditors, other payables and ERER - HEAFER
acorued expenses* [t BB 2,541,074 2,543,446 2,444,651 7,474 7,474 83,847
Lease liabilties (note 15(b)) HEBE (HE150) 26,095 33,743 5,027 3,757 7,557 17,402
25,698,929 27,889,542 9,278,441 6,621,781 7,819,603 4,169,717
* The balances excluded deferred income — government * BRI EBETRA — RA@HBE -
grants.

# As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not meet certain
financial covenants of bank borrowings of HK$4,293,835,000
as disclosed in note 25 and accordingly, the balance due
after one year of HK$3,452,839,000 has become repayable
on demand.

# R-E-—=%F+-_A=+—0 K£EL
EEBAONGSMEBREZRITEERSE
4,293,835,0007T 2 & TR - At -
— F & B Hi 45 #4 75 6 3,452,839,000 7T 7B
BEREIE -



37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives for managing capital are to
maintain a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in
order to support its business and maximise shareholders’
value. The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions.
The Group reviews the capital structure on a regular basis
and considers the cost of capital and the associated risks.
Based on recommendations of the board of directors, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through
adjusting the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
new share issues or new debt financing.

The Group monitors capital with reference to its debt
position. The Group’s strategy was to maintain the equity
and debt in a balanced position and ensure there was
adequate working capital to service its debt obligation. The
Group’s gearing ratio, being the Group’s total liabilities over
its total assets, as at 31 December 2024 was 67.9%
(2023: 68.9%).
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EEREREBRNEXE)

EXRERE
AEEEEEAZIEZENEEAFEY
MEEFARBRNEARLE  UXHFE
BEE - URKRRWEREAEE - AREE
EEEARRBORE  TeRHREENRR
LEPHEARBELAE - AEEETE
RS EREE  TMAZEBEARKE R
R - RIFEFECERE  AREEE
BREBERNTRREZREEE  BITHR
MABEFNEHRE BN FOEEE
RIRHE -

AEEZRBL2BEBEBARERERER
REBZERE ERFEEZEBENEE
T MRERAEELSEMNER - K=
ZoMF+_A=+—H AEBEZEE
BELE(AEE BB EBRABEERN
BZH) B67T.9% (ZFE =4 :68.9%) °
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 38. AR & Z B &k n &
COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the UTARBREHARRAATBHERIRZE
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: P
2024 2023
—E-QmEF —TB_=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries B ARIERE 2,337,064 2,337,064
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUL B BB A B3R IB 12,902,787 12,104,125
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB MEE 278 418
15,240,129 14,441,607
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables and prepayments H b e W 5k IE K
FE AR 2 2,046
Cash and cash equivalents BERBEEEY 260,217 365,035
260,219 367,081
Current liabilities REBEE
Bank loans — unsecured RITER — EEHF 1,827,790 923,713
Medium-term notes hEE R 2,542,639 1,087,559
Other payables b FE A 3R 146,258 135,651
Tax payables FERT R IR 21,929 21,863
4,538,616 2,168,786
Net current liabilities REBEERE (4,278,397) (1,801,705)
Total assets less current liabilities BWEERARBAEES 10,961,732 12,639,902
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Bank loans — unsecured IRITER — H|IEH 1,298,317 4,134,643
Medium-term notes hEE IR 4,050,792 3,671,689
5,349,109 7,806,332
Net assets EERH 5,612,623 4,833,570
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 38. AA T ZE#HikRk (&)
COMPANY (Continued)

Information about the statement of financial position of the IWTNERBERRARAFHEMRRRZE
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: # (&)
(Continued)
2024 2023
—E-mEF ZE=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Capital and reserves BAR#E
Equity attributable to equity shareholders SRR R R
Share capital % A 1,608,029 1,608,029
Reserves (note) fb 15 (P 5E) 2,103,894 2,418,559
3,711,923 4,026,588
Perpetual medium-term notes (note) KEHHER (W) 1,900,700 806,982
Total equity VE o MR RE 5,612,623 4,833,570
ZHU Fugang WANG Dianer
K3 FR=
Director Director

BEF EZE
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 38. &AA T Z B kR« (&
COMPANY (Continued)

Information about the statement of financial position of the UTARRERRARGFFERAKZE
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: # (&)
(Continued)
Note: MzE -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AABZ HEBZNOT
Perpetual
Share Accumulated medium-term
premium losses notes Total
R 12 % 8 REE KEHHER ok
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
Balance at 1 January 2023 RZZE-_=F—F—HZ&H 3,537,109 (672,986) 806,982 3,671,105
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive FERMN/(GE) R2EKkE
income for the year i = (393,912 36,285 (357,627)
2023 interim dividend paid KR ZEZ=FEHPHRE (51,652) = = (51,652)
Distribution to holders of perpetual FKEFRHEEFBAEL DR
medium-term notes = = (36,285) (36,285)
Balance at 31 December 2023 and RZEZ=F+=-A=+—HBK
1 January 2024 —EomE—F—B s 3,485,457  (1,066,898) 806,982 3,225,541
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive FERAN/ (BB R2EKE
income for the year W - (285,740) 34,001 (251,739)
2024 interim dividend paid K ZEZMEERHRE (28,925) - - (28,925)
Issuance of perpetual medium-term notes BATKERHER - - 1,084,935 1,084,935
Distribution to holders of perpetual MKERHERZFEAEL DR
medium-term notes - - (25,218) (25,218)

3,456,532 (1,352,638) 1,900,700 4,004,594
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 39. = ZKEB A A5
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as AABEEWBRRFIBEOT :

follows:

Name of company

AAER

EB Greentech Biomass Energy (Guoyang) Limited*
(note (b))

KRG ERREMER OBG) ERAR"
(Ff5E (o))

EB Greentech Cogeneration (Sugian) Limited*
(note (b))

RRRERERE (F8) AR AR (HED)

EB Greentech Renewable Energy (Xiao County)
Limited* (note (b))

RRGERRBELR(HH) BRAA
(P &£ (o))
EB Greentech Renewable Energy (Yiyuan) Limited*
(note (b))
KR ERRBELRCTR) BRAR
(Fi (o)

EB Greentech Technology Services (Jiangsu)
Limited*

KRG ERREMBBOLER) AR R A
EB Greentech Urban and Rural Renewable Energy
(Dali) Limited* (note (a))

KREERRABBELR(K%B) BRA R
(Pt 7% (a))

EB Greentech Urban and Rural Renewable Energy

(Fengxian) Limited* (note (a))

KARGERRABBELR (YH)BRAR
(Ff5E (@)

Place of
incorporation and
business

B A ES 31

PRC

PRC

HE

PRC

R

PRC

HE

PRC

HE

PRC

HE

PRC

Particulars of issued
and paid-up capital
ERTRMRRAFE

RMB108,020,000

AR #108,020,0007T

RMB105,000,000

AR #105,000,0007C

RMB96,002,000

AR #96,002,0007T

RMB185,520,000

AR #185,520,0007C

RMB20,000,000

AR #20,000,0007C

RMB95,384,000

AR #95,384,0007C

RMB182,310,000

AR #182,310,0007T

Percentage of equity

attributable
to the Company
AAEELEEEEDL

Direct Indirect
HE k3
- 100%

- 100%

= 100%

- 95%

= 100%

= 100%

= 100%

Principal activities
TEXEH

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of biomass electricity
and heat cogeneration project

Rit - BiE EEREEENEREY
#ER

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of industrial solid
waste treatment and electricity and
heat cogeneration project

Rat BiE BERKETXEERE
RABEMIER

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of industrial solid
waste treatment and electricity and
heat cogeneration project

Rit B BERBETXEERE
RAEBHIER

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy
project

Rat - BiE - BERBEENE RAIR
HE—BEE

Provide environmental technology
services, development, consulting
and equipment sales projects

REBRBEMRSE - FE - BARRE
HERE

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of waste-to-energy
project

Rat - BE - BERBENFHEEA

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy
project

Ret - 2E EEREFENERK
HE—B{ER
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (Continued)

Name of company

DEEB

EB Greentech Urban and Rural Renewable Energy
(Gutian) Limited* (note (a))

ARGERREBELELR(HAE) BRAA
(P £ (a))
EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy (Fengyang)
Company Limited* (notes (a) and (b))
ARBEBBFELER (B BRAR"
(Pt 5 (a) K (b))
EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy (Guanyun)
Company Limited** (notes (a) and (b))
RARBBBERLRCES) HRAF"
(Pl £ () B2 (b))
EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy (Huai’an)
Limited* (notes (a) and (b))
ARBEBBFERR ER) BRAF"
(Pt 5 (a) K (b))
EB Urban and Rural Biomass Energy (Nanjing)
Limited**

KABBEMER (AR) BRA A

EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy (Xiao
County) Limited* (notes (a) and (b))

ARBBBLEER (B BRAF"
(Pt 7 (a) K (b))
EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy (Zhecheng)

Limited* (notes (a) and (b))

KRB BRI (R BR AR
(P& (a) B (b))

Place of
incorporation and
business

SRR B e SR i B

PRC

R

PRC

PRC

R

PRC

PRC

R

PRC

HE

PRC

R

Particulars of issued
and paid-up capital
ERTRMUEREFE

RMB80,250,000

AR #80,250,0007C

RMB183,340,000

AR #183,340,0007T

RMB199,120,000

AR #199,120,0007T

RMB312,000,000

AR #312,000,0007T

RMB97,560,000

AR #97,560,0007C

RMB275,350,000

AR #275,350,0007T

RMB154,665,000

AR #5154,665,0007T

39. XEZMBRAIFIB

5 (&

/1=

AARNEEMBARAFEOT : (#)

Percentage of equity

attributable
to the Company
AAREGESRADLL

Direct Indirect
HE k23
- 100%

= 100%

- 100%

= 100%

- 100%

= 100%

- 100%

Principal activities

TREHR

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy
project

Rit - BiE EERERENERIE
BE—BLEE

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy
project

Rat - BE - BEREEEME KRR
BHE—R{IER

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy
project

Rit - BiE EERERENERIE
BE—BLEE

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy
project

Rat - BiE - BEREEENME KRR
BHE—RIER

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy
project

Rit - BiE EERERENERIE
BE—BLEE

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy
project

Rat - BiE - BEREEENME KRR
BHE—RIER

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy
project

Rit - B BERBEENE RIR
BE—BLEE
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
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Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (Continued)

Name of company

REERB

EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy
(Zhongjiang) Limited* (note (b))

SR B AR (P AR AR (MR (o)

EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy
(Zhongxiang) Limited* (notes (a) and (b))

KARBABE AR () BRAR"
(P 7 (a) R (b))

Everbright Alternative Energy (Dangshan) Company
Limited** (note (b))

KARHEER (B1L) BR AR (b))

Everbright Biomass Cogeneration (Liuan) Company

Limited* (note (b))

AREMBE (RAR) BR AR (D)

Everbright Biomass Energy (Dingyuan) Limited*"
(note (b))

KREMEER (BR) BRAR (FEb)

Everbright Biomass Energy (Huaiyuan) Limited*
(note (a) and (b))

KAREMEER (&) BR AR (M@ K (b))

Everbright Biomass Energy (Lianshui) Limited*
(note (b))

FEREYRER ORK) BR AR (2 (b)

Everbright Biomass Energy (Lingbi) Limited*

(note (b))

KAREMEER (BE) AR AR (D)

Place of
incorporation and
business

EERES 3

PRC

R

PRC

PRC

PRC

HE

PRC

R

PRC

HE

PRC

PRC

Particulars of issued
and paid-up capital
ERITRMUEREFE

RMB128,333,000

AR #5128,333,0007T

RMB159,750,000

AR #159,750,0007C

HK$125,800,000

7 #125,800,0007T

RMB179,360,000

AR #179,360,0007C

RMB106,670,000

AR #106,670,0007T

HK$312,597,000

7 #312,597,0007C

RMB253,840,000

AR #253,840,0007C

RMB106,667,000

AR #106,667,0007C

39. FEMEAR

SE2

5 (4

/=

AARETEMBATFBENT : (4)

Percentage of equity

ELNELEY
to the Company
AREEEEEEDL

Direct Indirect
HE k23
- 100%

= 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

= 100%

- 100%

- 100%

Principal activities

TEREH

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy
project

Rit - B BERBEENE RIR
HE—BLEE

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy
project

Rat o BE - BERBEEME KRR
BE—8IER

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of biomass electricity
and heat cogeneration project

Rat - BE - BERBEENEAEY
HIER

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of biomass electricity
and heat cogeneration project

Rat - BE - BERBEENEAEY
HIER

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of biomass direct
combustion power generation
project

Rit B BERBEENEERE
EREE|

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy
project

Rat - BiE - BERBEEME KRR
BE—8IER

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of biomass electricity
and heat cogeneration project

Rat - BE - BEREEENEAEY
HIER

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of biomass electricity
and heat cogeneration project

Rat - BE BERBEENEAEY
HIER
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (Continued)

Name of company

DFEEB

Everbright Biomass Energy (Liuan) Company
Limited*"* (note (b))

KREMEER (NR) AR AR (M (b)

Everbright Biomass Energy (Rugao) Company

Limited*"

AREER (R BRAE"

Everbright Biomass Energy (Shayang) Limited*
(note (b))

KREMEER ODF) BRAR (HFEb)

Everbright Biomass Energy (Weihai) Limited*
(note (b))

KREER (BUE) AR AR (i)

Everbright Environmental Energy (Dangshan)

Limited* (note (a))

RRREER (L) ER AR (M Q)

Everbright Environmental Energy (Lingbi) Limited*"

(note (a))

KRBRREER (BE) FRAF (M Q)

Everbright Environmental Protection (Lianyungang)

Waste Disposal Company Limited*
RRBR(BTE) EEMRBERAA

Everbright Solid Waste Landfill (Xinyi) Holdings
Limited* (note (c))

KRGFERRERENESL GO ARAE
(Ki5E()

Place of
incorporation and
business

SRR B e S i B

PRC

HE

PRC

PRC

R

PRC

R

PRC

R

PRC

R

PRC

Particulars of issued
and paid-up capital
ERTRMUEREFE

RMB113,570,000

AR #113,570,0007T

HK$142,667,000

75 %142,667,0007T

RMB127,337,000

AR #127,337,0007T

HK$127,337,000

7 #127,337,0007T

RMB83,340,000

AR #83,340,0007C

RMB83,330,000

AR #83,330,0007C

USD28,143,900

28,143,900 T

RMB93,670,000

AR #93,670,0007T

39. XEZMBRAIFIB

5 (&

/1=

AARNEEMBARAFEOT : (#)

Percentage of equity

attributable
to the Company
AAREGESRADLL

Direct Indirect
HE [if:3
- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

= 100%

= 100%

- 100%

= 100%

- 100%

Principal activities

ITREHR

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of biomass electricity
and heat cogeneration project

Rat - BE - BEREEENEAEY
HIEE

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of biomass electricity
and heat cogeneration project

Rat - BE BEREEENEAEY
HIEE

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of biomass direct
combustion power generation
project

Rit - Bl BERBEENEERE
EREE|

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of biomass electricity
and heat cogeneration project

Rit - BiE EERERENEREY
#ER

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of waste-to-energy
project

Ret - BiE EERERARHTEA

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of waste-to-energy
project

Rat - BE BERAEENRHEEA

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of hazardous waste
incineration project

Rit - B BERBLBENEIAR

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of hazardous waste
landfill project

Rat - BE - BERAEEBEEEIEAR
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 39. = EZMB A RIS (&
(Continued)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as KAREEBWERRFEBOT « (&)

follows: (Continued)

Place of incorporation Particulars of issued Percentage of equity attributable
Name of company and business and paid-up capital to the Company Principal activities
RAEIATE Gaiiidg Bl DB SN ERRAEAT TEXH
Direct Indirect
BE i
Everbright Photovoltaic Energy (Changzhou) PRC RMB32,500,000 - 100% Design, construction and operation of
Limited*" solar energy project
ARAERER (FM) BRAE" # AR #32,500,0007C Rt BEREERKREERE
Everbright Photovoltaic Energy (Sugian) Limited* PRC RMB80,740,000 - 100% Design, construction and operation of
solar energy project
ARERER (BB BRAR" + AR #80,740,0007T Rt BEREERKEERE
Everbright Photovoltaic Energy (Zhenjiang) Limited* PRC RMB122,090,000 - 100% Design, construction and operation of
solar energy project
RARAERER ET) BRAR" # AR #122,090,0007C Rt BEREERKEERE
Everbright Urban and Rural Renewable Energy PRC RMB208,780,000 - 100% Design, construction, operation and
(Sheqj) Limited* (notes (a) and (b)) maintenance of integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy
project
KRB HERR GEIE) BRAR" +H AR #208,780,0007C Rat - BE - BERBEEME KRR
(P 7 (a) R (b)) HE—BRAE
Everbright Urban and Rural Renewable Energy PRC RMB186,670,000 - 100% Design, construction, operation and
(Xiayi) Limited* (notes (a) and (b)) maintenance of integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy
project
RARBBBELR(EE)ERAR" 7 AR 6186,670,0007C Ret - BiE EERERENERIE
(Pl &£ () B2 (b)) BE—®{EA
Everbright Wind Power (Ningwu) Company PRC RMB258,360,000 - 100% Design, construction, operation and
Limited*" maintenance of wind power
project
RARAE (BR)BRAA" FE AR #258,360,0007C Ret 2 EERBEREREE
Everbright Solarpark Schonewalde Ldt. & Co. KG Germany €1,000 - 100% Design, construction and operation of
solar energy project
Everbright Solarpark Schonewalde Ldt. & Co. KG =E 1,0008% 7T AT BEREEKAKFERA
* Registered under the laws of the PRC as foreign investment * REPBEEETMRINERE
enterprises
# Registered under the laws of the PRC as Sino-foreign # REEPEEETMRRIEGEDRE

co-operation joint ventures

For identification purpose only




Chi

296

na Everbright Greentech Limited

HEXREERRBR AR

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf 7 & 3 K 5%

39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

Notes:

(@)

These subsidiaries of the Group entered into service
concession arrangements with the Grantors. Pursuant to the
service concession arrangements, the Group was granted
rights to construct, operate and maintain waste-to-energy
projects and integrated biomass and waste-to-energy
projects in the PRC for a period not less than 30 years. The
Grantors guarantee the Group will receive minimum annual
payments in connection with the arrangements. During the
operating period, the Group will be responsible for
maintaining the waste-to-energy projects and integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy projects in good condition.

The service concession arrangements do not contain renewal
options. Both the Grantors and the Group have the rights to
terminate the agreements in the event of a material breach
of the terms of the agreements.

Revenue relates to the construction services provided in
constructing the waste-to-energy projects and integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy projects is recognised as
“Service concession assets”, which are included in “Contract
assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position.

These subsidiaries of the Group entered into service
concession arrangements with the Grantors. Pursuant to the
service concession arrangements, the Group was granted
rights to construct, operate and maintain biomass direct
combustion power generation projects, biomass heat supply
project, biomass electricity and heat cogeneration projects
and integrated biomass and waste-to-energy projects in the
PRC for a period not less than 30 years. The service fees
are based on the extent of services rendered and are
subject to the approvals from the relevant local government
authorities. During the operating period, the Group will be
responsible for maintaining the biomass direct combustion
power generation projects, biomass heat supply projects,
biomass electricity and heat cogeneration projects and
integrated biomass and waste-to-energy projects in good
condition.

39. FEMBARFFE (&)

BisE
(@)

AEBEZEH B AR ERER T AT LR
ALY RERBEFLERER
B AREERERTERE  EE i
ENREEAB MAEYE R R EE 8
EHEEB BRAPIR=1TF - BTFTAR
F o AREEEFFEASRE BT HRRRE
MR- NEBHA - AEE K& B #IFN
REEIHE REWME PR EE LA
BER R

REFACERLFTEBSERRE
B o BT ARAKEEIG AR GRRE
BERERZBERTH LG -

HFERNIREERR LEME LR EE
—f8(LIR B IR IEE RIS A B ey e
RABIRBHAEEREE]  REREY
BRRKPEIATANEE]

REBZEN B R REE T AR RBE
AR ERTY - RIERBEFEERER
B AREERERPEESE  EE i
HEAEYMEEMEEIER  £YWEMHAIR
B AMEREH AR REWE KR
BE—RILER  RETLIR=1TF R
BEROEHRZBHME  XRFERE
WIRFH A AR T AEE -REZH
W ARERERERSEMEENREER
B EWEHRAER  EYMEAERHIA
BRAEMERNPEE-BILEBERR
SRR ©



39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(o)

(Continued)

The service concession arrangements do not contain renewal
options. Both the Grantors and the Group have the rights to
terminate the agreements in the event of a material breach
of the terms of the agreements.

Operating rights of the biomass direct combustion power
generation projects, biomass heat supply projects, biomass
electricity and heat cogeneration projects and integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy projects are recognised as
“Intangible assets” in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

These subsidiaries of the Group entered into service
concession arrangements with the Grantors. Pursuant to the
service concession arrangements, the Group was granted
rights to construct, operate and maintain hazardous waste
landfill projects and hazardous waste incineration projects in
the PRC for a period of 20 to 30 years. The Group has the
obligation to maintain the hazardous waste landfill projects
and hazardous waste incineration projects in good condition.
The service fees are based on the extent of services
rendered and are subject to the approvals from the relevant
local government authorities. Upon expiry of the concession
periods, the hazardous waste landfill projects and hazardous
waste incineration projects and related facilities will be
transferred to the local government authorities.

The service concession arrangements do not contain renewal
options. Both the Grantors and the Group have the rights to
terminate the agreements in the event of a material breach
of the terms of the agreements.

Operating rights of the hazardous waste landfill projects and
hazardous waste incineration projects are recognised as
“Intangible assets” in the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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39. FEMBAFFE (&)

B&E - (&)

(o)

(#&)
MEBHFEERLFL BB SENER
o BT ARKEB D E RN G GTE
EREBERZIERTH LG -

EMEEMEEERR - AWEHZIER -
EYERERHIRE REYE R REE
—BEAZEERERAPBEARRKRT
ERRIEVEE] -

REEZEMB AR EE T AT LREE
RIS RERBEIFECERR
P AEEERERPEES  EE N
HEEEEER NEERREER R
T E=tF - AEEAEESFEEER
IR A REREREIAR BN R IR o iR
BEROREHEZRBME  XASEEE
HWHT BRI ER T AIEE - I FEE
HEmiE  BEEIEEE REEREIRR
AR REHEREWBRITEEMRE -

MEBHFEERLHF LB SENER
o BT ARKEB D E RN GTE
EREBERZERTH LG -

RERLER RAEBNRER 2 B8 EE
GAMBRRETRAS BVEE] -
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39.

40.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the
net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 18 March 2025.

39.

40.

TE2ENBRRFS (&)

EERR EXRAIAREMEBARTS
IBPEFEXEIBRASEEEFE
MERBOWMBAR -EERRREMHE
M BARIMNHBEEEHREBNITE

B 5 R

BEEeOR _E-_RAF=ZA+N\BHET
BT ST F®RE -
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Financial Summary
M=

As at 31 December

R+=A=1+—~
2024 2022 2021 2020
—EomE —T-o= —T=-= —E-—% —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
BETT BT BT BT BT
Assets and liabilities EERER
Property, plant and equipment M - BE R
and interests in leasehold land URFEERZ
held for own use HELHER 4,113,959 4,579,981 5,044,489 5,367,020 3,848,120
Right-of-use assets FRERE 418,482 529,606 619,354 700,217 648,609
Goodwill RS 65,681 130,651 134,207 162,638 157,609
Intangible assets BREE 11,636,066 12,820,119 13,355,885 14,365,263 13,311,103
Interest in associates B 2N B RS 225,590 234,408 239,883 254,413 165,415
Interest in joint ventures AEPEES 32,191 31,906 33,424 24,761 44,632
Contract assets AHEE 6,114,112 6,357,849 6,698,920 6,900,257 6,310,283
Other receivables, deposits and HiEWHIE - Re Rk
prepayments BN FE 348,537 391,012 506,297 781,099 816,945
Deferred tax assets EERIEEE 460,248 198,495 80,855 82,450 64,467
Net current assets REEEFE 2,618,707 1,539,708 3,381,290 3,246,504 3,561,948
Non-current liabilities FRBEE 14,371,273 14,457,396 16,560,319 17,739,255 16,062,290
Net assets BEFE 11,662,300 12,356,339 13,534,285 14,145,367 12,866,841
Share capital B 1,608,020 1608029 1608020 1608020 1608029
Reserves G 8,001,810 9,663,198 10,776,766 12,153,166 10,916,253
Total equity attributable to equity 7N @) 4E 25 B SR FE 15
shareholders of the Company EmER 9,609,839 11,271,227 12,384,795 13,761,195 12,524,282
Perpetual medium-term notes KEPHERE 1,900,700 806,982 806,982 — —
Non-controlling interests eI R 151,761 278,130 342,508 384,172 342,559
Total equity R 11,662,300 12,356,339 13,534,285 14,145,367 12,866,841
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Financial Summary Bt =

For the year ended 31 December

BET-A=t-RHILEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
“E-mE T4 T —E--F CZEZ_ZF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BT T AT T AT T AT T AT T
Results ES
Revenue & 6,976,892 7,416,973 8,048,171 8,446,999 9,835,376
Profit from operations RERF 89,925 484,768 1,269,678 2,114,772 2,489,215
Finance costs B 158 (769,793) (824,825) (740,997 (741,858) (543,564)
Share of profit/(loss) Fisaats
of joint ventures AR,/ (&8) 689 769 (18,523) (24,312) (19,464)
Profit/(loss) before taxation BHATZEF(EE) (679,179) (339,288) 510,158 1,348,602 1,926,187
Income tax credit/(expense) FiBHEe,/ (FX) 173,691 37,457 (165,158) (228,571) (412,879)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF,/(EE) (505,488) (301,831) 345,000 1,120,031 1,513,308
Attributable to: I
Equity shareholders of the RN AR R R
Company (415,382) (301,711) 340,201 1,110,385 1,502,532
Holders of perpetual medium-term k& HZEHE A
notes 34,001 36,285 15,952 - -
Non-controlling interests FEPR IR (124,107) (36,405) (11,153) 9,646 10,776
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF,/(E]) (505,488) (301,831) 345,000 1,120,031 1,513,308
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) ~ ERREARREERF
per share (HK cents) (B518) (L) (20.10) (14.60) 16.47 53.74 72.72
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